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18th Floor
Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central
Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the fi nancial statements of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited (the “Bank”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 147 to 258, which comprise the consolidated 
and the company balance sheets as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash fl ow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of 
signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the fi nancial statements

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards 
Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely 
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the 
fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of the Bank and of the 
Group as at 31 December 2008, and of the Group’s fi nancial performance and its cash fl ows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certifi ed Public Accountants

Hong Kong

25 March 2009
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Notes 2008 2007

Interest income 6 440,574 357,287

Interest expense 6 (177,537) (132,822)

NET INTEREST INCOME 6 263,037 224,465

Fee and commission income 7 46,711 40,015

Fee and commission expense 7 (2,709) (1,656)

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 7 44,002 38,359

Net trading income 8 1,883 1,351

Net loss on fi nancial assets and liabilities designated at 

 fair value through profi t or loss 9 (699) (1,415)

Net gain/(loss) on fi nancial investments 10 (367) 499

Other operating income/(expense), net 11 2,339 (5,831)

OPERATING INCOME 310,195 257,428

Operating expenses 12 (111,335) (104,660)

Impairment losses on:

 Loans and advances to customers 26 (36,512) (33,061)

 Others 15 (18,950) (4,345)

OPERATING PROFIT 143,398 115,362

Share of profi ts and losses of associates 1,978 16

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 145,376 115,378

Income tax expense 16 (34,150) (33,124)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 111,226 82,254

Attributable to:

 Equity holders of the parent company 110,841 81,520

 Minority interests 385 734

111,226 82,254

DIVIDEND

Proposed fi nal 18 55,113 44,425

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

 EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

 — Basic and diluted (RMB yuan) 19 0.33 0.24
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Notes 2008 2007

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks 20 1,693,024 1,142,346

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions 21 168,363 199,758

Financial assets held for trading 22 32,182 31,536

Financial assets designated at fair value through profi t or loss 23 1,459 2,785

Derivative fi nancial assets 24 15,721 22,769

Reverse repurchase agreements 25 163,493 75,880

Loans and advances to customers 26 4,436,011 3,957,542

Financial investments 27 3,014,669 3,073,007

Investments in associates 29 28,421 172

Property and equipment 30 86,800 80,266

Deferred income tax assets 31 10,746 5,833

Other assets 32 106,257 91,818

TOTAL ASSETS 9,757,146 8,683,712

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities held for trading 4,268 —

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profi t or loss 33 7,566 15,590

Derivative fi nancial liabilities 24 13,612 7,127

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions 34 646,254 805,174

Repurchase agreements 35 4,648 193,508

Certifi cates of deposit 726 562

Due to customers 36 8,223,446 6,898,413

Income tax payable 37,862 33,668

Deferred income tax liabilities 31 16 337

Subordinated bonds 37 35,000 35,000

Other liabilities 38 177,118 150,657

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,150,516 8,140,036

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company

 Issued share capital 39 334,019 334,019

 Reserves 40 195,727 158,204

 Retained profi ts 40 72,929 46,148

602,675 538,371

Minority interests 3,955 5,305

TOTAL EQUITY 606,630 543,676

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 9,757,146 8,683,712

Jiang Jianqing Yang Kaisheng Shen Rujun
Chairman Vice Chairman and President General Manager of Finance 

and Accounting Department
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent company

Reserves

Issued
share

capital
Capital
reserve

Surplus
reserves

General
reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Cash 
fl ow 

hedge 
reserve

Other 
reserves Subtotal

Retained 
profi ts Total

Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

Balance as at 1 January 2008 334,019 106,312 13,536 40,834 (1,389) (1,089) — — 158,204 46,148 538,371 5,305 543,676
Net change in the fair value of 
  available-for-sale investments — — — — 6,594 — — — 6,594 — 6,594 (832) 5,762
Reserve realised on disposal/
  impairment of available-for-sale 

investments — — — — 3,228 — — — 3,228 — 3,228 201 3,429
Net loss on cash fl ow hedges — — — — — — (4,075) — (4,075) — (4,075) 2 (4,073)
Foreign currency translation — — — — — (8,359) — — (8,359) — (8,359) (245) (8,604)
Share of changes recognised 
 directly in equity of associates — — — — (18) 218 27 273 500 — 500 — 500

Total income and expense for 
  the year recognised directly 

in equity — — — — 9,804 (8,141) (4,048) 273 (2,112) — (2,112) (874) (2,986)
Profi t for the year — — — — — — — — — 110,841 110,841 385 111,226

Total income and expense 
 for the year — — — — 9,804 (8,141) (4,048) 273 (2,112) 110,841 108,729 (489) 108,240
Dividend — 2007 fi nal (note 18) — — — — — — — — — (44,425) (44,425) — (44,425)
Appropriation to surplus 
 reserves (i) — — 11,114 — — — — — 11,114 (11,114) — — —
Appropriation to general 
 reserve (ii) — — — 28,521 — — — — 28,521 (28,521) — — —
Acquisition of a subsidiary — — — — — — — — — — — 368 368
Change in shareholdings 
 in a subsidiary — — — — — — — — — — — (854) (854)
Dividends to minority 
 shareholders — — — — — — — — — — — (375) (375)

Balance as at 31 December 2008 334,019 106,312 24,650 69,355 8,415 (9,230) (4,048) 273 195,727 72,929 602,675 3,955 606,630

(i) Includes the appropriation made by overseas branches and subsidiaries in the amount of RMB9 million and RMB53 million, 

respectively.

(ii) Includes the appropriation made by subsidiaries in the amount of RMB147 million.
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent company

Reserves

Issued 
share 

capital
Capital 
reserve

Surplus 
reserves

General 
reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve Subtotal

Retained 
profi ts Total

Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

Balance as at 1 January 2007 334,019 106,312 5,464 12,719 2,142 (351) 126,286 6,159 466,464 4,537 471,001
Net change in the fair value of 
 available-for-sale investments — — — — (5,758) — (5,758) — (5,758) 389 (5,369)
Reserve realised on disposal/
 impairment of available-for-sale 
 investments — — — — 2,227 — 2,227 — 2,227 65 2,292
Foreign currency translation — — — — — (738) (738) — (738) (369) (1,107)

Total income and expense for the year 
 recognised directly in equity — — — — (3,531) (738) (4,269) — (4,269) 85 (4,184)
Profi t for the year — — — — — — — 81,520 81,520 734 82,254

Total income and expense for the year — — — — (3,531) (738) (4,269) 81,520 77,251 819 78,070
Dividend — 2006 fi nal (note 18) — — — — — — — (5,344) (5,344) — (5,344)
Appropriation to surplus reserves (i) — — 8,072 — — — 8,072 (8,072) — — —
Appropriation to general reserve (ii) — — — 28,115 — — 28,115 (28,115) — — —
Acquisition of a subsidiary — — — — — — — — — 9 9
Change in shareholdings in a subsidiary — — — — — — — — — 338 338
Dividends paid to minority shareholders — — — — — — — — — (398) (398)

Balance as at 31 December 2007 334,019 106,312 13,536 40,834 (1,389) (1,089) 158,204 46,148 538,371 5,305 543,676

(i) Includes the appropriation made by overseas branches in the amount of RMB7 million in aggregate.

(ii) Includes the appropriation made by a subsidiary in the amount of RMB33 million.
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Notes 2008 2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profi t before tax 145,376 115,378

Adjustments for:

 Share of profi ts and losses of associates (1,978) (16)

 Depreciation 12 8,190 8,318

 Amortisation 12 1,300 1,174

 Amortisation of fi nancial investments (4,345) (13,033)

 Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 26 36,512 33,061

 Impairment losses on assets other than loans and 

  advances to customers 15 18,950 4,345

 Unrealised foreign exchange difference 30,390 9,086

 Interest expense on subordinated bonds 6 1,241 1,181

 Accreted interest on impaired loans 6 (1,538) (1,430)

 Loss/(gain) on disposal of available-for-sale investments, net 10 449 (425)

 Net trading loss/(gain) on equity investments 8 14 (4)

 Net gain on disposal of property and equipment and 

  other assets (other than repossessed assets) (518) (678)

 Dividend income 10 (82) (74)

233,961 156,883

Net decrease/(increase) in operating assets:

 Due from central banks (262,312) (422,734)

 Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions 13,801 16,753

 Financial assets held for trading 6,580 (12,235)

 Financial assets designated at fair value through profi t or loss 1,182 (974)

 Reverse repurchase agreements (56,115) (37,500)

 Loans and advances to customers (541,025) (475,760)

 Other assets (7,133) (16,739)

(845,022) (949,189)

Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

 Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profi t or loss (6,759) (16,559)

 Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (148,259) 407,331

 Repurchase agreements (188,835) 146,522

 Certifi cates of deposit (252) (1,145)

 Due to customers 1,337,886 585,368

 Other liabilities 26,738 (11,682)

1,020,519 1,109,835

Net cash infl ow from operating activities before tax 409,458 317,529

Income tax paid (38,545) (21,400)

Net cash infl ow from operating activities 370,913 296,129
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Notes 2008 2007

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property and equipment and other assets (15,554) (9,385)

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment and 

 other assets (other than repossessed assets) 520 2,823

Purchases of fi nancial investments (1,086,048) (1,455,833)

Proceeds from sale and redemption of investments 1,127,448 1,217,425

Acquisition of a subsidiary 41(a) 2,261 144

Acquisition of minority interests (1,783) —

Acquisition of an associate (37,420) (134)

Proceeds from disposal of an associate — 94

Dividends received 652 74

Net cash outfl ow from investing activities (9,924) (244,792)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital contribution by minority shareholders 66 —

Interest paid on subordinated bonds (1,240) (1,205)

Dividends paid on ordinary shares (44,425) (15,490)

Dividends paid to minority shareholders (325) (398)

Net cash outfl ow from fi nancing activities (45,924) (17,093)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 315,065 34,244

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 301,687 275,360

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (9,461) (7,917)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 41(b) 607,291 301,687

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES INCLUDES:

Interest received 425,143 328,121

Interest paid (148,789) (119,736)
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Notes 2008 2007

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks 20 1,691,466 1,141,461

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions 21 154,357 174,997

Financial assets held for trading 22 25,362 31,485

Financial assets designated at fair value through profi t or loss 23 144 1,142

Derivative fi nancial assets 24 13,991 22,358

Reverse repurchase agreements 25 162,192 75,880

Loans and advances to customers 26 4,289,955 3,838,922

Financial investments 27 3,002,451 3,061,504

Investments in subsidiaries 28 19,999 12,371

Investment in an associate 29 33,160 —

Property and equipment 30 86,220 79,986

Deferred income tax assets 31 10,607 5,811

Other assets 32 96,261 86,453

TOTAL ASSETS 9,586,165 8,532,370

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities held for trading 4,268 —

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profi t or loss 33 2,285 10,278

Derivative fi nancial liabilities 24 11,003 6,592

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions 34 632,760 799,013

Repurchase agreements 35 4,246 195,565

Due to customers 36 8,077,732 6,769,606

Income tax payable 37,894 33,493

Subordinated bonds 37 35,000 35,000

Other liabilities 38 173,494 146,804

TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,978,682 7,996,351

EQUITY

Issued share capital 39 334,019 334,019

Reserves 40 203,231 156,866

Retained profi ts 40 70,233 45,134

TOTAL EQUITY 607,483 536,019

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 9,586,165 8,532,370

Jiang Jianqing Yang Kaisheng Shen Rujun
Chairman Vice Chairman and President General Manager of Finance 

and Accounting Department
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited (the “Bank”), which was previously known as Industrial and 
Commercial Bank of China (“ICBC”), used to be a wholly-state-owned commercial bank established on 1 January 
1984 based on the authorisation of the State Council and the People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC”) of the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”). On 28 October 2005, with the approval of the State Council, ICBC was restructured 
and incorporated as a joint-stock limited company. The joint-stock limited company undertook all the assets and 
liabilities of ICBC upon the restructuring.

The Bank obtained its fi nance permit No. B0001H111000001 from the China Banking Regulatory Commission (the 
“CBRC”) of the PRC. The Bank obtained its business license No. 100000000003965 from the State Administration for 
Industry and Commerce of the PRC. The legal representative is Jiang Jianqing and the registered offi ce is located at 
No. 55 Fuxingmennei Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing, the PRC.

The Bank listed its A Shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (“SSE”) and its H Shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (“SEHK”) on 27 October 2006. The stock codes are 601398 and 1398 respectively.

The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) comprise the 
provision of banking services including Renminbi (“RMB”) and foreign currency deposits, loans, payment and 
settlement services, and other services as approved by the CBRC and the provision of related services by its overseas 
establishments as approved by the respective local regulators. Overseas establishments refer to branches and 
subsidiaries established under local jurisdictions outside Mainland China.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance

These fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) and interpretations promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, except for derivative fi nancial instruments, fi nancial assets and liabilities held for trading, fi nancial 
assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profi t or loss and available-for-sale fi nancial assets that have 
been measured at fair value, as further explained in the respective accounting policies below. The carrying values of 
recognised assets and liabilities, that are hedged in fair value hedges and are otherwise carried at cost, are adjusted 
to record changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged. These fi nancial statements are 
presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest million except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated fi nancial statements comprise the fi nancial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries. The fi nancial 
statements of subsidiaries, for the purpose of preparation of these consolidated fi nancial statements, are prepared for 
the same reporting period as the Bank, using consistent accounting policies.
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Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, 
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Control is achieved where the Bank has the 
power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefi ts from its activities. Where 
there is a loss of control in a subsidiary, the consolidated income statement includes the results of that subsidiary for 
the part of the reporting period during which the Bank has control. All intra-group balances, transactions, income and 
expenses and profi ts and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

The acquisition of a subsidiary during the year has been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. This 
method involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of the identifi able assets acquired, 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is measured at 
the aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the 
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Minority interests represent the portion of profi t or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and 
are presented separately in the consolidated income statement, and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet 
separately from the equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company. An acquisition of minority interests 
is accounted for using the parent entity extension method whereby the difference between the consideration and the 
carrying value of the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

Special purpose entities

Special purpose entities (“SPEs”) are consolidated if they are in substance controlled by the Bank. When assessing 
whether the Bank has a control over the SPEs, the Bank evaluates a range of factors, including whether:

(i) the activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of the Bank and according to the Bank’s specifi c 
business needs so that the Bank obtains benefi ts from the SPE’s operations;

(ii) the Bank has the decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefi ts of the activities of the SPE;

(iii) the Bank has rights to obtain the majority of the benefi ts of the SPE and therefore may be exposed to risks 
incident to the activities of the SPE; or

(iv) the Bank retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets in order to obtain 
benefi ts from its activities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

The Group has historically used revaluation model to measure its property and equipment in the H shares fi nancial 
statements prepared under IFRSs. On the other hand, these assets are measured using cost model in the A shares 
fi nancial statements prepared under generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC (“PRC GAAP”). According 
to the relevant regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance (the “MOF”) of the PRC, listed companies shall 
adopt consistent accounting policies of the same transactions in the H shares and A shares fi nancial statements. 
Commencing 2008, the Bank changed its accounting policy in the H shares fi nancial statements from the revaluation 
model to the cost model, and thereby eliminating the difference in the accounting policy for property and equipment 
applied in the H shares and A shares fi nancial statements.

The changes in accounting policy did not result in signifi cant impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group and of 
the Bank.
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2.3 NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
THAT ARE EFFECTIVE OR EARLY ADOPTED IN 2008 AND RELEVANT TO THE 
GROUP

The IASB has issued the following new and revised IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations that are effective or early adopted 
in 2008 and relevant to the Group’s operation.

IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Amendments Financial Instruments: Recognition, Measurement and Disclosure — 

  Reclassifi cation of Financial Assets

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations are as follows:

The amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 allow reclassifi cations of certain fi nancial instruments held for trading to 
either the held-to-maturity, loans and receivables or available-for-sale category, if specifi ed criteria are met. The 
amendments also allow the reclassifi cation of certain instruments from available-for-sale to loans and receivables. The 
amendments may be applied retrospectively but not before 1 July 2008. Any reclassifi cation of a fi nancial asset made 
in periods beginning on or after 1 November 2008 shall take effect only from the date when the reclassifi cation is 
made. The Group has not made any signifi cant reclassifi cation pursuant to these amendments during the year.

IFRIC interpretation 11 requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to an entity’s equity instruments 
to be accounted for as an equity settled scheme, even if the entity buys the instrument from another party, or 
the shareholders provide the equity instruments needed. As the Group currently has no such transactions, the 
interpretation has had no impact on the fi nancial position and results of operations of the Group.

IFRIC interpretation 13 requires customer loyalty credits to be accounted for as a separate component of the sales 
transaction in which they are granted. A portion of the fair value of the consideration received is allocated to the 
award credits and deferred. This is then recognised as revenue when the award credits are redeemed or the liability 
is otherwise extinguished. The Group has early adopted IFRIC interpretation 13 in 2008. The impact of adopting IFRIC 
interpretation 13 is not signifi cant to these fi nancial statements.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(1) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose fi nancial and operating policies the Bank controls, directly and indirectly, so as to 
obtain benefi ts from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Bank’s income statement to the extent of dividends received and 
receivable. The Bank’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

(2) Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term 
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise 
signifi cant infl uence.

The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity 
method, an investment in an associate is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment losses. Goodwill relating to an 
associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised. After application of the equity 
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method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to 
the Group’s net investment in the associate. The consolidated income statement refl ects the share of the results of 
operations of the associate. Where there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the 
Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity. Profi ts and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associates are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates.

The results of associates are included in the Bank’s income statement to the extent of dividends received and 
receivable. The Bank’s investments in associates are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The reporting dates of the associates and the Group are identical and the associates’ accounting policies conform to 
those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

(3) Foreign currency translation

The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in RMB, being the functional and presentation currency of 
the Bank’s operations in Mainland China. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and the 
fi nancial statements of each entity are presented using that functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates ruling at the dates 
of transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional 
currency at the applicable exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on the 
settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at period end rates are recognised in the income 
statement, with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide an effective hedge against a 
net investment in a foreign entity which are taken directly to equity until the disposal of the net investment, at which 
time they are recognised in the income statement. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on 
those borrowings are also recorded in equity.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
ruling at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates ruling at the date when the fair value was determined. Any goodwill arising on 
the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rates ruling 
at the balance sheet date.

At each balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and branches are translated into the 
presentation currency of the Group at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Their income statements 
are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The exchange differences arising on translation 
are taken directly to equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

(4) Financial instruments

Initial recognition of fi nancial instruments

The classifi cation of fi nancial instruments at initial recognition depends on the purpose for which the fi nancial 
instruments were acquired and their characteristics. All fi nancial instruments are measured initially at their fair 
value plus, in the case of fi nancial assets not at fair value through profi t or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the fi nancial assets.
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Measurement of fair value

The fair value of fi nancial instruments traded in active markets at the balance sheet date is based on its quoted 
market price or dealer price quotation (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any 
deduction for transaction costs.

For all other fi nancial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate 
valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include making reference to the prices from recent arm’s length market 
transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties, if available, current fair value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same, discounted cash fl ow analysis and option pricing models.

“Day 1” profi t

Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different to the fair value from other observable current 
market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data 
from observable markets, the Group immediately recognises the difference between the transaction price and fair 
value (a “Day 1” profi t) in “Net trading income”. In cases where data which is not observable is used, the difference 
between the transaction price and model value is only recognised in the income statement when the inputs become 
observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.

Financial assets or fi nancial liabilities held for trading

Financial assets and liabilities are classifi ed as held for trading if they are acquired or incurred for the purpose of 
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets held for trading mainly includes debt securities and equity 
investments. Derivatives are held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial 
liabilities held for trading mainly includes short positions in securities.

Financial assets or fi nancial liabilities held for trading are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value. Changes in fair 
value are recognised in “Net trading income”. Interest and dividend income or expense are recorded in “Net trading 
income” according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to the payment has been established.

Financial assets or fi nancial liabilities designated at fair value through profi t or loss

A fi nancial instrument may be designated as a fi nancial asset or fi nancial liability at fair value through profi t or loss 
upon initial recognition, if it meets any of the criteria set out below, and is so designated by management.

(i) it eliminates or signifi cantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise 
from measuring the fi nancial asset or fi nancial liability or from recognising the gains and losses on them on 
different bases;

(ii) it applies to a group of fi nancial assets, fi nancial liabilities or both which is managed and its performance 
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, 
and where information about that group of fi nancial instruments is provided internally on that basis to key 
management personnel; or

(iii) the fi nancial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does not signifi cantly 
modify the cash fl ows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be separately recorded.

Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profi t or loss are recorded in the balance sheet at fair 
value. Changes in fair value are recorded in “Net gain/loss on fi nancial assets and liabilities designated at fair value 
through profi t or loss”. Interest income or expense is recorded in “Net gain/loss on fi nancial assets and liabilities 
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designated at fair value through profi t or loss” respectively, according to the terms of the contract, while dividend 
income is recorded in “Net gain/loss on fi nancial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profi t or loss” 
when the rights to payment have been established.

Held-to-maturity fi nancial investments

Held-to-maturity fi nancial investments are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments 
and a fi xed maturity and which the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial 
measurement, held-to-maturity fi nancial investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when 
the held-to-maturity fi nancial investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

An entity shall not classify any fi nancial assets as held-to-maturity if the entity has, during the current fi nancial year 
or during the two preceding fi nancial years, sold or reclassifi ed more than an insignifi cant amount of held-to-maturity 
investments before maturity (more than insignifi cant in relation to the total amount of held-to-maturity investments) 
except for sale or reclassifi cation that:

(i) is so close to maturity or the fi nancial asset’s call date (for example, less than three months before maturity) that 
changes in the market rate of interest would not have a signifi cant effect on the fi nancial asset’s fair value;

(ii) occurs after the entity has collected substantially all of the fi nancial asset’s original principal through scheduled 
payments or prepayments; or

(iii) is attributable to an isolated event that is beyond the entity’s control, is non-recurring and could not have been 
reasonably anticipated by the entity.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market and the Group has no intention of trading the assets immediately or in the near term. Loans 
and receivables mainly include loans and advances to customers, receivables and discounted bills. After initial 
measurement, such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
allowance for impairment losses. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when such assets are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Discounted bills are granted by the Group to its customers based on the bank acceptance held which has not 
matured. Discounted bills are carried at face value less unrealised interest income and the interest income of the 
discounted bills is recognised using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are non-derivative fi nancial assets which are designated as such or are not classifi ed 
in any of the three preceding categories. After initial recognition, available-for-sale fi nancial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value. Premiums and discounts on available-for-sale fi nancial assets are amortised using the effective 
interest method and are taken to the income statement as interest income or expense. Changes in fair value of 
available-for-sale fi nancial assets are recognised as a separate component of equity until the fi nancial asset is 
derecognised or determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recorded in equity 
are transferred to the income statement.

In the case of an equity investment classifi ed as available-for-sale, if neither a quoted market price in an active market 
exists nor its fair value can be reliably measured, it will be measured at cost.
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Deposits, debt securities issued and other fi nancial liabilities

Deposits, debt securities issued other than those designated as trading liabilities or at fair value through profi t or loss, 
and other fi nancial liabilities are carried at amortised costs using the effective interest method.

(5) Impairment of fi nancial assets

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment of 
fi nancial assets as a result of one or more events that occur after the initial recognition of those assets (“loss events”) 
and whether the loss events have an impact on the estimated future cash fl ows of the fi nancial assets or group of 
fi nancial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower 
or a group of borrowers is experiencing signifi cant fi nancial diffi culty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, they would probably enter into bankruptcy or other fi nancial reorganisation and where observable data 
indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash fl ows.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments carried 
at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred) discounted at the fi nancial asset’s original effective interest rate and shall include the value of any 
relevant collaterals. The original effective interest rate is the rate used to determine the values of fi nancial assets at 
initial recognition. With respect to fl oating-rate loans, receivables and held-to-maturity investments, the discount 
rate could be the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through the use of an impairment provision account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income 
statement.

The Group fi rst assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for fi nancial assets that are 
individually signifi cant, and individually or collectively for fi nancial assets that are not individually signifi cant. If it 
is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed fi nancial asset, whether 
signifi cant or not, the asset is included in a group of fi nancial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that 
group of fi nancial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 
impairment.

Future cash fl ows of a group of fi nancial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the 
basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss 
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to refl ect the impact of current conditions that did not 
affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to eliminate the impact of historical conditions 
that do not exist currently.

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash fl ows are reviewed regularly by the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be attributed objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any 
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value 
of the assets does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

When an item of loans and receivables is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for impairment 
losses. Such loans and receivables are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the 
amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of the amounts previously written off decrease the 
amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income statement.
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Financial assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of impairment loss is measured 
as the difference between the carrying amount of that fi nancial asset and the present value of estimated future cash 
fl ows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar fi nancial asset. The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through the use of an impairment provision account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income 
statement. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

For available-for-sale fi nancial assets, the Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective 
evidence that an asset or a group of assets is impaired.

In the case of equity investments classifi ed as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a signifi cant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, 
the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the income statement, is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the income 
statement; increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in equity.

In the case of debt instruments classifi ed as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria 
as fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss less any 
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the income statement is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income 
statement, the impaired loss is reversed through the income statement.

(6) Renegotiated loans

Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may involve 
extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been 
renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continuously reviews renegotiated loans to 
ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to 
individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.

(7) Derecognition of fi nancial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

A fi nancial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a fi nancial asset or part of a group of similar fi nancial assets) is 
derecognised when:

• the rights to receive cash fl ows from the assets have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash fl ows from the assets; or has retained its rights to receive 
cash fl ows from the assets but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third 
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and

• the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the fi nancial asset; or the 
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the fi nancial 
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash fl ows from an asset or has retained its rights to receive 
cash fl ows from the assets but has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the 
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum 
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option 
or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of 
the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except in the case of a written put option (including a cash-
settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, where the extent of the Group’s continuing 
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises fi nancial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to 
SPEs which issue securities to investors. The transferred assets may qualify for derecognition in full or in part. Further 
details on prerequisites for derecognition of fi nancial assets are set out above. Interests in the securitised fi nancial 
assets may be partially retained by the Group and are primarily classifi ed as available-for-sale fi nancial assets. Gains 
or losses on securitisations are based on the carrying amount of the fi nancial assets derecognised and the retained 
interest, based on their relative fair value at the date of the transfer.

Financial liabilities

A fi nancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where 
an existing fi nancial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modifi ed, such an exchange or modifi cation is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the income statement.

(8) Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives

The Group uses derivative fi nancial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge 
its risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate fl uctuations. Such derivative fi nancial instruments are 
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair 
value is negative.

Certain derivatives embedded in other fi nancial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when their economic 
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the hybrid instrument is not carried 
at fair value through profi t or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with the changes in fair 
value recognised in the income statement.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are 
taken directly to the income statement.

For less complex derivative products, the fair values are principally determined by valuation models which are 
commonly used by market participants. Inputs to valuation models are determined from observable market data 
wherever possible, including foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate yield curves. For more 
complex derivative products, the fair values are mainly determined by quoted prices from dealers.
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Hedge accounting

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to 
which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking 
the hedge. The documentation includes identifi cation of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the 
nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the 
exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be 
highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that 
they have actually been highly effective throughout the fi nancial reporting periods for which they were designated.

Certain derivative transactions, while providing effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk management 
positions, do not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39 and are therefore treated as derivatives held for trading 
with fair value gains or losses recognised in the income statement. Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge 
accounting are accounted for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy as set out below.

Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability 
or an unrecognised fi rm commitment, or an identifi ed portion of such an asset, liability or fi rm commitment, that is 
attributable to a particular risk and could affect the profi t or loss. For fair value hedges, the carrying amount of the 
hedged item is adjusted for gains and losses attributable to the risk being hedged, the derivative is remeasured at fair 
value and the gains and losses from both are taken to the income statement.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, the adjustment to carrying value is amortised 
through the income statement over the remaining term to maturity. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of a 
hedged fi nancial instrument for which the effective interest method is used is amortised and charged to the income 
statement. Amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged 
item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.

When an unrecognised fi rm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in 
the fair value of the fi rm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability with 
a corresponding gain or loss recognised in the income statement. The changes in the fair value of the hedging 
instrument are also recognised in the income statement.

The Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting if the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised, the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the Group revokes the designation.

Cash fl ow hedges

Cash fl ow hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to variability in cash fl ows that is attributable to a particular 
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and could affect profi t 
or loss. For designated and qualifying cash fl ow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is initially recognised directly in equity in the cash fl ow hedge reserve. The ineffective portion of the gain 
or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When the hedged cash fl ow affects the income statement, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised 
directly in equity is recycled in the corresponding income or expense line of the income statement. When a hedging 
instrument expires, or is sold, terminated, exercised, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity until the hedged forecast 
transaction ultimately occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss 
that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.
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(9) Trade date accounting

All regular way purchases and sales of fi nancial assets are recognised at the trade date, which is the date that the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the assets. A regular way purchase or sale is the purchase or sale of fi nancial 
assets that requires delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace.

(10) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, the Group 
has a legally enforceable right to offset such amounts with the same counterparty and an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(11) Repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions

Assets sold under agreements to repurchase at a specifi ed future date (“repos”) are not derecognised from the 
balance sheet. The corresponding cash received, including accrued interest, is recognised on the balance sheet as 
a “repurchase agreement”, refl ecting its economic substance as a loan to the Group. The difference between the 
sale and repurchase prices is treated as an interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the 
effective interest method.

Conversely, assets purchased under agreements to resell at a specifi ed future date (“reverse repos”) are not 
recognised on the balance sheet. The corresponding cash paid, including accrued interest, is recognised on the 
balance sheet as a “reverse repurchase agreement”. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is treated 
as an interest income and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest method.

(12) Property and equipment

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress were stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure 
incurred after items of property and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is 
normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly 
demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefi ts expected to be 
obtained from the use of the assets, and where the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is 
capitalised as an additional cost of the assets or as a replacement.

Construction in progress comprises the direct costs of construction during the period of construction and is not 
depreciated. Construction in progress is reclassifi ed to the appropriate category of property and equipment when 
completed and ready for use.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each asset, less any estimated residual 
value, over the estimated useful life of each asset as follows:

Annual depreciation rate

Properties and buildings 2.77% to 19.40%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the economic useful lives and remaining lease terms

Offi ce equipment and computers 20.00% to 33.33%

Motor vehicles 16.67% to 25.00%
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Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a 
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each 
fi nancial year end.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefi ts are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement in the year the 
asset is derecognised.

(13) Land use rights

Land use rights are recognised at cost, being the fair value at the time of injection from the central government of 
the PRC (the “Government”) or the consideration paid. The rights are amortised using the straight-line basis over 
the period of the leases. When the prepaid land lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and 
buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of properties and buildings as fi nance leases in 
property and equipment.

(14) Repossessed assets

Collateral assets for loans and advances are repossessed by the Group when the borrowers are unable to honour 
their repayments, and would be realised in settlement of the related outstanding debts. Repossessed assets are 
initially recognised at the carrying amount of the related loan principal and interest receivable, net of allowance 
for impairment losses. The Group’s repossessed assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date by management 
to assess whether they are recorded in excess of their recoverable amount, and if their carrying value exceeds the 
recoverable amount, the assets are written down. Any impairment loss, being the difference between the estimated 
net recoverable amount and the carrying value, is charged to the income statement.

(15) Business combination and goodwill

Business combination is accounted for using the purchase method.

Goodwill arising from a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the 
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”), or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefi t 
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to 
those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated:

• represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes; and

• is not larger than a segment based on the Group’s reporting format determined in accordance with IAS 14 
Segment Reporting.

Where goodwill forms part of a CGU (or groups of CGUs) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, 
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
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determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured 
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the CGU retained. An impairment loss 
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

When subsidiaries are sold, the difference between the selling price and the net assets plus cumulative translation 
differences and goodwill is recognised in the income statement.

(16) Impairment of non-fi nancial assets other than goodwill

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use 
and is determined on an individual basis, unless the asset does not generate cash infl ows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU 
to which the asset belongs. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered to be impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use of an asset, the 
estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present values using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset. Impairment losses of continuing 
operations are recognised in the income statement under those expense categories consistent with the function of 
the impaired assets.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of any depreciation/amortisation, had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement. After such a 
reversal, the depreciation/amortisation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

(17) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents refer to short term highly liquid assets, which are readily convertible into known amounts 
of cash and subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, unrestricted 
balances with central banks, and amounts due from banks and other fi nancial institutions and reverse repurchase 
agreements with original maturity of less than three months.

(18) Leases

Finance leases

Leases which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets to the lessees are classifi ed 
as fi nance leases. When the Group is a lessor under fi nance leases, an amount representing the minimum lease 
payment receivables and initial direct costs is included in the balance sheet as loans and advances to customers. Any 
unguaranteed residual value is also recognised at the inception of the lease. The difference between the sum of the 
minimum lease payment receivables, initial direct costs, the unguaranteed residual value and their present value is 
recognised as unearned fi nance income. Unearned fi nance income is recognised over the period of the lease using the 
effective interest method.
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Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of the assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as 
operating leases. Rental payments applicable to such operating leases are charged to the income statement on the 
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

(19) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (a) controls, is controlled by, or is under 
common control with, the Group; (b) has an interest in the Group that gives it signifi cant infl uence over the 
Group; or (c) has joint control over the Group;

(ii) the party is an associate of the Group;

(iii) the party is a joint venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent company;

(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or signifi cantly infl uenced by, or for which signifi cant 
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefi t plan for the benefi t of the employees of the Group, or of any entity that 
is a related party of the Group.

(20) Recognition of income and expense

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Group and when 
the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specifi c recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised:

Interest income and expense

For all fi nancial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest-generating fi nancial instruments classifi ed as 
available-for-sale fi nancial investments, interest income or expense is recorded at the effective interest rate, which is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the fi nancial 
instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the fi nancial asset or fi nancial 
liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the fi nancial instrument (for example, prepayment 
options) and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses. The carrying amount of the fi nancial asset or 
fi nancial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount 
is calculated based on the original effective interest rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as an interest 
income or expense.

Once a fi nancial asset or a group of similar fi nancial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, 
interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash fl ows for the purpose of 
measuring the impairment loss.



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2008
(In RMB millions, unless otherwise stated)

168

Fee and commission income

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee income 
can be divided into the following two categories:

(i) Fee income on transactions conducted or from services provided over a period of time

Fee income is recognised on the basis of when the transaction is completed or on accrual basis when the service 
is provided over a period of time. These fees mainly include fee income on settlement and clearing business, 
commission income and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees.

(ii) Fee income from providing transaction services

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party such as 
the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are 
recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain 
performance are recognised after fulfi lling the corresponding criteria.

The fair value of the award credits granted to the bank card holders is deferred and recognised as fee and 
commission income when the award credits are redeemed or expired.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

Net trading income

Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value for fi nancial assets and 
fi nancial liabilities that are held for trading. This includes gains and losses from changes in fair value relating to the 
ineffective portion of the hedging arrangements.

(21) Income tax

Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

(i) where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profi t nor taxable income or deductible expenses; and
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(ii) in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except:

(i) where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profi t nor taxable income or deductible expenses; and

(ii) in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will be reversed in the foreseeable future and taxable profi t will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and refl ect the corresponding tax effect.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income 
tax asset to be utilised. When it is virtually probable that suffi cient taxable income will be available, the reduced 
amount can be reversed accordingly.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority.

(22) Employee benefi ts

Short term employee benefi ts

Salaries and bonuses, social security contributions and other short term employee benefi ts are accrued in the period in 
which services have been rendered by the employees of the Group.

Defi ned contribution plans

According to the statutory requirements in Mainland China, the Group is required to make contributions to defi ned 
contribution schemes separately administered by the local government authorities.

In addition, employees in Mainland China also participate in a defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plan 
established by the Bank (the “Annuity Plan”). The Bank and its employees are required to contribute a certain 
percentage of the employees’ previous year basic salaries to the Annuity Plan. The contribution is charged to the 
income statement when it incurs. The Bank pays a fi xed contribution into the Annuity Plan and has no obligation to 
pay further contributions if the Annuity Plan does not hold suffi cient assets to pay all employees benefi ts.

All eligible employees outside Mainland China participate in local defi ned contribution schemes. The Group 
contributes to these defi ned contribution schemes based on the requirements of the local regulatory bodies.

Contributions to these plans are recognised in the income statement as incurred.
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Termination benefi ts

Termination benefi ts are payable whenever an employee’s employment is voluntarily terminated before the normal 
retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefi ts. The 
Group recognises retirement benefi ts in the income statement when it is demonstrably committed to terminate the 
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal.

Early retirement benefi ts

According to the Bank’s policy on early retirement benefi ts, certain employees are entitled to take leave of absence 
and in return receive a certain level of staff salaries and related benefi ts from the Bank. The salaries and benefi t 
payments are made from the date of early retirement to the normal retirement date. The amounts of retirement 
benefi t expense and present value of these liabilities are dependent on assumptions used in calculating such amounts. 
These assumptions include discount rates, retirement benefi t growth rates and other factors. Gains and losses arising 
from the changes in assumptions and amendments to pension plans are recognised in the income statement as 
incurred.

(23) Fiduciary activities

Where the Group acts in a fi duciary capacity such as custodian or agent, assets arising thereon together with related 
undertakings to return such assets to customers are excluded from the balance sheet.

The Group grants entrusted loans on behalf of third-party lenders, which are recorded off-balance sheet. The Group, 
as an agent, grants such entrusted loans to borrowers under the direction of those third-party lenders who fund these 
loans. The Group has been contracted by those third-party lenders to manage the administration and collection of 
these loans on their behalf. Those third-party lenders determine both the underwriting criteria for and the terms of 
all entrusted loans including their purposes, amounts, interest rates, and repayment schedules. The Group charges a 
commission related to its activities in connection with entrusted loans which are recognised ratably over the period in 
which the service is provided. The risk of loss is borne by those third-party lenders.

(24) Financial guarantee contracts

The Group issues fi nancial guarantee contracts, including letters of credit, letters of guarantee and acceptance. These 
fi nancial guarantee contracts provide for specifi ed payments to be made to reimburse the holders for the losses they 
incur when a guaranteed party defaults under the original or modifi ed terms of a debt instrument, loan or any other 
obligation.

The Group initially measures all fi nancial contracts at fair value, in other liabilities, being the premium received. 
This amount is recognised ratably over the period of the contract as fee and commission income. Subsequently, the 
liabilities are measured at the higher of the initial fair value less cumulative amortisation and the best estimate of 
expenditure required to settle any fi nancial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee. Any increase in the liability 
relating to a fi nancial guarantee is taken to the income statement. The premium received is recognised in the income 
statement as fee and commission income over the life of the guarantee on the straight-line basis.

(25) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expenses 
relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement.

(26) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confi rmed 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable 
that an outfl ow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the fi nancial statements. When a change in 
the probability of an outfl ow occurs so that outfl ow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

(27) Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Bank’s shareholders 
in general meeting. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer at the 
discretion of the Bank. Dividend for the year that is approved after the balance sheet date is disclosed as an event 
after the balance sheet date.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has used its judgements and made 
assumptions of the effects of uncertain future events on the fi nancial statements. The most signifi cant use of 
judgements and key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next fi nancial period, are described below.

Designation of held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments and fi xed maturity are classifi ed as held-to-
maturity investments when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold the investments to maturity. 
Accordingly, in evaluating whether a fi nancial asset shall be classifi ed as a held-to-maturity investment, signifi cant 
management judgement is required. If the Group fails to correctly assess its intention and ability to hold the 
investments to maturity and the Group sells or reclassifi es more than an insignifi cant amount of held-to-maturity 
investments before maturity, the Group shall reclassify the whole held-to-maturity investment portfolio as available-
for-sale.

Impairment losses of loans and advances and amounts due from banks and other fi nancial 
institutions

The Group determines periodically whether there is any objective evidence that impairment losses on loans and 
advances and amounts due from banks and other fi nancial institutions have occurred. If any such evidence exists, the 
Group assesses the amount of impairment losses. The amount of impairment losses is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows. Assessing the amount of 
impairment losses requires signifi cant judgement on whether the objective evidence for impairment exists and also 
signifi cant estimates when determining the present value of the expected future cash fl ows.
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Impairment losses of available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investments

In determining whether there is any objective evidence that impairment losses on available-for-sale and held-
to-maturity investments have occurred, the Group assesses periodically whether there has been a signifi cant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or carrying amount, or whether other objective evidence of 
impairment exists based on the investee’s fi nancial conditions and business prospects, including industry environment, 
change of technology, operating and fi nancing cash fl ows. This requires a signifi cant level of judgement of 
management, which would affect the amount of impairment losses.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis and when circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may be impaired. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU or groups of 
CGUs, to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the recoverable amount requires the Group to make an estimate 
of the expected future cash fl ows from the CGU or groups of CGUs and also to choose a suitable discount rate in 
order to calculate the present value of those cash fl ows.

Income tax

Determining income tax provisions requires the Group to estimate the future tax treatment of certain transactions. 
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions in accordance with prevailing tax regulations and makes 
tax provisions accordingly. In addition, deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profi t will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. This requires 
signifi cant estimation on the tax treatments of certain transactions and also signifi cant assessment on the probability 
that adequate future taxable profi ts will be available for the deferred income tax assets to be recovered.

Fair value of fi nancial instruments

If the market for a fi nancial instrument is not active, the Group establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. 
Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable and willing 
parties, if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted 
cash fl ow analysis and option pricing models. To the extent practicable, valuation technique makes maximum use 
of market inputs. However, where market inputs are not available, management needs to make estimates on such 
unobservable market inputs.
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5. IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations that have been issued but 
are not yet effective, in these fi nancial statements.
IFRS 1 and IAS 27 Amendments First-time Adoption of IFRSs and Consolidated and Separate Financial 
  Statements — Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled 
  Entity or Associate1

IFRS 2 Amendments Share-based Payment — Vesting Conditions and Cancellations1

IFRS 3 and IAS 27 (Revised) Business Combinations and Consolidated and Separate Financial 
  Statements2

IFRS 7 Amendments Financial Instruments: Disclosures — Improving Disclosures about 
  Financial Instruments1

IFRS 8 Operating Segments1

IAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements1

IAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs1

IAS 32 and IAS 1 Amendments Financial Instruments: Presentation and Presentation of Financial 
  Statements — Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on 
  Liquidation1

IAS 39 Amendment Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement — Eligible Hedged 
  Items2

IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 Amendments Embedded Derivatives3

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation4

IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners2

Apart from the above, the IASB has issued Improvements to IFRSs* which sets out amendments to a number of IFRSs 
primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. Except for the amendment to IFRS 5 which is 
effective for annual periods on or after 1 July 2009, other amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2009 although there are separate transitional provisions for each standard.

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

3 Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008

* Improvements to IFRSs contain amendments to IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 1, IAS 8, IAS 10, IAS 16, IAS 18, IAS 19, IAS 20, IAS 23, IAS 

27, IAS 28, IAS 29, IAS 31, IAS 34, IAS 36, IAS 38, IAS 39, IAS 40 and IAS 41.
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The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised IFRSs and interpretations 
upon initial application. Further information about those changes that are expected to signifi cantly affect the Group is 
as follows:

IFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations that will impact the 
amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported 
results. IAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is 
accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such transaction will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it 
give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the 
subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. The changes by IFRS 3 and IAS 27 (Revised) will affect future 
acquisitions or loss of control and transactions with minority interests. The Group will early adopt IFRS 3 and IAS 27 
(Revised) from 1 January 2009.

IAS 1 (Revised) separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity will include 
only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. In addition, 
it introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of income and expense recognised in profi t 
or loss, together with all other items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two 
linked statements.
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6. NET INTEREST INCOME

2008 2007

Interest income on:

 Loans and advances to customers

  — Personal loans 56,869 42,742

  — Corporate loans 234,696 180,792

  — Discounted bills 15,538 14,346

 Due from central banks 22,634 14,805

 Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions 8,149 12,878

 Financial investments 102,688 91,724

440,574 357,287

Interest expense on:

 Due to customers (160,253) (116,336)

 Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (16,043) (15,305)

 Subordinated bonds (1,241) (1,181)

(177,537) (132,822)

Net interest income 263,037 224,465

The above interest income and expenses were related to fi nancial instruments which are not at fair value through 
profi t or loss.

Included in interest income on loans and advances to customers for the year is an amount of RMB1,538 million (2007: 
RMB1,430 million) with respect to the accreted interest on impaired loans. Included in interest income on fi nancial 
investments for the year is an amount of RMB1,062 million (2007: RMB17 million) with respect to interest income on 
impaired debt securities.

7. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2008 2007

Settlement, clearing business and cash management 13,002 9,215

Personal wealth management and private banking services (i) 10,327 15,994

Investment banking business 8,028 4,505

Bank card business 7,199 5,372

Corporate wealth management services (i) 2,788 1,949

Assets fi duciary business (i) 2,066 1,465

Guarantee and commitment business 1,849 563

Trust and agency services (i) 756 584

Others 696 368

Fee and commission income 46,711 40,015

Fee and commission expense (2,709) (1,656)

Net fee and commission income 44,002 38,359

(i) Included in personal wealth management and private banking services, corporate wealth management services, assets 

fi duciary business and trust and agency services above is an amount of RMB5,097 million (2007: RMB2,559 million) with 

respect to trust and other fi duciary activities.
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8. NET TRADING INCOME

2008 2007

Debt securities 1,943 1,343

Equity investments (14) 4

Derivatives (46) 4

1,883 1,351

The above amounts include gains and losses arising from the buying and selling, interest income and expense on and 
changes in the fair value of fi nancial assets and liabilities held for trading as well as changes in the fair value relating 
to the ineffective portion of the hedging arrangements.

9. NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR 
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2008 2007

Financial assets (55) 192

Financial liabilities (644) (1,607)

(699) (1,415)

The above amounts represent gains and losses arising from the buying and selling, interest income and expense on 
and changes in the fair value of fi nancial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profi t or loss upon 
initial recognition.

10. NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

2008 2007

Dividend income from unlisted investments 69 74

Dividend income from listed investments 13 —

Dividend income 82 74

Gain/(loss) on disposal of available-for-sale investments, net (449) 425

(367) 499

11. OTHER OPERATING INCOME/(EXPENSE), NET

2008 2007

Loss from foreign exchange and foreign exchange products, net (851) (9,457)

Net gain on disposal of property and equipment, repossessed assets and others 1,563 1,838

Sundry bank charge income 251 698

Others 1,376 1,090

2,339 (5,831)
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12. OPERATING EXPENSES

2008 2007

Staff costs:

 Salaries and bonuses 35,169 27,159

 Staff benefi ts 10,846 10,679

 Contributions to defi ned contribution schemes (i) 5,237 4,561

 Early retirement benefi ts 2,000 12,500

53,252 54,899

Premises and equipment expenses:

 Depreciation (note 30) 8,190 8,318

 Minimum lease payments under operating leases in respect of land and buildings 2,469 2,023

 Repairs and maintenance charges 2,686 2,145

 Utility expenses 1,672 1,556

15,017 14,042

Amortisation 1,300 1,174

Other administrative expenses (ii) 17,243 14,816

Business tax and surcharges 18,765 14,511

Others 5,758 5,218

111,335 104,660

(i) Contributions to defi ned contribution schemes mainly include contributions to the state pension and the Bank’s Annuity Plan. 

During the year and as at the balance sheet date, the Group’s forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to 

the pension schemes in future years were not material.

(ii) Included in other administrative expenses is auditors’ remuneration of RMB181 million for the year (2007: RMB171 million).

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments before tax, as disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, are as follows:

Group

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefi ts in kind 4,607 3,492

Discretionary bonuses 3,962 5,375

Contributions to defi ned contribution schemes 895 1,085

Fees 1,903 2,160

11,367 12,112
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The emoluments before tax of the Bank’s directors and supervisors for the year were as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2008

Name Position

Salaries, 

allowances 

and benefi ts 

in kind

Discretionary 

bonuses

Contributions 

to defi ned 

contribution 

schemes Fees Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

JIANG Jianqing Chairman of the Board of

 Directors, Executive Director

800 658 152 — 1,610

YANG Kaisheng Vice Chairman of the Board of

  Directors, Executive Director, 

President

760 643 132 — 1,535

ZHAO Lin (i) Chairman of the Board of

 Supervisors

420 345 78 — 843

WANG Weiqiang (i) Former Chairman of the Board of

 Supervisors

360 297 65 — 722

ZHANG Furong Executive Director, Vice President 680 579 122 — 1,381

NIU Ximing Executive Director, Vice President 680 579 122 — 1,381

LEUNG Kam Chung, Antony Independent Non-executive

 Director

— — — 490 490

QIAN Yingyi Independent Non-executive

 Director

— — — 470 470

XU Shanda Independent Non-executive

 Director

— — — 205 205

John L. THORNTON (ii) Former Independent

 Non-executive Director

— — — 398 398

FU Zhongjun Non-executive Director — — — — —

KANG Xuejun Non-executive Director — — — — —

SONG Zhigang Non-executive Director — — — — —

GAO Jianhong (iii) Non-executive Director — — — — —

LI Jun (iii) Non-executive Director — — — — —

LI Xiwen (iii) Non-executive Director — — — — —

Christopher A. COLE Non-executive Director — — — — —

WANG Wenyan (iv) Former Non-executive Director — — — — —

ZHAO Haiying (iv) Former Non-executive Director — — — — —

ZHONG Jian’an (iv) Former Non-executive Director — — — — —

WANG Chixi Shareholder Supervisor 500 390 110 — 1,000

WANG Daocheng External Supervisor — — — 150 150

MIAO Gengshu External Supervisor — — — 140 140

ZHANG Wei Employee Supervisor 407 471 114 50 1,042

4,607 3,962 895 1,903 11,367

(i) Mr. Wang Weiqiang resigned as the chairman of the board of supervisors on 10 June 2008 and Mr. Zhao Lin succeeded on 

the same date, which has been approved by the supervisory committee.

(ii) The resignation of the above director was approved at the board of directors’ meeting held on 19 November 2008 and 

became effective on the same date.

(iii) The appointments of the above directors have been approved by the CBRC, and their appointments took effect from 

17 December 2008.

(iv) The retirement of the above directors became effective on 17 December 2008, pursuant to the laws and regulations of the 

PRC and the relevant provisions of the articles of association of the Bank.
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Year ended 31 December 2007

Name Position

Salaries, 

allowances 

and benefi ts 

in kind

Discretionary 

bonuses

Contributions 

to defi ned 

contribution 

schemes Fees Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

JIANG Jianqing Chairman of the Board of

 Directors, Executive Director

620 986 189 — 1,795

YANG Kaisheng Vice Chairman of the Board of

  Directors, Executive Director, 

President

600 934 177 — 1,711

WANG Weiqiang Chairman of the Board of

 Supervisors

560 882 162 — 1,604

ZHANG Furong Executive Director, Vice President 520 865 148 — 1,533

NIU Ximing Executive Director, Vice President 520 850 147 — 1,517

LEUNG Kam Chung, Antony Independent Non-executive

 Director

— — — 510 510

QIAN Yingyi Independent Non-executive

 Director

— — — 470 470

XU Shanda Independent Non-executive

 Director

— — — 100 100

John L. THORNTON Independent Non-executive

 Director

— — — 450 450

FU Zhongjun Non-executive Director — — — — —

KANG Xuejun Non-executive Director — — — — —

SONG Zhigang Non-executive Director — — — — —

Christopher A. COLE Non-executive Director — — — — —

WANG Wenyan Non-executive Director — — — — —

ZHAO Haiying Non-executive Director — — — — —

ZHONG Jian’an Non-executive Director — — — — —

WANG Chixi Shareholder Supervisor 391 402 131 — 924

WANG Daocheng External Supervisor — — — 300 300

MIAO Gengshu External Supervisor — — — 280 280

ZHANG Wei Employee Supervisor 281 456 131 50 918

3,492 5,375 1,085 2,160 12,112

The non-executive directors of the Bank received emoluments from the Bank’s shareholders or its affi liates in respect 
of their services during the year.

One of the Bank’s executive directors, who is also a director of a subsidiary of the Bank, waived emoluments 
amounting to RMB0.17 million for the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: RMB0.19 million), which were related to 
discretionary bonuses for employees who contributed to the success of operations of the Bank’s subsidiary. Therefore, 
those emoluments were not included in the directors’ emoluments disclosed above. Save for above, there was no 
arrangement under which a director or a supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year 
ended 31 December 2008.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the persons who are directors or supervisors as an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of offi ce (2007: Nil).
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14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The fi ve highest paid individuals of the Group are employees of the Bank’s overseas subsidiaries. Their emoluments 
were determined based on the prevailing market rates in the respective countries/regions where the subsidiaries are 
operating. None of them are directors, supervisors or key management personnel of the Bank whose emoluments are 
disclosed in note 13 or 46(e) to the fi nancial statements. Details of the emoluments in respect of the fi ve highest paid 
individuals are as follows:

Group

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefi ts in kind 14,957 11,559

Discretionary bonuses 4,146 19,997

Contributions to defi ned contribution schemes 5,318 767

24,421 32,323

The number of these individuals whose emoluments fell within the following bands is set out below.

Number of employees

2008 2007

RMB2,500,001 to RMB3,000,000 1 —

RMB3,500,001 to RMB4,000,000 1 —

RMB4,000,001 to RMB4,500,000 1 —

RMB4,500,001 to RMB5,000,000 1 1

RMB5,000,001 to RMB5,500,000 — 1

RMB5,500,001 to RMB6,000,000 — 1

RMB6,000,001 to RMB6,500,000 — 1

RMB8,500,001 to RMB9,000,000 1 —

RMB10,000,001 to RMB10,500,000 — 1

5 5

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of these non-director and non-supervisor individuals 
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of offi ce (2007: Nil).
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15. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON ASSETS OTHER THAN LOANS AND ADVANCES TO 
CUSTOMERS

Notes 2008 2007

Charge/(reversal) of impairment losses on:

 Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions 21 (121) 22

 Financial investments:

  Held-to-maturity debt securities 27(d) 1,616 110

  Available-for-sale investments 27(c)(i), (d) 16,485 3,135

 Property and equipment 30 16 536

 Other assets 954 542

18,950 4,345

16. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the new corporate income tax law which has become effective from 1 January 2008 onwards, the PRC 
income tax has been provided at the statutory rate of 25% (2007: 33%) during the year. Taxes on profi ts assessable 
elsewhere have been calculated at the applicable rates of tax prevailing in the countries/regions in which the Group 
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

2008 2007

Current income tax expense:

 PRC

  — Mainland China 42,054 40,137

  — Hong Kong and Macau 142 359

 Overseas 93 76

42,289 40,572

 Adjustment in respect of current income tax of prior years 400 (1,890)

42,689 38,682

Deferred income tax credit (8,539) (5,558)

34,150 33,124

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profi t before tax at the PRC statutory income tax rate of 25% 
(2007: 33%) to income tax expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate is as follows:

2008 2007

Profi t before tax 145,376 115,378

Tax at the PRC statutory income tax rate 36,344 38,075

Effects of different applicable rates of tax prevailing in other countries/regions (112) (371)

Non-deductible expenses (i) 2,049 1,906

Non-taxable income (ii) (4,335) (6,446)

Profi ts and losses attributable to associates (494) —

Effects of change in tax rate on deferred income tax — 1,636

Adjustment in respect of current income tax of prior years 400 (1,890)

Others 298 214

Tax expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate 34,150 33,124
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(i) The non-deductible expenses mainly represent non-deductible impairment provision and write-offs.

(ii) The non-taxable income mainly represents interest income arising from PRC government bonds, which is exempted from 

income tax.

17. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

The consolidated profi t attributable to equity holders of the parent company for the year ended 31 December 2008 
includes a profi t of RMB108,959 million (2007: RMB80,933 million) which has been dealt with in the fi nancial 
statements of the Bank (note 40).

18. DIVIDEND

2008 2007

Dividends on ordinary shares declared and paid:

 Final dividend for 2007: RMB0.133 per share (2006: RMB0.016 per share) 44,425 5,344

2008 2007

Dividends on ordinary shares proposed for approval

 (not recognised as at 31 December):

 Final dividend for 2008: RMB0.165 per share (2007: RMB0.133 per share) 55,113 44,425

The proposed fi nal dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Bank’s shareholders at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting. The dividend was not recognised as a liability as at 31 December 2008.

19. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 
COMPANY

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following:

2008 2007

Earnings:

 Profi t for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent company 110,841 81,520

Shares:

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (million) 334,019 334,019

Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB yuan) 0.33 0.24

There were no dilutive events during the year ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007.
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20. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Cash on hand 40,025 39,123 39,439 38,899

Balances with central banks other than

 restricted deposits 373,807 83,328 373,550 82,793

Unrestricted cash and balances with

 central banks 413,832 122,451 412,989 121,692

Mandatory reserve deposits with

 central banks 1,191,472 947,236 1,190,757 947,110

Other restricted deposits with central banks 87,720 72,659 87,720 72,659

Restricted balances with central banks 1,279,192 1,019,895 1,278,477 1,019,769

1,693,024 1,142,346 1,691,466 1,141,461

The Group is required to place mandatory reserve deposits and other restricted deposits with the PBOC and certain 
central banks of overseas countries or regions where it has operations. Mandatory reserve deposits with central banks 
and other restricted deposits are not available for use in the Group’s daily operations.

Mandatory reserve deposits mainly consist of deposits placed with the PBOC. As at 31 December 2008, the required 
mandatory deposit reserve ratios set by the PBOC in respect of customer deposits denominated in RMB and foreign 
currencies were 15.5% (2007: 14.5%) and 5% (2007: 5%), respectively. The amounts of mandatory reserve 
deposits placed with the central banks of those countries or regions outside Mainland China are determined by local 
jurisdictions.

21. DUE FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Nostro accounts:

 Banks operating in Mainland China 11,092 11,380 10,089 10,866

 Other fi nancial institutions operating

  in Mainland China 1,004 469 1,004 469

 Banks operating outside Mainland China 29,509 17,591 22,201 16,733

41,605 29,440 33,294 28,068

Allowance for impairment losses (34) (34) (34) (34)

41,571 29,406 33,260 28,034

Placements with banks and other

 fi nancial institutions:

 Banks operating in Mainland China 10,899 15,879 12,528 18,684

 Other fi nancial institutions operating

  in Mainland China 6,499 5,884 6,440 5,784

 Banks operating outside Mainland China 109,429 148,745 102,162 122,651

126,827 170,508 121,130 147,119

Allowance for impairment losses (35) (156) (33) (156)

126,792 170,352 121,097 146,963

168,363 199,758 154,357 174,997



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2008
(In RMB millions, unless otherwise stated)

184

Movements of allowance for impairment losses during the year are as follows:

Group

Nostro 

accounts

Placements 

with banks 

and other 

fi nancial 

institutions Total

At 1 January 2007 31 145 176

Charge for the year 3 19 22

Write-offs — (8) (8)

At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 34 156 190

Charge for the year — 2 2

Reversal for the year — (123) (123)

At 31 December 2008 34 35 69

Bank

Nostro 

accounts

Placements 

with banks 

and other 

fi nancial 

institutions Total

At 1 January 2007 31 145 176

Charge for the year 3 19 22

Write-offs — (8) (8)

At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 34 156 190

Reversal for the year — (123) (123)

At 31 December 2008 34 33 67

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Debt securities 32,163 31,501 25,362 31,485

Equity investments 19 35 — —

32,182 31,536 25,362 31,485

Debt securities analysed into:

 Listed in Hong Kong 203 1 68 —

 Listed outside Hong Kong 1,689 650 186 650

 Unlisted 30,271 30,850 25,108 30,835

32,163 31,501 25,362 31,485

The equity investments are all listed in Hong Kong.
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Debt securities 1,459 2,785 144 1,142

Debt securities analysed into:

 Listed in Hong Kong 301 76 — —

 Listed outside Hong Kong 1,005 1,812 144 1,142

 Unlisted 153 897 — —

1,459 2,785 144 1,142

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A derivative is a fi nancial instrument, the value of which changes in response to the change in a specifi ed interest 
rate, fi nancial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or 
credit index, or other similar variables. The Group uses derivative fi nancial instruments including forwards, swaps and 
options.

The notional amount of a derivative represents the amount of underlying asset upon which the value of the derivative 
is based. It indicates the volume of business transacted by the Group but does not refl ect the risk.

The fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable and 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Bank had derivative fi nancial instruments as follows:

Group

31 December 2008

Notional amounts with remaining life of Fair values

Within 

three 

months

Over three 

months 

but within 

one year

Over one 

year but 

within fi ve 

years

Over fi ve 

years Total Assets Liabilities

Exchange rate contracts:

 Forward and swap contracts 242,378 191,333 16,327 11,769 461,807 8,749 (5,721)

 Option contracts purchased 5,853 8,843 20 — 14,716 305 (305)

248,231 200,176 16,347 11,769 476,523 9,054 (6,026)

Interest rate contracts:

 Swap contracts 5,094 22,711 103,525 51,392 182,722 6,543 (7,462)

 Forward contracts 3,964 3,759 21,802 1,504 31,029 118 (118)

 Option contracts purchased/written — — 529 — 529 5 (5)

9,058 26,470 125,856 52,896 214,280 6,666 (7,585)

Other derivative contracts 27 96 — — 123 1 (1)

257,316 226,742 142,203 64,665 690,926 15,721 (13,612)
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Group

31 December 2007

Notional amounts with remaining life of Fair values

Within 

three 

months

Over three 

months 

but within 

one year

Over one 

year but 

within fi ve 

years

Over fi ve 

years Total Assets Liabilities

Exchange rate contracts:

 Forward and swap contracts 208,328 258,667 28,724 11,828 507,547 9,631 (4,804)

 Option contracts purchased 29,798 83,948 3,892 — 117,638 11,644 (218)

238,126 342,615 32,616 11,828 625,185 21,275 (5,022)

Interest rate contracts:

 Swap contracts 4,887 12,944 92,734 48,742 159,307 1,353 (1,964)

 Forward contracts 4,529 4,483 27,465 5,698 42,175 129 (129)

 Option contracts purchased/written 423 596 2,889 3,080 6,988 12 (12)

9,839 18,023 123,088 57,520 208,470 1,494 (2,105)

247,965 360,638 155,704 69,348 833,655 22,769 (7,127)

Bank

31 December 2008

Notional amounts with remaining life of Fair values

Within 

three 

months

Over three 

months 

but within 

one year

Over one 

year but 

within fi ve 

years

Over fi ve 

years Total Assets Liabilities

Exchange rate contracts:

 Forward and swap contracts 226,490 157,180 13,403 11,769 408,842 7,490 (3,877)

 Option contracts purchased 962 2,885 — — 3,847 172 (172)

227,452 160,065 13,403 11,769 412,689 7,662 (4,049)

Interest rate contracts:

 Swap contracts 4,689 17,857 94,166 48,113 164,825 6,211 (6,836)

 Forward contracts 3,964 3,759 21,802 1,504 31,029 118 (118)

8,653 21,616 115,968 49,617 195,854 6,329 (6,954)

Other derivative contracts — 96 — — 96 — —

236,105 181,777 129,371 61,386 608,639 13,991 (11,003)
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Bank

31 December 2007

Notional amounts with remaining life of Fair values

Within 

three 

months

Over three 

months 

but within 

one year

Over one 

year but 

within fi ve 

years

Over fi ve 

years Total Assets Liabilities

Exchange rate contracts:

 Forward and swap contracts 173,189 224,046 26,976 11,534 435,745 9,475 (4,614)

 Option contracts purchased 22,805 68,415 — — 91,220 11,552 (118)

195,994 292,461 26,976 11,534 526,965 21,027 (4,732)

Interest rate contracts:

 Swap contracts 4,262 10,530 77,460 45,268 137,520 1,196 (1,725)

 Forward contracts 4,529 4,483 27,465 5,698 42,175 129 (129)

 Option contracts purchased/written — — 21 2,941 2,962 6 (6)

8,791 15,013 104,946 53,907 182,657 1,331 (1,860)

204,785 307,474 131,922 65,441 709,622 22,358 (6,592)

Cash fl ow hedges

The Group’s cash fl ow hedge consists of foreign exchange forward and currency swap contracts that are used to 
protect against exposures to variability of future cash fl ows arising from fl oating rate foreign currency denominated 
assets and a forecast transaction which subsequently occurred and resulted in the recognition of an investment in a 
foreign operation during the year. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised 
directly in cash fl ow hedge reserve, being a component in equity, and will be recycled into the profi t or loss when the 
forecast cash fl ows or the investment acquired affects the income statement. The ineffective portion is immediately 
recognised in the income statement.

Among the above derivative fi nancial instruments, those designated as hedging instruments in the Group’s cash fl ow 
hedge are set out below:

31 December 2008

Notional amounts with remaining life of Fair values

Within 

three 

months

Over three 

months 

but within 

one year

Over one 

year but 

within fi ve 

years

Over fi ve 

years Total Assets Liabilities

Currency swap contract — 444 — — 444 — (33)

31 December 2007: Nil

There is no ineffectiveness recognised in the income statement that arises from cash fl ow hedges for the current year 
(2007: Nil).
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Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are used by the Group to protect it against changes in the fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial 
liabilities due to movements in market interest rates and exchange rates. The fi nancial instruments hedged for interest 
rate risk and currency risk mainly include available-for-sale debt securities.

The effectiveness of the hedge based on changes in fair value of the derivatives and the hedged items attributable to 
the hedged risk recognised in the income statement during the year is presented as follows:

Group

2008 2007

Loss arising from fair value hedge, net:

 — Hedging instruments (529) (211)

 — Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 496 208

(33) (3)

Among the above derivative fi nancial instruments, those designated as hedging instruments in fair value hedge are 
set out below:

Group

31 December 2008

Notional amounts with remaining life of Fair values

Within 

three 

months

Over three 

months 

but within 

one year

Over one 

year but 

within fi ve 

years

Over fi ve 

years Total Assets Liabilities

Currency swap contracts — — 124 — 124 — (23)

Interest rate swap contracts 312 1,721 9,681 1,191 12,905 3 (796)

312 1,721 9,805 1,191 13,029 3 (819)

31 December 2007

Notional amounts with remaining life of Fair values

Within 

three 

months

Over three 

months 

but within 

one year

Over one 

year but 

within fi ve 

years

Over fi ve 

years Total Assets Liabilities

Currency swap contracts — — 74 — 74 — (4)

Interest rate swap contracts 167 1,486 2,686 881 5,220 11 (160)

167 1,486 2,760 881 5,294 11 (164)
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Bank

31 December 2008

Notional amounts with remaining life of Fair values

Within 

three 

months

Over three 

months 

but within 

one year

Over one 

year but 

within fi ve 

years

Over fi ve 

years Total Assets Liabilities

Currency swap contracts — — 54 — 54 — (20)

Interest rate swap contracts 311 1,041 7,693 707 9,752 3 (546)

311 1,041 7,747 707 9,806 3 (566)

31 December 2007

Notional amounts with remaining life of Fair values

Within 

three 

months

Over three 

months 

but within 

one year

Over one 

year but 

within fi ve 

years

Over fi ve 

years Total Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swap contracts — 923 2,061 530 3,514 3 (133)

The credit risk weighted amounts in respect of the above derivatives of the Group and of the Bank as at the balance 
sheet date are as follows:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Currency derivatives 5,900 5,117 4,758 4,404

Interest rate derivatives 6,141 1,729 5,804 1,611

Other derivatives 8 — 6 —

12,049 6,846 10,568 6,015

The credit risk weighted amounts represent the counterparty credit risk associated with derivative transactions and are 
calculated with reference to the guidelines issued by the CBRC. The amounts calculated are dependent on, among 
other factors, the credit worthiness of the customer and the maturity characteristic of each type of contract. The 
amount differs from the carrying amount or maximum exposure to credit risk.

25. REVERSE REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Analysed by counterparty:

 Banks 84,511 65,763 84,511 65,763

 Other fi nancial institutions 78,982 10,117 77,681 10,117

163,493 75,880 162,192 75,880

Analysed by collateral:

 Securities 111,466 6,185 111,466 6,185

 Bills 42,685 58,153 42,685 58,153

 Loans 9,342 11,542 8,041 11,542

163,493 75,880 162,192 75,880
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Under certain reverse repurchase agreements, the Group and the Bank received collateral that is permitted to be sold 
or repledged in the absence of default by the owners of the collateral. The fair value of the collateral received on such 
terms as at 31 December 2007 amounted to RMB4,790 million. There was no collateral received on such items as at 
31 December 2008.

26. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Corporate loans 3,396,633 3,057,517 3,269,141 2,949,787

Personal loans 849,045 763,607 829,824 752,363

Discounted bills 326,316 252,105 326,315 252,103

4,571,994 4,073,229 4,425,280 3,954,253

Allowance for impairment losses (135,983) (115,687) (135,325) (115,331)

4,436,011 3,957,542 4,289,955 3,838,922

Movements of allowance for impairment losses during the year are as follows:

Group

Individually 

assessed

Collectively 

assessed Total

At 1 January 2007 56,991 40,202 97,193

Impairment loss: 15,928 17,133 33,061

 — impairment allowances charged 36,869 38,439 75,308

 — impairment allowances transferred 371 (371) —

 — reversal of impairment allowances (21,312) (20,935) (42,247)

Accreted interest on impaired loans (note 6) (1,430) — (1,430)

Write-offs (7,579) (592) (8,171)

Recoveries of loans and advances previously written off 295 — 295

Transfer out (5,261) — (5,261)

At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 58,944 56,743 115,687

Impairment loss: 10,955 25,557 36,512

 — impairment allowances charged 25,045 54,683 79,728

 — impairment allowances transferred 443 (443) —

 — reversal of impairment allowances (14,533) (28,683) (43,216)

Accreted interest on impaired loans (note 6) (1,538) — (1,538)

Write-offs (11,917) (456) (12,373)

Recoveries of loans and advances previously written off 83 146 229

Transfer out (2,468) (66) (2,534)

At 31 December 2008 54,059 81,924 135,983

Transfer out mainly represents impairment losses of loans transferred into repossessed assets.
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Bank

Individually 

assessed

Collectively 

assessed Total

At 1 January 2007 56,785 39,959 96,744

Impairment loss: 15,914 17,167 33,081

 — impairment allowances charged 36,716 38,300 75,016

 — impairment allowances transferred 371 (371) —

 — reversal of impairment allowances (21,173) (20,762) (41,935)

Accreted interest on impaired loans (1,411) — (1,411)

Write-offs (7,535) (592) (8,127)

Recoveries of loans and advances previously written off 295 — 295

Transfer out (5,251) — (5,251)

At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 58,797 56,534 115,331

Impairment loss: 10,710 25,424 36,134

 — impairment allowances charged 24,782 54,417 79,199

 — impairment allowances transferred 443 (443) —

 — reversal of impairment allowances (14,515) (28,550) (43,065)

Accreted interest on impaired loans (1,524) — (1,524)

Write-offs (11,858) (446) (12,304)

Recoveries of loans and advances previously written off 76 143 219

Transfer out (2,443) (88) (2,531)

At 31 December 2008 53,758 81,567 135,325

Movements of allowance for impairment losses during the year analysed into those attributable to corporate loans 
and discounted bills and personal loans are as follows:

Group

Corporate 

loans and 

discounted 

bills

Personal 

loans Total

At 1 January 2007 86,346 10,847 97,193

Impairment loss: 30,363 2,698 33,061

 — impairment allowances charged 68,486 6,822 75,308

 — reversal of impairment allowances (38,123) (4,124) (42,247)

Accreted interest on impaired loans (note 6) (1,430) — (1,430)

Write-offs (7,579) (592) (8,171)

Recoveries of loans and advances previously written off 295 — 295

Transfer out (5,261) — (5,261)

At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 102,734 12,953 115,687

Impairment loss: 30,639 5,873 36,512

 — impairment allowances charged 69,723 10,005 79,728

 — reversal of impairment allowances (39,084) (4,132) (43,216)

Accreted interest on impaired loans (note 6) (1,538) — (1,538)

Write-offs (11,917) (456) (12,373)

Recoveries of loans and advances previously written off 83 146 229

Transfer out (2,468) (66) (2,534)

At 31 December 2008 117,533 18,450 135,983
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Bank

Corporate 

loans and 

discounted 

bills

Personal 

loans Total

At 1 January 2007 85,954 10,790 96,744

Impairment loss: 30,353 2,728 33,081

 — impairment allowances charged 68,194 6,822 75,016

 — reversal of impairment allowances (37,841) (4,094) (41,935)

Accreted interest on impaired loans (1,411) — (1,411)

Write-offs (7,535) (592) (8,127)

Recoveries of loans and advances previously written off 295 — 295

Transfer out (5,251) — (5,251)

At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 102,405 12,926 115,331

Impairment loss: 30,283 5,851 36,134

 — impairment allowances charged 69,221 9,978 79,199

 — reversal of impairment allowances (38,938) (4,127) (43,065)

Accreted interest on impaired loans (1,524) — (1,524)

Write-offs (11,858) (446) (12,304)

Recoveries of loans and advances previously written off 76 143 219

Transfer out (2,443) (88) (2,531)

At 31 December 2008 116,939 18,386 135,325

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Loans and advances for which allowance for

 impairment losses is:

 Individually assessed 94,811 103,055 93,936 102,530

 Collectively assessed 4,477,183 3,970,174 4,331,344 3,851,723

4,571,994 4,073,229 4,425,280 3,954,253

Allowance for impairment losses:

 Individually assessed 54,059 58,944 53,758 58,797

 Collectively assessed 81,924 56,743 81,567 56,534

135,983 115,687 135,325 115,331

Net loans and advances for which allowance

 for impairment losses is:

 Individually assessed 40,752 44,111 40,178 43,733

 Collectively assessed 4,395,259 3,913,431 4,249,777 3,795,189

4,436,011 3,957,542 4,289,955 3,838,922

Identifi ed impaired loans and advances 104,482 111,774 103,529 111,140

Percentage of impaired loans and advances 2.29% 2.74% 2.34% 2.81%
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Securitisation business

The Group enters into securitisation transactions in the normal course of business by which it transfers credit assets 
to SPEs which issue asset-backed securities to investors. The Group may retain interests in the form of subordinated 
tranches which would give rise to the Group’s continuing involvement in the transferred assets. Those fi nancial assets 
are recognised on the balance sheet to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. The extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement is the extent to which the Group exposes to changes in the value of the transferred assets.

As at 31 December 2008, loans with an original carrying amount of RMB12,032 million (2007: RMB4,021 million) 
have been securitised by the Group under arrangements in which the Group retains a continuing involvement in such 
assets. As at 31 December 2008, the amount of assets that the Group continues to recognise was RMB519 million 
(2007: RMB116 million), and the assets were classifi ed as available-for-sale securities.

27. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Group Bank

Notes 2008 2007 2008 2007

Receivables (a) 1,162,769 1,211,767 1,162,769 1,211,767

Held-to-maturity debt securities (b) 1,314,320 1,330,085 1,319,106 1,334,508

Available-for-sale investments (c) 537,580 531,155 520,576 515,229

3,014,669 3,073,007 3,002,451 3,061,504

(a) Receivables

The receivables are unlisted and stated at amortised cost and comprise the following:

Group and Bank

Notes 2008 2007

Huarong bonds (i) 312,996 312,996

Special government bond (ii) 85,000 85,000

MOF receivable (iii) 142,773 193,981

Special PBOC bills (iv) 434,790 434,790

PBOC bills and fi nancial bonds (v) 187,210 185,000

1,162,769 1,211,767

Notes:

(i) Huarong bonds are a series of long term bonds issued by China Huarong Asset Management Corporation (“Huarong”) in 

2000 and 2001, with an aggregate amount of RMB312,996 million. The proceeds from the issuance of the bond were used 

to purchase impaired assets of the Group. The bonds are non-transferable, with a tenure of 10 years and bear interest at a 

fi xed rate of 2.25% per annum. The MOF will provide support for the repayment of the principal of the Huarong bonds if 

necessary. In addition, with effect from 1 July 2005, should Huarong be unable to make full payment of the bond interest, the 

MOF will provide funding in support of the payment.

(ii) The special government bond represents a non-negotiable bond with a nominal value of RMB85,000 million issued by the 

MOF to the Bank in 1998. The bond will mature in 2028 and bears interest at a fi xed rate of 2.25% per annum.

(iii) MOF receivable represents the receivable arising from the disposal of certain impaired assets to Huarong in 2005. The amount 

is repayable by 2010 and bears interest at a fi xed rate of 3% per annum. The repayment of principal from the MOF during the 

year amounted to RMB51,208 million (2007: RMB32,397million).
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(iv) Special PBOC bills consist of:

• a non-transferable bill with a nominal value of RMB430,465 million issued by the PBOC in June 2005, which will mature 

in June 2010 and bears a fi xed interest rate of 1.89% per annum. The PBOC has the right to early redeem the bill prior 

to the maturity date; and

• a non-transferable bill with a nominal value of RMB4,325 million issued by the PBOC in June 2006, which will mature in 

June 2011 and bears a fi xed interest rate of 1.89% per annum. The PBOC has the right to early redeem the bill prior to 

the maturity date.

(v) PBOC bills and fi nancial bonds

The balance represents non-transferable debt securities with fi xed or determinable payments.

(b) Held-to-maturity debt securities

Held-to-maturity debt securities are stated at amortised cost and comprise the following:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Debt securities 1,316,033 1,330,234 1,320,701 1,334,654

Allowance for impairment losses (1,713) (149) (1,595) (146)

1,314,320 1,330,085 1,319,106 1,334,508

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Analysed into:

 Listed in Hong Kong 517 655 448 655

 Listed outside Hong Kong 221,998 331,109 220,832 330,547

 Unlisted 1,091,805 998,321 1,097,826 1,003,306

1,314,320 1,330,085 1,319,106 1,334,508

Market value of listed debt securities 234,224 323,928 232,983 323,401
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(c) Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments comprise the following:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Debt securities, at fair value (i) 528,829 524,723 513,238 511,113

Equity investments:

 At fair value (i) 6,861 3,412 5,541 1,177

 At cost (ii):

  Debt for equity swaps (iii) 2,249 3,130 2,249 3,130

  Others 412 338 295 240

 Allowance for impairment losses of

  equity investments (771) (448) (747) (431)

1,890 3,020 1,797 2,939

Subtotal for equity investments 8,751 6,432 7,338 4,116

Total 537,580 531,155 520,576 515,229

Debt securities analysed into:

 Listed in Hong Kong 3,924 1,617 2,075 612

 Listed outside Hong Kong 94,479 44,454 85,693 38,792

 Unlisted 430,426 478,652 425,470 471,709

528,829 524,723 513,238 511,113

Equity investments analysed into:

 Listed in Hong Kong 1,058 2,235 — —

 Listed outside Hong Kong 213 1,177 213 1,177

 Unlisted 7,480 3,020 7,125 2,939

8,751 6,432 7,338 4,116

Market value of listed securities:

 Debt securities 98,403 46,071 87,768 39,404

 Equity investments 1,271 3,412 213 1,177

99,674 49,483 87,981 40,581

(i) When impairment of an available-for-sale investment measured at fair value occurs, any impairment loss recognised is 

recorded in the carrying amount directly. As at 31 December 2008, the carrying amount of available-for-sale investments 

measured at fair value includes debt securities and equity investments which are individually assessed to be impaired 

amounting to RMB24,565 million (2007: RMB5,500 million) and RMB49 million (2007: Nil) respectively, with aggregate 

impairment loss recognised in the income statement for the year of RMB16,162 million (2007: RMB3,081 million).

(ii) Certain available-for-sale unlisted equity investments which do not have any quoted market prices and whose fair values 

cannot be measured reliably are stated at cost less any impairment losses. There is no active market for these investments 

and it is the Bank’s intention to dispose of them as opportunities arise. During the year, the Bank derecognised part of these 

equity investments with a carrying value of RMB881 million (2007: RMB1,086 million) at the time of derecognition. There was 

no gain or loss recognised for such derecognition during the year (2007: gain of RMB121 million).

(iii) As with other state-owned banks, the Bank obtained equity interests in certain enterprises in lieu of repayments of loans 

through debt for equity swap arrangements set by the Government in 1999. These equity interests are held through an asset 

management company, but the Bank in fact retains the risks and rewards of ownership and rights to dispose of these equity 

interests. By their nature, these equity interests are treated as equity investments of the Group.
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(d) Movements of allowance for impairment losses of held-to-maturity debt securities and 
available-for-sale equity investments measured at cost during the year are as follows:

Group Bank

Held-to-

maturity 

debt 

securities

Available-for-

sale equity 

investments Total

Held-to-

maturity 

debt 

securities

Available-for-

sale equity 

investments Total

At 1 January 2007 39 467 506 39 467 506

Charge for the year 110 54 164 107 37 144

Disposals — (73) (73) — (73) (73)

At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008 149 448 597 146 431 577

Charge for the year 1,616 323 1,939 1,500 316 1,816

Disposals (52) — (52) (51) — (51)

At 31 December 2008 1,713 771 2,484 1,595 747 2,342

28. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Bank

2008 2007

Unlisted investments, at cost 9,808 4,815

Shares listed in Hong Kong, at cost 10,191 7,556

19,999 12,371

Market value of the Bank’s investment in a subsidiary

 whose shares are listed in Hong Kong 6,777 15,176
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Particulars of the Bank’s principal subsidiaries as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Percentage of equity

interest directly attributable

to the Bank

Name

2008

%

2007

%

Nominal value of 

issued share/

paid-up capital

Place of incorporation/

registration and 

operations Principal activities

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

 (“ICBC (Asia)”) (i)

72.04 62.98 HK$2,571 million Hong Kong, the PRC Commercial banking

ICBC International Holdings Limited (ii) 100 100 HK$280 million Hong Kong, the PRC Investment banking

JSC Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Almaty 100 100 US$10 million Almaty, Kazakhstan Commercial banking

ICEA Finance Holdings Limited 75 75 US$20 million British Virgin Islands and

 Hong Kong

Investment banking

ICBC (London) Limited 100 100 US$200 million London, United Kingdom Commercial banking

ICBC Credit Suisse Asset Management Co., Ltd. (iii) 55 55 RMB200 million Beijing, the PRC Fund management

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Luxembourg S.A.* 100 100 US$18.50 million Luxembourg Commercial banking

PT. Bank ICBC Indonesia (iv) 97.83 90 Rupiah460,000 million Indonesia Commercial banking

ZAO Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Moscow)* 100 100 Ruble1,000 million Moscow, Russia Commercial banking

ICBC Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (v) 100 100 RMB2,000 million Tianjin, the PRC Financial leasing

Seng Heng Bank Limited (“Seng Heng Bank”) (note 41(a)) 79.93 — MOP150 million Macau, the PRC Commercial banking

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

 (Middle East) Limited (vi)

100 — US$50 million Dubai, United Arab

 Emirates

Commercial banking

  and investment 

banking

* Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member fi rms of the Ernst & Young global network.

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Bank. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion 
of management, result in particulars of excessive length.

(i) On 24 January 2008, the Bank acquired 100,913,330 ordinary shares and 11,212,592 warrants of ICBC (Asia) from Fortis 

Bank at a consideration of HK$1,924 million in aggregate. On 6 May 2008, the Bank exercised all of the warrants acquired 

and subscribed for 11,212,592 shares in ICBC (Asia) at HK$20 per share, being HK$224 million in aggregate.

During the year, the Bank was allotted 41,665,829 ordinary shares of ICBC (Asia) in lieu of cash in the amount of 

HK$812 million in aggregate, pursuant to the scrip dividend schemes of ICBC (Asia).

Subsequent to the above, the equity interests held by the Bank in ICBC (Asia) increased to 72.04%.

(ii) The company was formerly known as Industrial and Commercial International Capital Limited. On 12 September 2008, 

its name was changed to ICBC International Holdings Limited. The principal activities of the company also changed from 

commercial banking to investment banking with the approval of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority.

(iii) ICBC Credit Suisse Asset Management Co., Ltd. is registered as a sino-foreign joint venture enterprise under the PRC Law.

(iv) During the year, the Bank made a capital injection of Rupiah 360,000 million in PT. Bank ICBC Indonesia with the approval 

of the local regulatory authority. Subsequently, the equity interest held by the Bank in PT. Bank ICBC Indonesia increased to 

97.83%.

(v) ICBC Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. is registered as a limited company under the PRC law.

(vi) Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Middle East) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank, was established on 

28 April 2008 with registered capital of US$50 million.
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Included in the Bank’s balance sheet are balances with subsidiaries as follows:

2008 2007

Due from subsidiaries 12,612 16,149

Due to subsidiaries (3,284) (4,404)

Investments 8,372 7,854

The balances with subsidiaries included nostro accounts, placements with banks and other fi nancial institutions, 
investments, other assets, money market takings, deposits from banks and other fi nancial institutions and repurchase 
agreements. These transactions were conducted under similar terms with those on other customers of the Bank.

Apart from the above, the Bank has consolidated SPEs which are controlled by the Bank.

29. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Group

2008 2007

Share of net assets 13,191 144

Goodwill 15,230 28

28,421 172

Bank

2008 2007

Shares listed outside Hong Kong, at cost 33,160 —

The following table illustrates the summarised fi nancial information of the Group’s associates extracted from their 
fi nancial statements:

2008 2007

Assets 1,097,073 634

Liabilities (1,024,138) (214)

Net assets 72,935 420

Revenue 61,799 93

Profi t for the year 12,202 61
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Particulars of the Group’s associates at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Percentage of equity

interest attributable

to the Group

Name

2008

%

2007

%

Place of 

incorporation/

registration

Principal 

activities

Listed investment directly held:

 Standard Bank Group Limited

  (“Standard Bank”)* (i) 20.07 —

Republic of

 South Africa

Commercial 

 banking

Unlisted investment indirectly held:

 China Ping An Insurance (Hong Kong)

  Company Limited (ii) 18.01 15.75 Hong Kong General insurance

 IEC Investments Limited* (iii) 28.82 25.19 Hong Kong

Investment 

 company

* Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member fi rms of the Ernst & Young global network.

(i) On 3 March 2008, the Bank completed its acquisition of a 20% equity interest in Standard Bank, with a consideration 

of ZAR36,330 million (equivalent to approximately RMB33,340 million). On 22 September 2008, the Bank received a 

pre-acquisition dividend amounted to RMB180 million, as a deduction of cost of investment in Standard Bank.

(ii) The shareholding of a 25% equity interest in this associate is held through a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, ICBC (Asia). The 

percentage of ownership interest disclosed represents the effective percentage held by the Group.

(iii) The shareholding of a 40% equity interest in this associate is held through a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, ICBC (Asia). The 

percentage of ownership interest disclosed represents the effective percentage held by the Group.

2008 2007

Market value of listed investment 18,460 —
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30. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Properties 

and 

buildings

Construction 

in progress

Leasehold 

improve-

ments

Offi ce 

equipment 

and 

computers

Motor 

vehicles Total

Cost:

 1 January 2007 73,674 2,908 1,472 17,626 1,884 97,564

 Additions 1,426 2,390 547 4,314 128 8,805

 Acquisition of a subsidiary 3 — — 2 2 7

 Transfers 1,279 (1,600) — 310 21 10

 Disposals (1,737) (1,031) (225) (316) (275) (3,584)

 At 31 December 2007 and 
  1 January 2008 74,645 2,667 1,794 21,936 1,760 102,802

 Additions 2,990 5,101 1,090 5,457 227 14,865
 Acquisition of a subsidiary 
  (note 41(a)) 183 — — 34 1 218

 Transfers 1,759 (2,372) 24 603 9 23

 Disposals (510) (65) (20) (704) (377) (1,676)

 At 31 December 2008 79,067 5,331 2,888 27,326 1,620 116,232

Accumulated depreciation and 
 impairment:

 At 1 January 2007 5,404 345 606 7,717 1,089 15,161
 Depreciation charge for the year 
  (note 12) 3,341 — 273 4,320 384 8,318

 Impairment losses (note 15) 470 51 — 10 5 536

 Disposals (506) (247) (205) (290) (231) (1,479)

 At 31 December 2007 and 
  1 January 2008 8,709 149 674 11,757 1,247 22,536
 Depreciation charge for the year 
  (note 12) 3,531 — 375 4,075 209 8,190

 Impairment losses (note 15) 16 — — — — 16

 Disposals (252) (7) (13) (684) (354) (1,310)

 At 31 December 2008 12,004 142 1,036 15,148 1,102 29,432

Net carrying amount:

 At 31 December 2007 65,936 2,518 1,120 10,179 513 80,266

 At 31 December 2008 67,063 5,189 1,852 12,178 518 86,800
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Bank

Properties 

and 

buildings

Construction 

in progress

Leasehold 

improve-

ments

Offi ce 

equipment 

and 

computers

Motor 

vehicles Total

Cost:

 1 January 2007 73,515 2,908 1,286 17,274 1,867 96,850

 Additions 1,375 2,390 528 4,257 127 8,677

 Transfers 1,279 (1,600) — 310 21 10

 Disposals (1,621) (1,031) (210) (52) (268) (3,182)

 At 31 December 2007 and 
  1 January 2008 74,548 2,667 1,604 21,789 1,747 102,355

 Additions 2,946 5,101 1,034 5,387 220 14,688

 Transfers 1,759 (2,372) 24 603 9 23

 Disposals (501) (65) — (634) (371) (1,571)

 At 31 December 2008 78,752 5,331 2,662 27,145 1,605 115,495

Accumulated depreciation and 
 impairment:

 At 1 January 2007 5,352 345 509 7,444 1,077 14,727

 Depreciation charge for the year 3,313 — 271 4,295 382 8,261

 Impairment losses 470 51 — 10 5 536

 Disposals (431) (247) (205) (47) (225) (1,155)

 At 31 December 2007 and 
  1 January 2008 8,704 149 575 11,702 1,239 22,369

 Depreciation charge for the year 3,516 — 352 4,034 206 8,108

 Impairment losses 16 — — — — 16

 Disposals (245) (7) — (618) (348) (1,218)

 At 31 December 2008 11,991 142 927 15,118 1,097 29,275

Net carrying amount:

 At 31 December 2007 65,844 2,518 1,029 10,087 508 79,986

 At 31 December 2008 66,761 5,189 1,735 12,027 508 86,220
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The Group’s and the Bank’s properties and buildings were held under the following lease terms:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Long term leases (over 50 years)

 Held in the PRC (other than Hong Kong) 6,186 6,483 6,186 6,483

 Held in Hong Kong 185 292 185 216

 Held in overseas 11 44 — 44

6,382 6,819 6,371 6,743

Medium term leases (10 to 50 years)

 Held in the PRC (other than Hong Kong) 58,216 56,832 58,135 56,830

 Held in Hong Kong 97 24 46 10

 Held in overseas 85 — 41 —

58,398 56,856 58,222 56,840

Short term leases (less than 10 years)

 Held in the PRC (other than Hong Kong) 2,270 2,261 2,168 2,261

 Held in Hong Kong 13 — — —

2,283 2,261 2,168 2,261

67,063 65,936 66,761 65,844

As at 31 December 2008, the process of obtaining the titleship for the Group’s properties and buildings with an 
aggregate net carrying value of RMB5,601 million (2007: RMB4,680 million) was still in progress. Management is of 
the view that the aforesaid matter would not affect the rights of the Group to these assets nor have any signifi cant 
impact on the business operation of the Group.

31. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group

Deferred income tax assets

At 

1 January 

2008

Credited/

(charged) 

to income 

statement

Credited/

(charged) 

to equity

At 

31 December 

2008

Allowances for impairment losses 4,671 7,232 — 11,903

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale 

 investments 695 — (3,620) (2,925)

Changes in fair value of fi nancial instruments 

 at fair value through profi t or loss (3,179) 2,188 — (991)

Early retirement benefi ts 3,125 (536) — 2,589

Others 521 (351) — 170

Total 5,833 8,533 (3,620) 10,746
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At 

1 January 

2007

Credited/

(charged) 

to income 

statement

Credited/

(charged) 

to equity

At 

31 December 

2007

Allowances for impairment losses — 4,671 — 4,671

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale 

 investments — — 695 695

Changes in fair value of fi nancial instruments 

 at fair value through profi t or loss — (3,179) — (3,179)

Early retirement benefi ts — 3,125 — 3,125

Others — 521 — 521

Total — 5,138 695 5,833

Deferred income tax liabilities

At 

1 January 

2008

Charged/

(credited) 

to income 

statement

Charged/

(credited) 

to equity

At 

31 December 

2008

Allowances for impairment losses (13) 13 — —

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale 

 investments 315 — (315) —

Others 35 (19) — 16

Total 337 (6) (315) 16

At 

1 January 

2007

Charged/

(credited) 

to income 

statement

Charged/

(credited) 

to equity

At 

31 December 

2007

Allowances for impairment losses (1,481) 1,468 — (13)

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale 

 investments 942 — (627) 315

Changes in fair value of fi nancial instruments 

 at fair value through profi t or loss 1,776 (1,776) — —

Others 147 (112) — 35

Total 1,384 (420) (627) 337
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Bank

Deferred income tax assets

At 

1 January 

2008

Credited/

(charged) 

to income 

statement

Credited/

(charged) 

to equity

At 

31 December 

2008

Allowances for impairment losses 4,671 7,188 — 11,859

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale 

 investments 695 — (3,722) (3,027)

Changes in fair value of fi nancial instruments 

 at fair value through profi t or loss (3,179) 2,188 — (991)

Early retirement benefi ts 3,125 (536) — 2,589

Others 499 (322) — 177

Total 5,811 8,518 (3,722) 10,607

At 

1 January 

2007

Credited/

(charged) 

to income 

statement

Credited/

(charged) 

to equity

At 

31 December 

2007

Allowances for impairment losses 1,481 3,190 — 4,671

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale

 investments (879) — 1,574 695

Changes in fair value of fi nancial instruments

 at fair value through profi t or loss (1,776) (1,403) — (3,179)

Early retirement benefi ts — 3,125 — 3,125

Others (153) 652 — 499

Total (1,327) 5,564 1,574 5,811

32. OTHER ASSETS

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Interest receivable 52,584 43,265 51,232 42,139

Repossessed assets 2,206 3,400 2,204 3,398

Land use rights 23,037 23,318 23,037 23,318

Settlement accounts 8,202 4,598 6,201 2,169

Goodwill (i) 4,891 1,420 — —

Precious metal 2,819 1,134 2,819 1,134

Others 12,518 14,683 10,768 14,295

106,257 91,818 96,261 86,453

(i) Goodwill arising from business combinations mainly relate to the acquisition of ICBC (Asia) and Seng Heng Bank. Goodwill 

has been allocated to the Group’s CGU, which is not larger than the reportable segment of the group, for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on the discounted future cash fl ows of the CGU. The cash fl ow 

projections based on fi nancial forecasts approved by management of the subsidiaries cover a three to fi ve year period. Cash 

fl ows beyond the three to fi ve year period are extrapolated using the estimate rates which do not exceed the long-term 
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average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates. The discount rate is the pre-tax rate and refl ects the specifi c 

risk associated with the CGU.

As indicated by the impairment test, goodwill arising from business combinations are not impaired and thus, no impairment 

loss is recognised.

33. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 
LOSS

Group Bank

Notes 2008 2007 2008 2007

Structured deposits (i) 2,551 10,558 2,285 10,278

Notes payable (ii) 2,629 2,863 — —

Certifi cates of deposit (iii) 2,386 2,169 — —

7,566 15,590 2,285 10,278

Notes:

(i) The fair value of structured deposits as at 31 December 2008 was RMB6 million below the amount that the Group would be 

contractually required to pay to the holders of these structured deposits upon maturity (2007: RMB187 million below).

(ii) The notes were issued in September 2004 by ICBCA (C.I.) Limited, an indirectly-held subsidiary of the Bank, at a coupon rate 

of 4.125% per annum and maturing on 16 September 2009. The amount of fair value in excess of the amount that the Group 

would be contractually required to pay to the holders of these notes upon maturity amounted to RMB41 million as at 31 

December 2008 (2007: RMB1 million above).

(iii) The certifi cates of deposit are all issued by ICBC (Asia) to fi nancial institutions and retail customers at fi xed or fl oating rates. 

The amount of fair value in excess of the amount that the Group would be contractually required to pay to the holders 

of these certifi cates of deposit upon maturity amounted to RMB33 million as at 31 December 2008 (2007: RMB11 million 

above).

There were no signifi cant changes in the credit spread of the Bank and ICBC (Asia) and therefore the amounts 
of changes in fair value of the fi nancial liabilities that are attributable to changes in credit risk are considered not 
signifi cant during the years presented and cumulatively as at 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007.

Certain structured deposits, notes payable and certifi cates of deposit have been matched with derivatives as part of 
a documented risk management strategy to mitigate market risk, such as interest rate risk. An accounting mismatch 
would arise if these fi nancial liabilities were accounted for at amortised cost, because the related derivatives are 
measured at fair value with movements in the fair value taken through the income statement. By designating these 
fi nancial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss, the movement in their fair values will be recorded in the income 
statement.

34. DUE TO BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Money market takings 53,647 77,565 40,661 70,772

Deposits 592,607 727,609 592,099 728,241

646,254 805,174 632,760 799,013
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35. REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Analysed by counterparty:

 Banks 4,648 105,199 4,246 107,256

 Other fi nancial institutions — 88,309 — 88,309

4,648 193,508 4,246 195,565

Analysed by collateral:

 Securities 200 190,174 200 190,174

 Bills 3,841 — 3,841 —

 Loans 607 3,334 205 5,391

4,648 193,508 4,246 195,565

36. DUE TO CUSTOMERS

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Demand deposits:

 Corporate customers 2,575,763 2,378,392 2,558,776 2,364,089

 Personal customers 1,444,430 1,182,787 1,432,430 1,174,888

Time deposits:

 Corporate customers 1,482,438 1,128,417 1,390,127 1,044,464

 Personal customers 2,604,785 2,093,787 2,580,372 2,071,135

Others 116,030 115,030 116,027 115,030

8,223,446 6,898,413 8,077,732 6,769,606

37. SUBORDINATED BONDS

As approved by the PBOC and the CBRC, the Bank issued callable subordinated bonds of RMB35,000 million through 
open market bidding in 2005. The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with 
respect to the subordinated bonds during the year (2007: None). The relevant information on these subordinated 
bonds is set out below:

Name Issue date

Issue 

price

Coupon 

rate Value date Maturity date Circulation date Issue amount Notes

05 ICBC 

 01 Bond

19 August 2005 RMB100 3.11% 29 August 2005 29 August 2015 30 September 2005 RMB13,000 million (i)

05 ICBC 

 02 Bond

19 August 2005 RMB100 3.77% 6 September 2005 6 September 2020 11 October 2005 RMB13,000 million (ii)

05 ICBC 

 03 Bond

19 August 2005 RMB100 Base rate 

+1.05%

14 September 2005 14 September 2015 11 October 2005 RMB9,000 million (iii)

Notes:

(i) The Bank has the option to redeem all or part of the bonds at face value on 29 August 2010. If the Bank does not exercise 

this option, the annual coupon rate will increase by 3% thereafter.
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(ii) The Bank has the option to redeem all or part of the bonds at face value on 6 September 2015. If the Bank does not exercise 

this option, the annual coupon rate will increase by 3% thereafter.

(iii) The base rate is determined based on the weighted average of the PRC inter-bank money market 7-day repo rates in the last 

10 trading days prior to its coupon payment date. The Bank has the option to redeem all or part of the bonds at face value on 

14 September 2010. If the Bank does not exercise this option, the interest margin of the bonds will increase by 1% thereafter.

38. OTHER LIABILITIES

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Interest payable 90,252 62,744 89,606 61,917

Settlement accounts 37,295 24,618 35,476 22,277

Early retirement benefi ts 10,355 12,500 10,355 12,500

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies 

 payables 8,252 6,052 8,110 5,903

Sundry tax payables 7,117 7,199 7,093 7,178

Bank drafts 4,415 4,725 4,392 4,680

Payables for bonds purchased 1,700 12,865 1,700 12,865

Others 17,732 19,954 16,762 19,484

177,118 150,657 173,494 146,804

39. SHARE CAPITAL

2008 2007

Number 

of shares 

(millions)

Nominal value Number 

of shares 

(millions)

Nominal value

Registered, issued and fully paid:

 H shares of RMB1 each 83,057 83,057 83,057 83,057

 A shares of RMB1 each 250,962 250,962 250,962 250,962

334,019 334,019 334,019 334,019

Except for the dividends for H shares which are payable in HK$, all of the H shares and A shares rank pari passu with 
each other in respect of dividends.

Share appreciation rights plan

The Bank’s share appreciation rights plan was approved in 2006, which allows share appreciation rights to be granted 
to eligible participants including directors, supervisors, senior management and other key personnel designated by 
the board of directors. The share appreciation rights will be granted and exercised based on the price of the Bank’s 
H shares and will be valid for 10 years. As at the date of this report, no share appreciation rights have been granted.
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40. RESERVES
(a) Capital reserve

Pursuant to the restructuring in 2005, the paid-up capital, reserves and accumulated losses as determined under PRC 
GAAP, were converted into the Bank’s issued share capital upon its incorporation. In the preparation of the Group’s 
fi nancial statements, the paid-up capital and all the then existing reserves and accumulated losses as determined 
under IFRSs were accordingly eliminated, with the resulting difference dealt with in the capital reserve. Subsequently, 
the share premium of new shares issued, after deducting related share issue expenses, was also accounted for under 
the capital reserve.

(b) Surplus reserves

(i) Statutory surplus reserve

The Bank is required to appropriate 10% of its profi t for the year determined under PRC GAAP, to the statutory 
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered capital.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders, the statutory surplus reserve may be used to offset accumulated 
losses of the Bank, if any, and may also be converted into capital of the Bank, provided that the balance of the 
statutory surplus reserve after such capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital immediately before 
capitalisation.

Pursuant to the resolution of the board of directors’ meeting held on 25 March 2009, an appropriation of 10% of the 
profi t for the year determined under PRC GAAP to the statutory surplus reserve, in the amount of RMB11,052 million 
(2007: RMB8,065 million) was approved.

(ii) Discretionary surplus reserve

After making the appropriation to the statutory surplus reserve, the Bank may also appropriate its profi t for the 
year determined under PRC GAAP to the discretionary surplus reserve upon approval by the shareholders in general 
meeting. Subject to the approval by the shareholders, the discretionary surplus reserve may be used to offset 
accumulated losses of the Bank, if any, and may be converted into capital.

The Bank’s overseas entities appropriate their profi ts to the surplus reserves in accordance with the relevant 
regulations promulgated by the local regulatory bodies.

(c) General reserve

The Bank is required to maintain a general reserve within equity, through the appropriation of profi t, which should 
not be less than 1% of the year end balance of its risk assets.

The Bank’s subsidiaries appropriate their profi ts to the general reserve according to the applicable local regulations.

Pursuant to the resolution of the board of directors’ meeting held on 25 March 2009, an appropriation to the general 
reserve amounted to RMB28,374 million (2007: RMB28,082 million) was approved. The general reserve balance of 
the Bank as at 31 December 2008 amounted to RMB69,175 million, which has achieved 1% of the year end balance 
of the Bank’s risk assets.

(d) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve records the fair value changes of available-for-sale investments.



A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 8 209

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2008

(In RMB millions, unless otherwise stated)

(e) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries and branches incorporated outside Mainland China.

(f) Cash fl ow hedge reserve

The cash fl ow hedge reserve comprises the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash fl ow hedge 
that is determined to be an effective hedge.

(g) Other reserves

Other reserves represent reserves of subsidiaries and share of reserves of associates other than the items listed above.

(h) Distributable profi ts

The Bank’s distributable profi t is based on the retained profi ts of the Bank as determined under PRC GAAP and IFRSs, 
whichever is lower. The amount that the Bank’s subsidiaries can legally distribute is determined by reference to their 
profi ts as refl ected in their fi nancial statements prepared in accordance with the accounting regulations and principles 
promulgated by the local regulatory bodies of the respective countries/regions. These profi ts may differ from those 
dealt with in these fi nancial statements, which are prepared in accordance with IFRSs.
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The movements in reserves and retained profi ts of the Bank during the year are set out below:

Reserves

Capital 
reserve

Surplus 
reserves

General 
reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Cash fl ow 
hedge 

reserve Total
Retained 

profi ts

Balance as at 1 January 2007 105,019 5,461 12,719 1,784 (111) — 124,872 5,699

Profi t for the year — — — — — — — 80,933

Net change in the fair value of 

 available-for-sale investments — — — (6,320) — — (6,320) —

Reserve realised on disposal/

 impairment of available-for-sale 

 investments — — — 2,130 — — 2,130 —

Foreign currency translation — — — — 30 — 30 —

Dividend — 2006 fi nal (note 18) — — — — — — — (5,344)

Appropriation to surplus reserves 

 (note) — 8,072 — — — — 8,072 (8,072)

Appropriation to general reserve — — 28,082 — — — 28,082 (28,082)

Balance as at 31 December 2007 
 and 1 January 2008 105,019 13,533 40,801 (2,406) (81) — 156,866 45,134
Profi t for the year — — — — — — — 108,959

Net change in the fair value of 

 available-for-sale investments — — — 8,644 — — 8,644 —

Reserve realised on disposal/

 impairment of available-for-sale 

 investments — — — 2,612 — — 2,612 —

Net loss on cash fl ow hedges — — — — — (4,080) (4,080) —

Foreign currency translation — — — — (246) — (246) —

Dividend — 2007 fi nal (note 18) — — — — — — — (44,425)

Appropriation to surplus reserves 

 (note) — 11,061 — — — — 11,061 (11,061)

Appropriation to general reserve — — 28,374 — — — 28,374 (28,374)

Balance as at 31 December 2008 105,019 24,594 69,175 8,850 (327) (4,080) 203,231 70,233

Note: Includes the appropriation made by overseas branches in the amount of RMB9 million (2007: RMB7 million).

41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary

The Bank acquired a 79.93% equity interest in Seng Heng Bank during the year. Seng Heng Bank is a commercial 
bank domiciled in Macau. The acquisition was completed on 28 January 2008 at a consideration of MOP4,874 million 
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,352 million) in aggregate.

Had the acquisition taken place at the beginning of the year, total operating income of the Group would have been 
RMB310,242 million, and the profi t for the year of the Group would have been RMB111,251 million.
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There is no material difference between the carrying amount of Seng Heng Bank’s net assets and the fair value 
of identifi able assets and liabilities as at the acquisition date. The details of the assets and liabilities acquired and 
goodwill arising on acquisition are as follows:

Note

At 

acquisition 

date

Cash and balances with central banks 683

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions 6,315

Financial assets held for trading 7,213

Loans and advances to customers 8,516

Financial investments 4,352

Property and equipment 30 218

Other assets 265

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (72)

Due to customers (24,778)

Income tax payable (50)

Deferred income tax liabilities (17)

Other liabilities (811)

Minority interests (368)

Net assets acquired 1,466

Goodwill arising on acquisition 2,886

Total cash consideration 4,352

An analysis of the net infl ow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows:

Cash fl ow on acquisition of a subsidiary:

 Cash and cash equivalents acquired 6,613

 Cash consideration (4,352)

Net cash infl ow 2,261

The goodwill is attributable to the expected synergies arising from the acquisition. From the date of acquisition, Seng 
Heng Bank has contributed RMB158 million to the net profi t of the Group for the year.

(b) Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents

Notes 2008 2007

Cash on hand 20 40,025 39,123

Balances with central banks other than restricted deposits 20 373,807 83,328

Nostro accounts with banks and other fi nancial institutions with 

 original maturity of three months or less 21 36,906 25,526

Placements with banks and other fi nancial institutions with 

 original maturity of three months or less 21 115,584 144,257

Reverse repurchase agreements with original maturity of 

 three months or less 25 40,969 9,453

607,291 301,687
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42. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(a) Capital commitments

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Bank had capital commitments as follows:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Authorised, but not contracted for 1,687 2,212 1,687 2,209

Contracted, but not provided for 1,658 45,943 1,644 45,943

3,345 48,155 3,331 48,152

As at 31 December 2007, the Group entered into agreements in relation to the acquisition of equity interests 
in subsidiaries and an associate at a total consideration of approximately RMB45,035 million, which have been 
completed during the year. Such commitments were included in the line of contracted, but not provided for as shown 
above.

(b) Operating lease commitments

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Bank leased certain of its premises under operating lease arrangements. 
The total future minimum lease payments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Within one year 2,146 1,635 1,858 1,454

After one year but not more than fi ve years 5,178 3,741 4,415 3,184

After fi ve years 1,658 1,503 1,599 1,316

8,982 6,879 7,872 5,954

(c) Credit commitments

At any given time, the Group has outstanding commitments to extend credit. These commitments are in the form of 
approved loans and credit card limits.

The Group provides letters of credit and fi nancial guarantees to guarantee the performance of customers to third 
parties.

Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Group to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers. The Group expects 
most acceptances to be settled simultaneously with the reimbursement from the customers.



A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 8 213

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2008

(In RMB millions, unless otherwise stated)

The contractual amounts of credit commitments by category are set out below. The amounts disclosed in respect of 
loan commitments and undrawn credit card limit are under the assumption that the amounts will be fully advanced. 
The amounts for acceptances, letters of credit and guarantees represent the maximum potential losses that would be 
recognised at the balance sheet date had the counterparties failed to perform as contracted.

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Letters of credit issued 113,253 111,254 110,242 107,287

Guarantees issued 217,071 191,748 210,408 189,445

Acceptances 206,632 155,073 206,236 155,073

Loan commitments with original maturity of:

 Not more than one year 144,585 99,848 109,512 64,126

 More than one year 94,102 125,628 54,198 76,022

Undrawn credit card limit 160,830 106,136 160,500 103,670

936,473 789,687 851,096 695,623

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Credit risk weighted amounts of 

 credit commitments 385,049 384,545 373,720 373,275

The credit risk weighted amounts refer to the amounts computed in accordance with the rules promulgated by the 
CBRC and depend on the status of the counterparties and the maturity profi le. The risk weights ranged from 0% to 
100% for credit commitments.

(d) Legal proceedings

There were a number of legal proceedings outstanding against the Bank and/or its subsidiaries as at the balance sheet 
date.

Group and Bank

2008 2007

Claimed amounts 3,292 2,999

In the opinion of management, the Group and the Bank have made adequate allowance for any probable losses 
based on the current facts and circumstances.

(e) Redemption commitments of government bonds

As an underwriting agent of the Government, the Bank underwrites certain PRC government bonds and sells the 
bonds to the general public, in which the Bank is obliged to redeem these bonds at the discretion of the holders at 
any time prior to maturity. The redemption price for the bonds is based on the nominal value of the bonds plus any 
interest accrued up to the redemption date. As at 31 December 2008, the Bank had underwritten and sold bonds 
with an accumulated amount of RMB151,345 million (2007: RMB156,718 million) to the general public, and these 
government bonds have not yet matured nor been redeemed. The directors expect that the amount of redemption of 
these government bonds through the Bank prior to maturity will not be material.

The MOF will not provide funding for the early redemption of these government bonds on a back-to-back basis but is 
obliged to repay the principal and the respective interest upon maturity.
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(f) Underwriting obligations

At the balance sheet date, the unexpired underwriting obligations are as follows:

Group and Bank

2008 2007

Underwriting obligations 1,000 7,500

43. DESIGNATED DEPOSITS AND LOANS

Group and Bank

2008 2007

Designated deposits 237,432 153,745

Designated loans 236,755 153,422

The designated deposits represent funds that depositors have instructed the Group to use to make loans to third 
parties as designated by them. The credit risk remains with the depositors.

The difference between designated deposits and designated loans represents the undesignated amount of deposits, 
which is included in amounts due to customers.

44. ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

Financial assets of the Group and of the Bank including securities, bills and loans have been pledged as security for 
the repurchase agreements. As at 31 December 2008, the carrying value of the fi nancial assets of the Group and 
of the Bank pledged as security amounted to approximately RMB4,648 million (2007: RMB193,508 million) and 
RMB4,246 million (2007: RMB195,565 million), respectively.

45. FIDUCIARY ACTIVITIES

The Group provides custody and asset management services to third parties. Revenue from such activities is included 
in “Fee and commission income” set out in note 7 above. Those assets held in a fi duciary capacity are not included in 
the Group’s consolidated balance sheet.

46. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these fi nancial statements, the Group had the following 
transactions with related parties during the year:

(a) The MOF

As at 31 December 2008, the MOF directly owned approximately 35.33% (2007: 35.33%) of the issued share capital 
of the Bank. The Group enters into banking transactions with the MOF in its normal course of business, including the 
subscription and redemption of government bonds. Details of the material transactions are as follows:

2008 2007

Balances at end of the year:

 The PRC government bonds and the special government bond 482,614 510,088

 MOF receivable (note 27(a)(iii)) 142,773 193,981
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2008 2007

Transactions during the year:

 Subscription of PRC government bonds 67,603 101,275

 Redemption of PRC government bonds 83,863 61,133

 Interest income on PRC government bonds 17,233 15,544

 Repayment of MOF receivable (note 27(a)(iii)) 51,208 32,397

 Interest income on MOF receivable 5,294 6,377

2008

%

2007

%

Interest rate range during the year is as follows:

 MOF receivable 3 3

 Bond investments 1.3 to 7.3 1.6 to 10.2

The MOF is a ministry under the State Council, primarily responsible for, among others, state fi scal revenues and 
expenditures, and taxation policies. Enterprises or legal entities under the control or supervision of the MOF are 
mainly fi nancial institutions, government departments or agencies. Enterprises under the control, joint control or 
signifi cant infl uence of the MOF are considered not as related parties of the Group.

(b) Huijin

As at 31 December 2008, Central SAFE Investments Limited (“Huijin“) directly owned approximately 35.41% (2007: 
35.33%) of the issued share capital of the Bank. Huijin was incorporated as a wholly-state-owned investment 
company with the approval of the State Council. It was established to hold certain equity investments on behalf of 
the State Council, and to represent the Government in exercising its investor’s rights and obligations in certain banks 
and fi nancial institutions.

In 2005, the Bank entered into an agreement with Huijin, pursuant to which the Bank purchased from Huijin an 
option to sell to Huijin a maximum of US$12,000 million in exchange for RMB at a pre-determined exchange rate of 
US$1 to RMB8.2765. The purpose of the option is to economically hedge against the Bank’s currency risk arising from 
part of the US$15,000 million capital injection made by Huijin in 2005. In 2008, the option was exercised in 12 equal 
monthly instalments and total option premium of RMB2,979 million was paid to Huijin.

In addition to the above, the Group also entered into banking transactions with Huijin in the ordinary course of 
business under normal commercial terms and at market rates. Details of the material transactions are as follows:

2008 2007

Balances at end of the year:

 Deposits 35,089 20,776

 Interest payable 103 —

2008 2007

Transactions during the year:

 Interest expense on deposits 1,634 737
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2008

%

2007

%

Interest rate range during the year is as follows:

 Deposits 0.3 to 4.3 0.7 to 6.1

Huijin has equity interests in certain other banks and fi nancial institutions under the direction of the Government. 
The Group enters into transactions with these banks and fi nancial institutions in the ordinary course of business 
under normal commercial terms. Management considers that these banks and fi nancial institutions are competitors 
of the Group. Signifi cant transactions during the year conducted with these banks and fi nancial institutions, and the 
corresponding balances as at 31 December 2008 are as follows:

2008 2007

Balances at end of the year:

 Debt securities purchased 441,321 13,643

 Due from these banks and fi nancial institutions 38,894 12,093

 Derivative fi nancial assets 564 49

 Due to these banks and fi nancial institutions 41,508 46,786

 Derivative fi nancial liabilities 400 34

2008 2007

Transactions during the year:

 Interest income from debt securities purchased 1,146 527

 Interest income from amounts due from these banks and fi nancial institutions 371 633

 Interest expense on amounts due to these banks and fi nancial institutions 785 766

2008

%

2007

%

Interest rate ranges during the year are as follows:

 Debt securities purchased 2.0 to 8.3 1.3 to 8.3

 Due from these banks and fi nancial institutions 0 to 7.3 0 to 13.0

 Due to these banks and fi nancial institutions 0 to 6.5 0 to 7.3

The interest rates disclosed above vary across product groups and transactions depending on the maturity date, credit 
risk of counterparty and currency. In particular, given local market conditions, the spread of certain signifi cant or long 
dated transactions can vary across the market.

(c) Shareholders with signifi cant infl uence

(i) Goldman Sachs Group Inc.

Goldman Sachs Group Inc. (“Goldman Sachs”) is considered to have signifi cant infl uence on the Bank through its 
nominated representative serving on the Bank’s board of directors. Signifi cant transactions during the year conducted 
with Goldman Sachs, and the corresponding balances as at 31 December 2008 are as follows:

2008 2007

Balance at end of the year:

 Debt securities purchased 2,035 2,276
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2008 2007

Transactions during the year:

 Interest income from debt securities purchased 118 271

 Interest expense on deposits 11 41

2008

%

2007

%

Interest rate ranges during the year are as follows:

 Debt securities purchased 1.9 to 7.6 3.4 to 6.0

 Deposits 2.1 to 4.4 5.1 to 5.3

The major transactions between the Group and Goldman Sachs comprised debt securities purchased and deposits, 
as well as the interest income and expense arising from those transactions. In the opinion of management, the 
transactions between the Group and Goldman Sachs were conducted under normal commercial terms and conditions.

(ii) National Council for Social Security Fund

The National Council for Social Security Fund (the “SSF”) had a substantial equity interest in the Bank during the year. 
Signifi cant transactions during the year conducted with the SSF are as follows:

2008 2007

Balance at end of the year:

 Deposits 3,300 9,500

2008 2007

Transactions during the year:

 Interest expense on deposits 60 581

2008

%

2007

%

Interest rate range during the year is as follows:

 Deposits 0.4 to 5.5 0.7 to 5.5

The major transactions between the Group and the SSF comprised deposits and the corresponding interest expense. 
In the opinion of management, the transactions between the Group and the SSF were conducted under normal 
commercial terms and conditions.

(d) Associates

Balance with associates of the Group are set out as follow:

2008 2007

Balances at end of the year:

 Due from an associate 453 —

 Loan to an associate — 157

 Due to associates 24 47
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The major transactions between the Group and its associates mainly comprised deposits and placements with 
and from banks and other fi nancial institutions and the corresponding income and expenses. In the opinion of 
management, the transactions between the Group and its associates were conducted under normal commercial terms 
and conditions. As the amounts of income and expenses are not material, they have not been separately disclosed.

(e) Key management personnel

The key management personnel are those persons who have the authority and responsibility to plan, direct and 
control the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including members of the board of directors, the supervisory 
board and executive offi cers.

The aggregate compensation for the year, other than those disclosed in note 13 above, is as follows:

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term employment benefi ts 8,926 9,869

Post-employment benefi ts 638 616

9,564 10,485

Companies or corporations in which the key management of the Group, or their close relatives, are shareholders or 
key management personnel who are able to exercise control or signifi cant infl uence, are also considered as related 
parties of the Group.

In the opinion of management, the transactions between the Group and the aforementioned parties were conducted 
on terms and conditions similar to those offered to other unrelated customers, and these transactions and related 
balances are not signifi cant to the Group.

(f) Annuity Plan

Apart from the obligations for defi ned contributions to the Annuity Plan, no transactions were conducted between 
the Group and the Annuity Plan (2007: Nil).

(g) Transactions with other state-owned entities in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly owned and/
or controlled by the Government through its numerous authorities, affi liates or other organisations (collectively the 
“state-owned entities”). During the year, the Group had transactions with the state-owned entities including, but not 
limited to, lending and deposit taking, taking and placing of inter-bank balances, entrusted lending, the provision of 
intermediary services, the sale, purchase, underwriting and redemption of bonds issued by other state-owned entities, 
and the sale, purchase, and leasing of property and other assets.

Management considers that transactions with other state-owned entities are activities conducted in the ordinary 
course of business, and that the dealings of the Group have not been signifi cantly or unduly affected by the fact that 
the Group and those state-owned entities are ultimately controlled or owned by the Government. The Group has also 
established pricing policies for products and services and such pricing policies do not depend on whether or not the 
customers are state-owned entities. Having due regard to the substance of the relationship, management is of the 
opinion that none of these transactions are considered related party transactions that require disclosure.
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47. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. The Group manages 
its business both by business segment, which mainly includes corporate banking, personal banking and treasury 
operations, and geographical segment. Accordingly, both business segment information and geographical segment 
information are presented as the Group’s primary segment reporting formats.

Transactions between segments mainly represent the provision of funding to and from individual segments. These 
transactions are conducted on terms determined with reference to the average cost of funding and have been 
refl ected in the performance of each segment. Net interest income and expense arising on internal charges are 
referred to as “internal net interest income/expense”. Interest income and expense relating to third parties are 
referred to as “external net interest income/expense”.

Segment revenues, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 
can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

(a) Business segments

The Group comprises the following main business segments:

Corporate banking

The corporate banking segment covers the provision of fi nancial products and services to corporations, government 
agencies and fi nancial institutions. The products and services include corporate loans, trade fi nancing, deposit-taking 
activities, corporate wealth management services and various types of corporate intermediary services.

Personal banking

The personal banking segment covers the provision of fi nancial products and services to individual customers. The 
products and services include personal loans, deposit-taking activities, card business, personal wealth management 
services and various types of personal intermediary services.

Treasury operations

The treasury operations segment covers the Group’s treasury operations. The treasury conducts money market or 
repurchase transactions, debt instruments investments, and the holding of derivative positions, for its own accounts 
or on behalf of customers.

Others

This segment represents equity investments and head offi ce (“HO”) assets, liabilities, income and expenses that are 
not directly attributable to a segment or cannot be allocated on a reasonable basis.
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Corporate 

banking

Personal 

banking

Treasury

operations Others Total

Year ended 31 December 2008

External net interest income/(expense) 181,782 (36,122) 117,377 — 263,037

Internal net interest income/(expense) (56,035) 123,456 (67,421) — —

Net fee and commission income 24,907 18,953 142 — 44,002

Other operating income/(expense), net 2,414 14 (171) 899 3,156

Operating income 153,068 106,301 49,927 899 310,195

Operating expenses (54,683) (36,716) (13,452) (6,484) (111,335)

Impairment losses on:

 Loans and advances to customers (30,639) (5,873) — — (36,512)

 Others (554) (6) (17,590) (800) (18,950)

Operating profi t/(loss) 67,192 63,706 18,885 (6,385) 143,398

Share of profi ts and losses of associates — — — 1,978 1,978

Profi t/(loss) before tax 67,192 63,706 18,885 (4,407) 145,376

Income tax expense (34,150)

Profi t for the year 111,226

Other segment information:

 Depreciation 3,663 2,470 1,579 478 8,190

 Amortisation 640 360 269 31 1,300

 Capital expenditure 7,334 4,883 3,147 900 16,264

As at 31 December 2008

Segment assets 3,706,953 878,988 5,105,568 37,216 9,728,725

Investments in associates 28,421

Total assets 9,757,146

Segment liabilities 4,280,441 4,147,162 715,448 7,465 9,150,516

Other segment information:

 Credit commitments 775,643 160,830 — — 936,473
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Corporate 

banking

Personal 

banking

Treasury 

operations Others Total

Year ended 31 December 2007

External net interest income/(expense) 143,512 (21,968) 102,921 — 224,465

Internal net interest income/(expense) (28,160) 84,742 (56,582) — —

Net fee and commission income 14,753 23,400 206 — 38,359

Other operating income/(expense), net (2,469) — (5,113) 2,186 (5,396)

Operating income 127,636 86,174 41,432 2,186 257,428

Operating expenses (49,405) (38,603) (12,467) (4,185) (104,660)

Impairment losses on:

 Loans and advances to customers (30,336) (2,725) — — (33,061)

 Others (277) (217) (3,329) (522) (4,345)

Operating profi t/(loss) 47,618 44,629 25,636 (2,521) 115,362

Share of profi ts and losses of associates — — — 16 16

Profi t/(loss) before tax 47,618 44,629 25,636 (2,505) 115,378

Income tax expense (33,124)

Profi t for the year 82,254

Other segment information:

 Depreciation 3,674 2,914 1,512 218 8,318

 Amortisation 528 402 222 22 1,174

 Capital expenditure 4,158 3,299 1,712 247 9,416

As at 31 December 2007

Segment assets 3,304,163 800,948 4,555,289 23,140 8,683,540

Investments in associates 172

Total assets 8,683,712

Segment liabilities 3,718,053 3,346,591 1,063,941 11,451 8,140,036

Other segment information:

 Credit commitments 683,551 106,136 — — 789,687

(b) Geographical segments

The Group operates principally in Mainland China with branches located in different provinces, autonomous regions 
and municipalities directly under the Government. The Group also has branches and subsidiaries operating outside 
Mainland China in Hong Kong, Macau, Singapore, Frankfurt, Luxembourg, Seoul, Busan, Tokyo, London, Almaty, 
Indonesia, Moscow, Doha, Dubai, Sydney and New York.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segment, operating income and expense are based on the 
location of the branches that generate the revenue and incur the expense. Segment assets, liabilities and capital 
expenditure are allocated based on the geographical locations of the underlying assets and liabilities.

The details of the geographical segments are as follows:

(i) Head Offi ce: the HO business division (including institutions directly controlled by the HO and their offi ces);

(ii) Yangtze River Delta: including Shanghai, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Ningbo and Suzhou;

(iii) Pearl River Delta: including Guangdong, Shenzhen, Fujian and Xiamen;

(iv) Bohai Rim: including Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei, Shandong and Qingdao;

(v) Central China: including Shanxi, Henan, Hubei, Hunan, Anhui, Jiangxi and Hainan;
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(vi) Western China: including Chongqing, Sichuan, Guizhou, Yunnan, Guangxi, Shaanxi, Gansu, Qinghai, Ningxia, 
Xinjiang, Inner Mongolia and Tibet;

(vii) Northeastern China: including Liaoning, Heilongjiang, Jilin and Dalian; and

(viii) Overseas and others: branches located outside Mainland China, and domestic and overseas subsidiaries.

Head

Offi ce

Yangtze 

River 

Delta

Pearl 

River 

Delta

Bohai 

Rim

Central 

China

Western 

China

North-

eastern 

China

Overseas 

and 

others Eliminations Total

Year ended 

 31 December 2008

External net interest 

 income 118,029 47,738 26,021 14,805 19,704 26,457 4,533 5,750 — 263,037

Internal net interest 

 income/(expense) (84,690) 13,690 10,497 32,580 11,618 10,461 6,561 (717) — —

Net fee and 

 commission income 2,245 10,687 7,217 8,437 5,522 5,723 2,282 1,889 — 44,002

Other operating 

 income/(expense),

 net (6,842) 2,279 2,344 1,736 1,027 1,719 1,102 (209) — 3,156

Operating income 28,742 74,394 46,079 57,558 37,871 44,360 14,478 6,713 — 310,195

Operating expenses (6,743) (21,081) (14,496) (19,298) (17,829) (20,249) (9,213) (2,426) — (111,335)

Impairment losses on:

 Loans and advances 

  to customers (409) (10,102) (5,632) (7,861) (5,012) (5,442) (1,375) (679) — (36,512)

 Others (16,768) (225) 92 (136) (329) (123) (439) (1,022) — (18,950)

Operating profi t 4,822 42,986 26,043 30,263 14,701 18,546 3,451 2,586 — 143,398

Share of profi ts and 

 losses of associates — — — — — — — 1,978 — 1,978

Profi t before tax 4,822 42,986 26,043 30,263 14,701 18,546 3,451 4,564 — 145,376

Income tax expense (34,150)

Profi t for the year 111,226

Other segment 

 information:

 Depreciation 872 1,356 1,004 1,361 1,341 1,405 760 91 — 8,190

 Amortisation 446 193 79 117 185 176 58 46 — 1,300

 Capital expenditure 2,541 2,863 1,785 2,334 2,480 3,148 892 221 — 16,264

As at 

 31 December 2008

Segment assets 5,229,411 2,003,485 1,174,627 2,402,081 1,245,770 1,342,482 609,063 273,717 (4,562,657) 9,717,979

Investments in 

 associates — — — — — — — 28,421 — 28,421

Unallocated assets 10,746

Total assets 9,757,146

Segment liabilities 4,825,553 1,952,978 1,145,838 2,365,629 1,226,264 1,318,006 604,331 236,696 (4,562,657) 9,112,638

Unallocated liabilities 37,878

Total liabilities 9,150,516

Other segment

 information:

 Credit commitments 185,105 215,313 93,180 199,581 54,933 47,067 18,232 123,062 — 936,473
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Head 

Offi ce

Yangtze 

River 

Delta

Pearl 

River 

Delta

Bohai 

Rim

Central 

China

Western 

China

North-

eastern 

China

Overseas 

and 

others Eliminations Total

Year ended

 31 December 2007

External net interest 

 income 105,793 40,044 20,628 11,521 15,892 20,918 4,407 5,262 — 224,465

Internal net interest 

 income/(expense) (72,274) 11,343 9,256 28,335 9,574 8,961 6,090 (1,285) — —

Net fee and 

 commission income 2,390 7,633 6,838 6,841 4,637 5,713 2,571 1,736 — 38,359

Other operating 

 income/(expense), 

 net (6,624) 161 (337) (409) 432 1,198 (144) 327 — (5,396)

Operating income 29,285 59,181 36,385 46,288 30,535 36,790 12,924 6,040 — 257,428

Operating expenses (5,664) (18,093) (12,888) (18,374) (18,416) (19,574) (9,647) (2,004) — (104,660)

Impairment losses on:

  Loans and advances 

 to customers 209 (6,050) (5,349) (8,241) (5,013) (5,147) (2,711) (759) — (33,061)

 Others (3,142) (130) (128) 448 (209) (456) (481) (247) — (4,345)

Operating profi t 20,688 34,908 18,020 20,121 6,897 11,613 85 3,030 — 115,362

Share of profi ts 

  and losses 

of associates 6 — — — — — — 10 — 16

Profi t before tax 20,694 34,908 18,020 20,121 6,897 11,613 85 3,040 — 115,378

Income tax expense (33,124)

Profi t for the year 82,254

Other segment

 information:

 Depreciation 892 1,346 1,032 1,420 1,335 1,417 814 62 — 8,318

 Amortisation 347 192 74 124 211 164 56 6 — 1,174

 Capital expenditure 1,453 1,949 1,074 1,650 1,308 1,416 431 135 — 9,416

As at 

 31 December 2007

Segment assets 4,575,914 1,754,819 1,115,718 2,083,118 1,022,925 1,089,117 539,545 251,786 (3,755,235) 8,677,707

Investments 

 in associates — — — — — — — 172 — 172

Unallocated assets 5,833

Total assets 8,683,712

Segment liabilities 4,296,692 1,687,573 1,081,279 2,034,682 987,909 1,049,693 522,089 201,349 (3,755,235) 8,106,031

Unallocated liabilities 34,005

Total liabilities 8,140,036

Other segment 

 information:

 Credit commitments 132,988 188,336 69,492 161,591 49,155 56,028 13,029 119,068 — 789,687
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT

A description and an analysis of the major risks faced by the Group are as follows:

The board of directors has the ultimate responsibility for the Bank’s risk management and oversees the risk 
management functions through the Risk Management Committee and the Audit Committee of the Board.

The President of the Bank supervises the risk management strategies and reports directly to the Board. He chairs 
two management committees including the Risk Management Committee and the Asset and Liability Management 
Committee at the HO level. These two committees formulate and make recommendations in respect of risk 
management strategies and policies through the President to the Risk Management Committee of the Board. The 
Bank’s Chief Risk Offi cer assists the President to supervise and manage various risks of the Bank.

The Bank has also assigned departments monitoring fi nancial risks within the Bank, including the Credit Management 
Department, the Credit Review Department and the Credit Rating and Facility Department monitoring credit risk; the 
Risk Management Department together with the Asset and Liability Management Department monitoring market 
and liquidity risks; and the Internal Control and Compliance Department monitoring operational risk. The Risk 
Management Department at the HO is primarily responsible for coordinating and establishing a comprehensive risk 
management framework, preparing consolidated reports on the Bank’s credit risk, market risk and operational risk 
and reporting directly to the Chief Risk Offi cer.

The Bank maintains a dual-reporting line structure at the branch level for risk management purposes. Under this 
structure, the risk management departments of the branches report to both the corresponding risk management 
departments at the head offi ce and management of the relevant branches.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a borrower’s or counterparty’s inability to meet its obligations. Credit risk 
can also arise from operational failures that result in an unauthorised or inappropriate guarantee, commitment or 
investment of funds. The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily due to loans, guarantees and other credit related 
commitments.

The principal features of the Group’s credit risk management function include:

• Centralised credit management procedures;

• Risk management rules and procedures that focus on risk control throughout the entire credit business process, 
including customer investigation and credit rating, granting of credit limits, loan evaluation, loan review and 
approval and post-disbursement loan monitoring;

• Stringent qualifi cation system for the loan approval offi cers; and

• Information management systems designed to enable a real time risk monitoring.

To enhance the credit risk management practices, the Group also launches training programs periodically for credit 
offi cers at different levels.

In addition to the credit risk exposures on credit-related assets and due from banks and other fi nancial institutions, 
credit risk also arises in other areas. For instance, credit risk exposure also arises from derivative fi nancial instruments 
which is, however, limited to those with positive fair values, as recorded in the balance sheet. In addition, the Group 
also makes available to its customers guarantees which may require the Group to make payments on their behalf. 
Such payments are collected from customers based on the terms of the agreements signed. They expose the Group to 
similar risks as loans and these are mitigated by the same control processes and policies.
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The Group will normally sign an ISDA Master Agreement, a China Inter-bank Market Financial Derivatives Master 
Agreement (“NAFMII master agreement”) or a China Inter-bank RMB-FX Derivatives Master Agreement (“CFETS 
master agreement”) with its counterparties for documenting over-the-counter derivatives activities. Each of these 
master agreements provides the contractual framework within which derivatives dealing activities are conducted. 
Under each of these master agreements, close-out netting shall be applied across all outstanding transactions covered 
by the agreement if either party defaults.

Risk concentration

Credit risk is often greater when counterparties are concentrated in one single industry or geographical location or 
have comparable economic characteristics.

Impairment assessment

The main considerations for the loan impairment assessment include whether any payments of principal or interest 
are overdue or whether there are any liquidity problems of counterparties, credit rating downgrades, or infringement 
of the original terms of the contract. The Group addresses impairment assessment in two areas: individually assessed 
impairment and collectively assessed impairment.

Individually assessed loans

All corporate loans and discounted bills are individually reviewed for objective evidence of impairment and classifi ed 
based on a fi ve-tier classifi cation system. Corporate loans and discounted bills that are classifi ed as substandard, 
doubtful or loss are assessed individually for impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a loan or advance has been incurred on an individual basis, 
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash fl ows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised 
in the income statement. In determining allowances on an individual basis, the following factors are considered:

• The sustainability of the counterparty’s business plan;

• The borrower’s ability to improve performance once a fi nancial diffi culty has arisen;

• Projected receipts and the expected payout should bankruptcy ensue;

• The availability of other fi nancial support and the realisable value of collateral; and

• The timing of the expected cash fl ows.

It may not be possible to identify a single, discrete event that caused the impairment, but it may be possible to 
identify impairment through the combined effect of several events. The impairment losses are evaluated at each 
reporting date, unless unforeseen circumstances require more careful attention.

Collectively assessed loans

Loans that are assessed for impairment losses on a collective basis include the following:

• Homogeneous groups of loans, including all personal loans; and

• All loans for which no impairment can be identifi ed individually, either due to the absence of any loss events or 
due to an inability to measure reliably the impact of potential loss events on future cash fl ows.

For the purpose of collective assessment, assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics that are 
indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms.
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Objective evidence of impairment losses on a collective basis consists of observable data indicating a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash fl ows from a portfolio of loans since the initial recognition of those loans, 
including:

• Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group of loans; and

• National or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the portfolio of loans.

Homogenous Groups of Loans Not Considered Individually Signifi cant

For homogeneous groups of loans, the Group uses an analysis of historical trends of probability of default and 
the amount of the consequential loss, as well as an evaluation of current economic conditions that may have a 
consequential impact on inherent losses in the portfolio.

Individually Assessed Loans with No Objective Evidence of Impairment

When no impairment can be identifi ed for individual loans, either due to the absence of any loss events or due to an 
inability to measure reliably the impact of potential loss events on future cash fl ows, these loans are grouped together 
in portfolios of similar credit risk characteristics for the purpose of assessing a collective impairment loss. This loss 
covers those loans that were impaired at the balance sheet date but which would not be individually identifi ed as 
impaired until some time in the future. The collective impairment loss is assessed after taking into account:

• Historical loss experience in portfolios of similar risk characteristics; and

• The current economic and credit environment and, whether in management’s experience, these indicate that 
the actual level of incurred but not yet identifi ed losses is likely to be greater or less than that suggested by 
historical experience.

As soon as information that specifi cally identifi es objective evidence of impairment on individual assets in a pool is 
available, those assets are excluded and individually assessed. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment for 
impairment.

Collateral

The amount and type of collateral required depend on the assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. 
Guidelines are in place specifying the types of collateral and valuation parameters which can be accepted.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:

• For reverse repurchase transactions, mainly collateralised by bills, loans or investment securities;

• For commercial lending, mainly collateralised by charges over land and properties and other assets of the 
borrowers; and

• For retail lending, mainly collateralised by mortgages over residential properties.

Management monitors the market value of collateral periodically and requests additional collateral in accordance with 
the underlying agreement when it is considered necessary.

It is the Group’s policy to dispose of repossessed assets in an orderly manner. In general, the Group does not occupy 
repossessed assets for business use.
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(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit 
enhancements

As at the balance sheet date, the maximum credit risk exposure of the Group and of the Bank without taking account 
of any collateral and other credit enhancements is set out below:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Balances with central banks 1,652,999 1,103,223 1,652,027 1,102,562

Due from banks and other 

 fi nancial institutions 168,363 199,758 154,357 174,997

Financial assets held for trading 32,163 31,501 25,362 31,485

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss 1,459 2,785 144 1,142

Derivative fi nancial assets 15,721 22,769 13,991 22,358

Reverse repurchase agreements 163,493 75,880 162,192 75,880

Loans and advances to customers 4,436,011 3,957,542 4,289,955 3,838,922

Financial investments

 — Receivables 1,162,769 1,211,767 1,162,769 1,211,767

 — Held-to-maturity debt securities 1,314,320 1,330,085 1,319,106 1,334,508

 — Available-for-sale debt securities 528,829 524,723 513,238 511,113

Others 70,780 59,136 65,813 55,420

9,546,907 8,519,169 9,358,954 8,360,154

Credit commitments 936,473 789,687 851,096 695,623

Total credit risk exposure 10,483,380 9,308,856 10,210,050 9,055,777

(ii) Risk concentrations

Credit risk is often greater when counterparties are concentrated in one single industry or geographic location or 
have comparable economic features. Besides, different geographic areas and industrial sectors have their unique 
characteristics in terms of economic development, and could present a different credit risk.
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By geographical segment

The following tables break down the Group’s and the Bank’s maximum credit risk exposure without taking account of 
any collateral and other credit enhancements, as categorised by geographical segment.

Group

31 December 2008

Head 

Offi ce

Yangtze 

River 

Delta

Pearl 

River 

Delta

Bohai 

Rim

Central 

China

Western 

China

North-

eastern 

China

Overseas 

and others Total

Balances with central banks 1,517,097 32,926 20,262 43,874 10,957 19,250 6,339 2,294 1,652,999

Due from banks and other 

 fi nancial institutions 112,429 13,411 1,855 6,078 2,658 469 130 31,333 168,363

Financial assets held for trading 23,358 — — 2,004 — — — 6,801 32,163

Financial assets designated at 

 fair value through profi t or loss — — — — — — — 1,459 1,459

Derivative fi nancial assets 6,640 2,078 1,296 1,529 974 875 460 1,869 15,721

Reverse repurchase agreements 136,157 8,599 5,910 10,200 1,326 — — 1,301 163,493

Loans and advances to customers 122,181 1,109,346 647,505 812,171 586,756 708,141 266,799 183,112 4,436,011

Financial investments

 — Receivables 1,156,769 — — — — — 6,000 — 1,162,769

 — Held-to-maturity debt securities 1,143,359 38,665 22,815 99,658 373 441 4,280 4,729 1,314,320

 — Available-for-sale debt securities 389,763 32,990 15,336 30,581 7,898 9,981 11,273 31,007 528,829

Others 40,303 5,312 2,946 6,324 3,904 4,960 1,143 5,888 70,780

4,648,056 1,243,327 717,925 1,012,419 614,846 744,117 296,424 269,793 9,546,907

Credit commitments 185,105 215,313 93,180 199,581 54,933 47,067 18,232 123,062 936,473

Total credit risk exposure 4,833,161 1,458,640 811,105 1,212,000 669,779 791,184 314,656 392,855 10,483,380

31 December 2007

Head 

Offi ce

Yangtze 

River 

Delta

Pearl 

River 

Delta

Bohai 

Rim

Central 

China

Western 

China

North-

eastern 

China

Overseas 

and others Total

Balances with central banks 990,607 23,534 17,386 39,254 8,819 17,133 5,358 1,132 1,103,223

Due from banks and other 

 fi nancial institutions 119,319 8,382 6,824 8,307 4,269 1,372 613 50,672 199,758

Financial assets held for trading 31,485 — — — — — — 16 31,501

Financial assets designated at 

 fair value through profi t or loss — — — — — — — 2,785 2,785

Derivative fi nancial assets 20,340 548 504 114 182 177 304 600 22,769

Reverse repurchase agreements 47,346 4,615 6,995 10,272 6,121 101 430 — 75,880

Loans and advances to customers 170,777 1,019,596 594,918 708,864 509,742 592,264 208,173 153,208 3,957,542

Financial investments

 — Receivables 1,205,767 — — — — — 6,000 — 1,211,767

 — Held-to-maturity debt securities 1,137,367 40,128 22,744 103,953 1,105 1,415 13,668 9,705 1,330,085

 — Available-for-sale debt securities 422,538 22,723 13,394 21,383 7,198 9,405 4,125 23,957 524,723

Others 32,548 4,418 3,037 4,660 3,860 4,413 1,281 4,919 59,136

4,178,094 1,123,944 665,802 896,807 541,296 626,280 239,952 246,994 8,519,169

Credit commitments 132,988 188,336 69,492 161,591 49,155 56,028 13,029 119,068 789,687

Total credit risk exposure 4,311,082 1,312,280 735,294 1,058,398 590,451 682,308 252,981 366,062 9,308,856
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Bank

31 December 2008

Head 

Offi ce

Yangtze 

River 

Delta

Pearl 

River 

Delta

Bohai 

Rim

Central 

China

Western 

China

North-

eastern 

China

Overseas 

and others Total

Balances with central banks 1,517,097 32,926 20,262 43,874 10,957 19,250 6,339 1,322 1,652,027

Due from banks and other

 fi nancial institutions 119,599 13,483 2,675 6,555 2,677 484 137 8,747 154,357

Financial assets held for trading 23,358 — — 2,004 — — — — 25,362

Financial assets designated at

 fair value through profi t or loss — — — — — — — 144 144

Derivative fi nancial assets 6,707 2,078 1,296 1,529 974 875 460 72 13,991

Reverse repurchase agreements 136,157 8,599 5,910 10,200 1,326 — — — 162,192

Loans and advances to customers 122,181 1,109,346 647,505 812,171 586,756 708,141 266,799 37,056 4,289,955

Financial investments

 — Receivables 1,156,769 — — — — — 6,000 — 1,162,769

 — Held-to-maturity debt securities 1,150,392 38,665 22,815 99,658 373 441 4,280 2,482 1,319,106

 — Available-for-sale debt securities 389,763 32,990 15,336 30,581 7,898 9,981 11,273 15,416 513,238

Others 40,368 5,312 2,948 6,324 3,904 4,960 1,143 854 65,813

4,662,391 1,243,399 718,747 1,012,896 614,865 744,132 296,431 66,093 9,358,954

Credit commitments 185,105 215,313 93,180 199,581 54,933 47,067 18,232 37,685 851,096

Total credit risk exposure 4,847,496 1,458,712 811,927 1,212,477 669,798 791,199 314,663 103,778 10,210,050

31 December 2007

Head 

Offi ce

Yangtze 

River 

Delta

Pearl 

River 

Delta

Bohai 

Rim

Central 

China

Western 

China

North-

eastern 

China

Overseas 

and others Total

Balances with central banks 990,607 23,534 17,386 39,254 8,819 17,133 5,358 471 1,102,562

Due from banks and other 

 fi nancial institutions 130,741 8,507 9,826 8,626 4,304 1,575 630 10,788 174,997

Financial assets held for trading 31,485 — — — — — — — 31,485

Financial assets designated at 

 fair value through profi t or loss — — — — — — — 1,142 1,142

Derivative fi nancial assets 20,349 548 504 119 182 177 304 175 22,358

Reverse repurchase agreements 47,346 4,615 6,995 10,272 6,121 101 430 — 75,880

Loans and advances to customers 170,777 1,019,596 594,918 708,864 509,742 592,264 208,173 34,588 3,838,922

Financial investments

 — Receivables 1,205,767 — — — — — 6,000 — 1,211,767

 — Held-to-maturity debt securities 1,143,885 40,128 22,744 103,953 1,105 1,415 13,668 7,610 1,334,508

 — Available-for-sale debt securities 422,259 22,723 13,394 21,383 7,198 9,405 4,125 10,626 511,113

Others 33,039 4,419 3,076 4,665 3,861 4,414 1,281 665 55,420

4,196,255 1,124,070 668,843 897,136 541,332 626,484 239,969 66,065 8,360,154

Credit commitments 132,988 188,336 69,492 161,591 49,155 56,028 13,029 25,004 695,623

Total credit risk exposure 4,329,243 1,312,406 738,335 1,058,727 590,487 682,512 252,998 91,069 9,055,777
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By industry segment

The credit risk exposures of the Group mainly comprise loans and advances to customers and investments in 
securities. Details of the composition of the Group’s investments in debt securities are set out in note 48(a)(iv) to the 
fi nancial statements. The composition of the Group’s and of the Bank’s gross loans and advances to customers by 
industry is analysed as follows:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Manufacturing 777,249 758,655 762,593 744,381

Transportation and logistics 707,482 612,849 694,075 603,180

Power generation and supply 516,771 408,220 511,454 407,574

Property development 386,141 329,664 348,822 310,136

Water, environment and 

 public utility management 275,649 231,309 275,469 230,343

Retail, wholesale and catering 204,272 201,018 192,618 189,054

Leasing and commercial services 203,977 171,511 190,032 161,357

Science, education, culture and sanitation 71,036 70,132 70,441 69,937

Construction 61,843 64,334 61,080 54,298

Others 192,213 209,825 162,557 179,527

Subtotal for corporate loans 3,396,633 3,057,517 3,269,141 2,949,787

Personal mortgage and business loans 729,611 664,171 711,561 653,047

Others 119,434 99,436 118,263 99,316

Subtotal for personal loans 849,045 763,607 829,824 752,363

Discounted bills 326,316 252,105 326,315 252,103

4,571,994 4,073,229 4,425,280 3,954,253

(iii) Loans and advances to customers

The total credit risk exposures of loans and advances to customers are summarised as follows:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Neither past due nor impaired 4,413,241 3,917,290 4,268,654 3,800,326

Past due but not impaired 54,271 44,165 53,097 42,787

Impaired 104,482 111,774 103,529 111,140

4,571,994 4,073,229 4,425,280 3,954,253

Allowance for impairment losses (135,983) (115,687) (135,325) (115,331)

4,436,011 3,957,542 4,289,955 3,838,922
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Neither past due nor impaired

The loans and advances to customers of the Group and of the Bank that are neither past due nor impaired are 
classifi ed as “Pass” or “Special mention” under the 5-tier loan classifi cation system maintained by the Group. 
Management of the Group considers that these loans are exposed to normal business risk and there is no identifi able 
objective evidence of impairment for these loans which may incur losses to the Group at the balance sheet date.

The following tables present the types of loans and advances to customers which are neither past due nor impaired as 
at the balance sheet date:

Group

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Pass
Special 

mention Total Pass
Special 

mention Total

Unsecured loans 1,294,007 38,479 1,332,486 1,118,366 18,224 1,136,590

Guaranteed loans 765,169 60,053 825,222 724,808 55,695 780,503

Loans secured by mortgages 1,514,766 74,788 1,589,554 1,334,705 97,713 1,432,418

Pledged loans 638,410 27,569 665,979 540,474 27,305 567,779

4,212,352 200,889 4,413,241 3,718,353 198,937 3,917,290

Bank

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Pass
Special 

mention Total Pass
Special 

mention Total

Unsecured loans 1,241,896 37,262 1,279,158 1,056,246 17,917 1,074,163

Guaranteed loans 748,900 59,291 808,191 713,023 55,556 768,579

Loans secured by mortgages 1,447,243 71,322 1,518,565 1,295,514 96,425 1,391,939

Pledged loans 635,171 27,569 662,740 538,340 27,305 565,645

4,073,210 195,444 4,268,654 3,603,123 197,203 3,800,326

Past due but not impaired

The following tables present the ageing analysis of each type of loans and advances to customers of the Group and of 
the Bank that are subject to credit risk which are past due but not impaired as at the balance sheet date:

Group

Corporate loans Personal loans Total

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Past due for:

 Less than one month 7,740 5,734 34,229 26,309 41,969 32,043

 One to two months 95 2,364 6,421 4,073 6,516 6,437

 Two to three months 313 680 5,144 4,595 5,457 5,275

 Over three months 18 410 311 — 329 410

Total 8,166 9,188 46,105 34,977 54,271 44,165

Fair value of collaterals held 11,101 18,531 99,619 69,696 110,720 88,227
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Bank

Corporate loans Personal loans Total

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Past due for:

 Less than one month 7,274 4,794 33,974 25,958 41,248 30,752

 One to two months — 2,322 6,408 4,057 6,408 6,379

 Two to three months — 663 5,132 4,588 5,132 5,251

 Over three months — 405 309 — 309 405

Total 7,274 8,184 45,823 34,603 53,097 42,787

Fair value of collaterals held 9,455 14,470 99,095 69,325 108,550 83,795

Impaired

Impaired loans and advances are defi ned as those loans and advances having objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that occur after initial recognition and that event has an impact on the estimated future 
cash fl ows of loans and advances that can be reliably estimated. These loans and advances include corporate loans 
and personal loans which are graded as “Substandard”, “Doubtful” or “Loss”.

The fair value of collaterals that the Group and the Bank hold relating to loans individually determined to be impaired 
as at 31 December 2008 amounted to RMB25,833 million (2007: RMB27,846 million) and RMB25,645 million 
(2007: RMB26,546 million), respectively. The collateral consists of land and properties, equipment and others.

Renegotiated loans and advances to customers

The Group has formulated a set of loan restructuring policies to renegotiate the contractual terms with customers, to 
maximise the collectibility of loans and to manage customer relationships.

The carrying amount of renegotiated loans and advances to customers is as follows:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Renegotiated loans and advances to 

 customers 25,246 38,381 25,079 38,273

Impaired loans and advances to 

 customers included in above 22,020 34,196 21,857 34,087

Collateral repossessed

During the year, the Group and the Bank took possession of collaterals held as security with a carrying amount of 
RMB4,823 million (2007: RMB9,517 million). These collaterals mainly comprise land and buildings and equipment.
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(iv) Debt securities

The total credit risk exposures of debt securities are summarised as follows:

Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007

Neither past due nor impaired 3,008,066 3,094,686 2,989,198 3,083,914

Impaired: (i)

  Available-for-sale debt securities, 

 at fair value 24,565 5,500 24,517 5,427

  Held-to-maturity debt securities, 

 at amortised cost 8,622 824 8,499 820

  Less: Allowance for impairment losses 

 for held-to-maturity debt securities (1,713) (149) (1,595) (146)

31,474 6,175 31,421 6,101

3,039,540 3,100,861 3,020,619 3,090,015

(i) Impaired debt securities are all determined based on individual assessments. In determining whether a debt securities is 

impaired, the Group considers the evidence of loss event and the decreases in estimated future cash fl ows. The majority of the 

Group’s impaired debt securities are U.S. mortgage-backed securities, whose fair values declines over the year are due to the 

deterioration in the underlying mortgages’ performance. No collateral was held by the Group as security of the impaired debt 

securities.

Neither past due nor impaired

The credit risk of debt securities mainly arise from the risk that the issuer might default on a payment or go into 
liquidation. Debt securities by different types of issuer are generally subject to different degrees of credit risk.

The following tables present an analysis of debt securities which are neither past due nor impaired by types of issuer 
and investments:

Group

31 December 2008

Receivables

Held-to-

maturity 

investments

Available-

for-sale 

investments

Held for 

trading 

investments

Investments 

designated 

at fair value 

through 

profi t or loss Total

Governments and central banks 800,563 756,824 319,156 5,447 182 1,882,172

Policy banks 47,000 468,680 81,514 3,933 — 601,127

Public sector entities — 23,117 15,485 1,832 176 40,610

Banks and other fi nancial institutions 315,206 43,936 42,592 6,132 548 408,414

Corporate entities — 14,854 45,517 14,819 553 75,743

1,162,769 1,307,411 504,264 32,163 1,459 3,008,066
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31 December 2007

Receivables

Held-to-

maturity 

investments

Available-

for-sale 

investments

Held for 

trading 

investments

Investments 

designated 

at fair value 

through 

profi t or loss Total

Governments and central banks 851,771 794,464 278,442 4,744 196 1,929,617

Policy banks 47,000 419,384 81,577 6,350 — 554,311

Public sector entities — 29,386 53,665 2,047 190 85,288

Banks and other fi nancial institutions 312,996 68,998 83,025 285 1,090 466,394

Corporate entities — 17,178 22,514 18,075 1,309 59,076

1,211,767 1,329,410 519,223 31,501 2,785 3,094,686

Bank

31 December 2008

Receivables

Held-to-

maturity 

investments

Available-

for-sale 

investments

Held for 

trading 

investments

Investments 

designated 

at fair value 

through 

profi t or loss Total

Governments and central banks 800,563 755,105 317,893 4,627 — 1,878,188

Policy banks 47,000 468,659 81,256 3,928 — 600,843

Public sector entities — 22,953 15,098 1,831 — 39,882

Banks and other fi nancial institutions 315,206 50,796 33,275 254 144 399,675

Corporate entities — 14,689 41,199 14,722 — 70,610

1,162,769 1,312,202 488,721 25,362 144 2,989,198

31 December 2007

Receivables

Held-to-

maturity 

investments

Available-

for-sale 

investments

Held for 

trading 

investments

Investments 

designated 

at fair value 

through 

profi t or loss Total

Governments and central banks 851,771 792,382 277,902 4,744 — 1,926,799

Policy banks 47,000 419,384 81,556 6,350 — 554,290

Public sector entities — 29,279 52,905 2,033 — 84,217

Banks and other fi nancial institutions 312,996 76,291 77,665 283 640 467,875

Corporate entities — 16,498 15,658 18,075 502 50,733

1,211,767 1,333,834 505,686 31,485 1,142 3,083,914
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(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities as they fall due. This may arise from amounts 
or maturity mismatches of assets and liabilities.

The Group manages its liquidity risk through the Asset and Liability Management Department and aims at:

• optimising the structure of assets and liabilities;

• maintaining the stability of the deposit base and the diversifi cation of funding sources;

• projecting cash fl ows and evaluating the level of current assets; and

• in terms of liquidity of the branches, maintaining an effi cient internal fund transfer mechanism.
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(i) Analysis of the remaining maturity of the Group’s assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date is 
set out below:

31 December 2008

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated (iv) Total

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 413,832 — — — — — 1,279,192 1,693,024

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 38,895 203,436 71,588 16,492 1,445 — — 331,856

Financial assets held for trading — 2,196 8,271 13,881 6,004 1,811 19 32,182

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — — — 71 515 873 — 1,459

Derivative fi nancial assets 4 1,197 4,852 2,505 3,489 3,674 — 15,721

Loans and advances to customers 9,624 195,162 388,501 1,300,790 1,182,466 1,313,697 45,771 4,436,011

Investments

 — Receivables — — — — 1,068,559 94,210 — 1,162,769

 — Held-to-maturity debt securities — 21,229 39,652 152,574 769,870 324,086 6,909 1,314,320

 — Available-for-sale investments — 35,439 47,052 133,293 226,172 62,308 33,316 537,580

 — Investments in associates — — — — — — 28,421 28,421

Property and equipment — — — — — — 86,800 86,800

Others 28,327 8,477 2,889 5,063 33,179 8,829 30,239 117,003

Total assets 490,682 467,136 562,805 1,624,669 3,291,699 1,809,488 1,510,667 9,757,146

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities held for trading — 4,268 — — — — — 4,268

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — 537 860 5,351 682 136 — 7,566

Derivative fi nancial liabilities — 1,885 1,152 2,572 4,055 3,948 — 13,612

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (ii) 529,713 44,244 32,299 41,593 3,053 — — 650,902

Due to customers (iii) 4,177,866 608,284 742,760 2,099,041 590,151 6,070 — 8,224,172

Subordinated bonds — — — — — 35,000 — 35,000

Others 106,684 6,761 17,844 62,658 14,680 6,369 — 214,996

Total liabilities 4,814,263 665,979 794,915 2,211,215 612,621 51,523 — 9,150,516

Net liquidity gap (4,323,581) (198,843) (232,110) (586,546) 2,679,078 1,757,965 1,510,667 606,630

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.

(iii) Includes certifi cates of deposit.

(iv) Includes loans and advances to customers and bond investments that are impaired or overdue for more than one month.
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(i) Analysis of the remaining maturity of the Group’s assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date is 
set out below: (continued)

31 December 2007

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated (iv) Total

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 122,451 — — — — — 1,019,895 1,142,346

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 19,031 164,672 42,928 42,843 6,164 — — 275,638

Financial assets held for trading — 1,473 6,204 18,712 4,089 1,023 35 31,536

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — 94 107 21 1,308 1,255 — 2,785

Derivative fi nancial assets — 12,657 2,733 5,116 740 1,523 — 22,769

Loans and advances to customers 6,507 199,117 363,078 1,175,485 1,052,894 1,108,995 51,466 3,957,542

Investments

 — Receivables — — — — 1,099,767 112,000 — 1,211,767

 — Held-to-maturity debt securities — 94,417 79,300 154,064 653,417 348,212 675 1,330,085

 — Available-for-sale investments — 3,158 23,339 211,282 151,168 130,276 11,932 531,155

 — Investments in associates — — — — — — 172 172

Property and equipment — — — — — — 80,266 80,266

Others 20,978 9,405 9,030 21,418 8,039 735 28,046 97,651

Total assets 168,967 484,993 526,719 1,628,941 2,977,586 1,704,019 1,192,487 8,683,712

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss 2 852 1,632 5,764 5,902 1,438 — 15,590

Derivative fi nancial liabilities — 516 733 2,046 2,225 1,607 — 7,127

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (ii) 683,288 289,317 17,953 7,839 285 — — 998,682

Due to customers (iii) 3,817,479 552,438 546,154 1,506,416 472,955 3,533 — 6,898,975

Subordinated bonds — — — — — 35,000 — 35,000

Others 93,727 5,104 14,131 49,766 13,933 8,001 — 184,662

Total liabilities 4,594,496 848,227 580,603 1,571,831 495,300 49,579 — 8,140,036

Net liquidity gap (4,425,529) (363,234) (53,884) 57,110 2,482,286 1,654,440 1,192,487 543,676

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.

(iii) Includes certifi cates of deposit.

(iv) Includes loans and advances to customers and bond investments that are impaired or overdue for more than one month.
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(i) Analysis of the remaining maturity of the Bank’s assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date is 
set out below:

31 December 2008

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated (iii) Total

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 412,988 — — — — — 1,278,478 1,691,466

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 26,954 199,880 72,513 15,757 1,445 — — 316,549

Financial assets held for trading — 917 4,536 13,032 5,173 1,704 — 25,362

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — — — — 144 — — 144

Derivative fi nancial assets — 785 4,587 2,057 3,015 3,547 — 13,991

Loans and advances to customers 8,910 184,884 373,905 1,278,415 1,131,726 1,267,449 44,666 4,289,955

Investments

 — Receivables — — — — 1,068,559 94,210 — 1,162,769

 — Held-to-maturity debt securities — 20,666 39,150 151,688 770,739 329,959 6,904 1,319,106

 — Available-for-sale investments — 35,439 46,937 130,897 215,618 59,830 31,855 520,576

 — Investments in subsidiaries — — — — — — 19,999 19,999

 — Investment in an associate — — — — — — 33,160 33,160

Property and equipment — — — — — — 86,220 86,220

Others 23,758 8,485 2,684 4,955 32,985 8,789 25,212 106,868

Total assets 472,610 451,056 544,312 1,596,801 3,229,404 1,765,488 1,526,494 9,586,165

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities held for trading — 4,268 — — — — — 4,268

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — 537 454 1,102 56 136 — 2,285

Derivative fi nancial liabilities — 1,665 984 1,281 3,399 3,674 — 11,003

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (ii) 530,195 47,341 23,974 35,043 453 — — 637,006

Due to customers 4,148,861 524,982 719,445 2,088,425 589,975 6,044 — 8,077,732

Subordinated bonds — — — — — 35,000 — 35,000

Others 104,121 5,949 17,343 62,875 14,735 6,365 — 211,388

Total liabilities 4,783,177 584,742 762,200 2,188,726 608,618 51,219 — 8,978,682

Net liquidity gap (4,310,567) (133,686) (217,888) (591,925) 2,620,786 1,714,269 1,526,494 607,483

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.

(iii) Includes loans and advances to customers and bond investments that are impaired or overdue for more than one month.
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(i) Analysis of the remaining maturity of the Bank’s assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date is 
set out below: (continued)

31 December 2007

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated (iii) Total

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 121,692 — — — — — 1,019,769 1,141,461

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 19,164 134,372 45,964 45,213 6,164 — — 250,877

Financial assets held for trading — 1,473 6,190 18,712 4,087 1,023 — 31,485

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — — 107 21 960 54 — 1,142

Derivative fi nancial assets — 12,572 2,665 4,734 907 1,480 — 22,358

Loans and advances to customers 5,232 192,711 351,072 1,156,109 1,014,463 1,068,444 50,891 3,838,922

Investments

 — Receivables — — — — 1,099,767 112,000 — 1,211,767

 — Held-to-maturity debt securities — 93,615 78,508 153,079 655,570 353,062 674 1,334,508

 — Available-for-sale investments — 2,669 23,245 209,708 142,337 127,727 9,543 515,229

 — Investments in subsidiaries — — — — — — 12,371 12,371

Property and equipment — — — — — — 79,986 79,986

Others 18,905 8,880 8,606 21,363 8,025 730 25,755 92,264

Total assets 164,993 446,292 516,357 1,608,939 2,932,280 1,664,520 1,198,989 8,532,370

Liabilities:

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss 2 811 1,584 5,423 1,020 1,438 — 10,278

Derivative fi nancial liabilities — 409 638 1,662 2,335 1,548 — 6,592

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (ii) 683,919 288,628 12,695 7,517 1,452 367 — 994,578

Due to customers 3,795,099 467,953 526,403 1,504,075 472,553 3,523 — 6,769,606

Subordinated bonds — — — — — 35,000 — 35,000

Others 91,056 4,417 13,499 49,564 13,851 7,910 — 180,297

Total liabilities 4,570,076 762,218 554,819 1,568,241 491,211 49,786 — 7,996,351

Net liquidity gap (4,405,083) (315,926) (38,462) 40,698 2,441,069 1,614,734 1,198,989 536,019

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.

(iii) Includes loans and advances to customers and bond investments that are impaired or overdue for more than one month.
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(ii) Maturity analysis of contractual undiscounted cash fl ows

The tables below summarise the maturity profi le of the Group’s and of the Bank’s fi nancial instruments based on 
the contractual undiscounted cash fl ows. The balances of some items in the tables below are different from the 
balances on the balance sheet as the tables incorporate all cash fl ows relating to both principal and interest. The 
Group’s expected cash fl ows on these instruments may vary signifi cantly from this analysis. For example: demand 
deposits from customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance although they have been classifi ed as 
repayable on demand in the following tables.

Group

31 December 2008

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated (iii) Total

Non-derivative cash fl ows:

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 413,832 — — — — — 1,279,192 1,693,024

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 38,895 203,756 71,968 17,101 1,499 — — 333,219

Financial assets held for trading — 2,242 8,544 14,585 6,727 2,029 19 34,146

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — 7 13 138 764 1,860 — 2,782

Loans and advances to customers (ii) 13,407 235,546 446,130 1,488,713 1,690,615 2,075,869 87,111 6,037,391

Investments — 60,301 99,391 353,923 2,271,101 589,478 122,043 3,496,237

Others 21,686 — — — — — — 21,686

487,820 501,852 626,046 1,874,460 3,970,706 2,669,236 1,488,365 11,618,485

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Renegotiated loans’ contractual undiscounted cash fl ows follow the negotiated term to determine the maturity profi le.

(iii) Includes loans and advances to customers and bond investments that are impaired or overdue for more than one month.

31 December 2008

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated Total

Non-derivative cash fl ows:

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities held for trading — 4,314 — — — — — 4,314

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — 548 926 5,464 724 139 — 7,801

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 529,713 44,560 32,619 42,606 3,194 — — 652,692

Due to customers (ii) 4,177,866 622,010 763,755 2,172,977 641,797 6,863 — 8,385,268

Subordinated bonds — — 184 1,078 5,046 39,975 — 46,283

Others 62,203 274 7,699 40,269 7,982 6,301 — 124,728

4,769,782 671,706 805,183 2,262,394 658,743 53,278 — 9,221,086

Derivative cash fl ows:

Derivative fi nancial instruments settled on net basis — (2) 55 17 (618) (274) — (822)

Total infl ow 56 101,649 136,745 187,782 15,719 11,769 — 453,720

Total outfl ow (52) (102,610) (132,966) (188,053) (15,787) (11,769) — (451,237)

Derivative fi nancial instruments settled on gross basis 4 (961) 3,779 (271) (68) — — 2,483

(i) Includes repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes certifi cates of deposit.
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31 December 2007

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated (iii) Total

Non-derivative cash fl ows:

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 122,451 — — — — — 1,019,895 1,142,346

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 19,221 165,469 43,454 44,240 6,393 — — 278,777

Financial assets held for trading — 1,483 6,304 19,055 4,759 1,181 35 32,817

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — 105 135 114 1,637 3,250 — 5,241

Loans and advances to customers (ii) 7,357 228,481 406,873 1,345,145 1,492,964 1,805,204 92,609 5,378,633

Investments — 100,846 116,693 437,922 2,169,130 797,928 9,480 3,631,999

Others 19,413 — — — — — — 19,413

168,442 496,384 573,459 1,846,476 3,674,883 2,607,563 1,122,019 10,489,226

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Renegotiated loans’ contractual undiscounted cash fl ows follow the negotiated term to determine the maturity profi le.

(iii) Includes loans and advances to customers and bond investments that are impaired or overdue for more than one month.

31 December 2007

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated Total

Non-derivative cash fl ows:

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss 2 863 1,761 6,015 6,416 1,715 — 16,772

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 683,288 289,789 18,129 7,994 301 — — 999,501

Due to customers (ii) 3,817,479 562,271 555,877 1,533,233 489,789 3,847 — 6,962,496

Subordinated bonds — — 183 1,077 5,039 41,230 — 47,529

Others 60,140 244 7,687 36,373 9,258 7,879 — 121,581

4,560,909 853,167 583,637 1,584,692 510,803 54,671 — 8,147,879

Derivative cash fl ows:

Derivative fi nancial instruments settled on net basis — — (8) — (38) (243) — (289)

Total infl ow 4 117,026 121,842 207,256 25,917 20,927 44 493,016

Total outfl ow (4) (114,602) (118,311) (198,871) (25,694) (21,609) (13) (479,104)

Derivative fi nancial instruments settled on gross basis — 2,424 3,531 8,385 223 (682) 31 13,912

(i) Includes repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes certifi cates of deposit.
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Bank

31 December 2008

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated (iii) Total

Non-derivative cash fl ows:

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 412,988 — — — — — 1,278,478 1,691,466

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 26,954 200,201 72,839 16,361 1,499 — — 317,854

Financial assets held for trading — 956 4,799 13,634 5,827 1,918 — 27,134

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — — 6 6 181 — — 193

Loans and advances to customers (ii) 12,929 224,603 429,846 1,462,808 1,626,244 2,018,702 85,839 5,860,971

Investments — 59,795 98,666 349,279 2,257,937 586,550 142,275 3,494,502

Others 18,032 — — — — — — 18,032

470,903 485,555 606,156 1,842,088 3,891,688 2,607,170 1,506,592 11,410,152

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Renegotiated loans’ contractual undiscounted cash fl ows follow the negotiated term to determine the maturity profi le.

(iii) Includes loans and advances to customers and bond investments that are impaired or overdue for more than one month.

31 December 2008

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated Total

Non-derivative cash fl ows:

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities held for trading — 4,314 — — — — — 4,314

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — 538 455 1,105 56 136 — 2,290

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 530,195 47,531 24,160 35,839 489 — — 638,214

Due to customers 4,148,861 537,132 739,925 2,163,158 641,893 6,833 — 8,237,802

Subordinated bonds — — 184 1,078 5,046 39,975 — 46,283

Others 59,274 274 7,676 40,301 7,958 6,301 — 121,784

4,738,330 589,789 772,400 2,241,481 655,442 53,245 — 9,050,687

Derivative cash fl ows:

Derivative fi nancial instruments settled on net basis — (3) (8) (46) (439) (128) — (624)

Total infl ow — 96,779 130,634 159,391 13,093 11,769 — 411,666

Total outfl ow — (97,482) (126,795) (158,535) (13,158) (11,769) — (407,739)

Derivative fi nancial instruments settled on gross basis — (703) 3,839 856 (65) — — 3,927

(i) Includes repurchase agreements.
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31 December 2007

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated (iii) Total

Non-derivative cash fl ows:

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 121,692 — — — — — 1,019,769 1,141,461

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 19,354 135,149 46,630 46,736 6,393 — — 254,262

Financial assets held for trading — 1,483 6,304 19,055 4,759 1,181 — 32,782

Financial assets designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss — 4 115 45 1,027 56 — 1,247

Loans and advances to customers (ii) 5,542 221,798 393,169 1,321,916 1,446,548 1,779,378 92,395 5,260,746

Investments — 98,716 116,561 435,749 2,161,366 801,494 19,156 3,633,042

Others 16,744 — — — — — — 16,744

163,332 457,150 562,779 1,823,501 3,620,093 2,582,109 1,131,320 10,340,284

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Renegotiated loans’ contractual undiscounted cash fl ows follow the negotiated term to determine the maturity profi le.

(iii) Includes loans and advances to customers and bond investments that are impaired or overdue for more than one month.

31 December 2007

Overdue/

repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated Total

Non-derivative cash fl ows:

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

 through profi t or loss 2 863 1,760 6,015 3,273 1,715 — 13,628

Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions (i) 683,919 289,115 12,898 7,783 1,679 444 — 995,838

Due to customers 3,795,099 476,283 535,773 1,530,848 489,376 3,837 — 6,831,216

Subordinated bonds — — 183 1,077 5,039 41,230 — 47,529

Others 57,209 244 7,666 36,150 9,233 7,879 — 118,381

4,536,229 766,505 558,280 1,581,873 508,600 55,105 — 8,006,592

Derivative cash fl ows:

Derivative fi nancial instruments settled on net basis — — (8) — (11) (37) — (56)

Total infl ow — 79,828 97,732 168,377 19,926 20,124 44 386,031

Total outfl ow — (77,443) (94,279) (159,948) (19,526) (20,797) (13) (372,006)

Derivative fi nancial instruments settled on gross basis — 2,385 3,453 8,429 400 (673) 31 14,025

(i) Includes repurchase agreements.
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(iii) Analysis of credit commitments by contractual expiry date

Management expects that not all of the commitments will be drawn before expiry of the commitments.

Group

Repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated Total

31 December 2008

Off-balance sheet credit commitments 580,601 49,585 110,948 146,304 19,124 29,911 — 936,473

31 December 2007

Off-balance sheet credit commitments 578,726 32,094 68,907 109,950 10 — — 789,687

Bank

Repayable 

on demand

Less than 

one month

One month to 

three months

Three months 

to one year

One to 

fi ve years

More than 

fi ve years Undated Total

31 December 2008

Off-balance sheet credit commitments 500,241 48,640 109,930 144,207 18,167 29,911 — 851,096

31 December 2007

Off-balance sheet credit commitments 488,618 32,094 68,907 105,994 10 — — 695,623
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(c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss, in respect of the Group’s on and off-balance sheet activities, arising from adverse 
movements in market rates including interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity prices and stock prices. 
Market risk arises from both the Group’s trading and non-trading business.

The Group is primarily exposed to structural interest rate risk arising from commercial banking and position risk 
arising from treasury transactions. Interest rate risk is inherent in many of its businesses and largely arises from 
mismatches between the repricing dates of interest-generating assets and interest-bearing liabilities.

The Group’s foreign exchange exposure mainly comprises exposures from the mismatch of foreign exchange assets 
and liabilities, and off-balance sheet foreign exchange positions arising from derivative transactions.

The Group considers the market risk arising from commodity or stock prices in respect of its investment portfolios as 
immaterial.

Sensitivity analysis, interest rate gap analysis and foreign exchange risk concentration analysis are the major market 
risk management tools used by the Group. The Bank monitors market risk separately in respect of trading and other 
non-trading portfolios. The Value-at-risk (“VaR”) analysis is a major tool used by the Bank since the second quarter of 
2008 to measure and monitor the market risk of its trading portfolios at the HO level. The following sections include 
a VaR analysis by risk type of the Group’s trading portfolios at HO level, sensitivity analysis based on the Group’s 
currency risk exposure and interest rate risk exposure (both trading and non-trading portfolios).

(i) VaR of trading portfolios

VaR analysis is a statistical technique which estimates the potential maximum losses that could occur on risk positions 
taken due to movements in interest rates, foreign exchange rates or prices over a specifi ed time horizon and at a 
given level of confi dence. The Bank adopts a historical simulation model to calculate and monitor trading portfolio 
VaR with 250 days’ historical market data (with a 99% confi dence level, and one-day holding period) on a daily basis.

A summary of the VaR by risk type of the Bank’s trading portfolios at HO level (including investments held for trading 
and foreign exchange transactions) is as follows:

Second quarter to fourth quarter of 2008

31 December

2008 Average Highest Lowest

Interest rate risk 86 58 102 30

Foreign exchange risk 76 43 83 15

Total portfolio VaR 111 75 123 41

VaR for each risk factor is the derived largest potential loss due to fl uctuations solely in that risk factor. As there was 
diversifi cation effect due to the correlation amongst the risk factors, the individual VaR did not add up to the total 
portfolio VaR.

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk under normal market environment, the assumptions on 
which the model is based do give rise to some limitations, including the following:

(1) VaR does not refl ect liquidity risk. In the VaR model, a one-day holding period assumes that it is possible to 
hedge or dispose of positions within that period without restriction, and the price of the fi nancial instruments 
will fl uctuate in the given range, the correlation between these market prices will remain unchanged. This may 
not fully refl ect the market risk arising at times of severe illiquidity, when a one-day holding period may be 
insuffi cient to liquidate or hedge all positions fully;
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(2) Even though positions may change throughout the day, the VaR only represents the risk of the portfolios at the 
close of each business day, and it does not account for any losses that may occur beyond the 99% confi dence 
level;

(3) Due to the fact that VaR relies heavily on historical data to provide information and may not clearly predict the 
future changes and modifi cations of the risk factors, especially those of an exceptional nature due to signifi cant 
market moves.

(ii) Currency risk

The Group conducts it businesses mainly in RMB, with certain transactions denominated in US$, HK$ and, to a lesser 
extent, other currencies. Transactions in foreign currencies mainly arise from the Group’s treasury operations, foreign 
exchange dealing and overseas investments.

The exchange rate of RMB to US$ is managed under a fl oating exchange rate system. RMB has appreciated over US$ 
over the years. The HK$ exchange rate has been pegged to the US$ and therefore the exchange rate of RMB to HK$ 
has fl uctuated in line with the changes in the exchange rate of RMB to US$.

The Group manages its currency risk through various means including entering into hedging activities that are 
available to the Group.

The tables below indicate a sensitivity analysis of exchange rate changes of the currencies to which the Group and 
the Bank had signifi cant exposure on its monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash fl ows. The analysis 
calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement in the currency rate against the RMB, with all other variables 
held constant, on profi t before tax and equity. A negative amount in the table refl ects a potential net reduction in 
profi t before tax or equity, while a positive amount refl ects a potential net increase. This effect, however, is based on 
the assumption that the Group’s and the Bank’s foreign exchange exposures as at the year end are kept unchanged 
and, therefore, have not incorporated actions that would be taken by the Group or the Bank to mitigate the adverse 
impact of this foreign exchange risk.

Group

Effect on profi t before tax Effect on equity

Currency

Change in

currency rate

31 December

2008

31 December

2007

31 December

2008

31 December

2007

US$ -1% (85) (999) (20) (126)

HK$ -1% 115 151 (199) 24

Bank

Effect on profi t before tax Effect on equity

Currency

Change in

currency rate

31 December

2008

31 December

2007

31 December

2008

31 December

2007

US$ -1% (62) (813) 1 27

HK$ -1% 59 (51) (47) (116)

While the tables above indicate the effect on profi t before tax and equity of 1% depreciation of US$ and HK$, there 
will be an opposite effect with the same amount if the currencies appreciate by the same percentage.
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A breakdown of the assets and liabilities analysed by currency is as follows:

Group

31 December 2008

RMB US$ HK$ Others Total

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 1,658,951 28,603 2,482 2,988 1,693,024
Due from banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (i) 186,957 114,093 8,369 22,437 331,856

Financial assets held for trading 25,321 2,764 3,570 527 32,182
Financial assets designated at
  fair value though profi t or loss — 1,191 265 3 1,459

Derivative fi nancial assets 9,870 4,010 83 1,758 15,721

Loans and advances to customers 4,160,103 154,282 98,545 23,081 4,436,011

Investments 2,888,888 84,997 8,471 60,734 3,043,090

Property and equipment 86,089 289 138 284 86,800

Others 99,679 9,488 6,735 1,101 117,003

Total assets 9,115,858 399,717 128,658 112,913 9,757,146

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities held for trading — 4,268 — — 4,268
Financial liabilities designated at
  fair value through profi t or loss 17 5,740 1,220 589 7,566

Derivative fi nancial liabilities 6,527 5,845 166 1,074 13,612
Due to banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (ii) 562,264 69,828 6,470 12,340 650,902

Due to customers (iii) 7,913,378 176,924 99,861 34,009 8,224,172

Subordinated bonds 35,000 — — — 35,000

Others 200,225 6,781 2,192 5,798 214,996

Total liabilities 8,717,411 269,386 109,909 53,810 9,150,516

Net position 398,447 130,331 18,749 59,103 606,630

Off-balance sheet credit commitments 651,059 186,979 58,800 39,635 936,473

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.

(iii) Includes certifi cates of deposit.



248

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2008
(In RMB millions, unless otherwise stated)

31 December 2007

RMB US$ HK$ Others Total

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 1,130,381 7,372 2,557 2,036 1,142,346
Due from banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (i) 102,442 159,612 4,789 8,795 275,638

Financial assets held for trading 31,415 85 36 — 31,536
Financial assets designated at
  fair value though profi t or loss — 1,364 437 984 2,785

Derivative fi nancial assets 19,390 1,713 167 1,499 22,769

Loans and advances to customers 3,631,681 208,576 92,172 25,113 3,957,542

Investments 2,862,544 192,208 6,626 11,801 3,073,179

Property and equipment 79,744 315 95 112 80,266

Others 86,706 4,267 3,371 3,307 97,651

Total assets 7,944,303 575,512 110,250 53,647 8,683,712

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities designated at
  fair value through profi t or loss 17 12,079 3,207 287 15,590

Derivative fi nancial liabilities 1,556 3,857 228 1,486 7,127
Due to banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (ii) 915,257 64,818 8,364 10,243 998,682

Due to customers (iii) 6,626,810 140,470 105,923 25,772 6,898,975

Subordinated bonds 35,000 — — — 35,000

Others 163,996 10,958 3,695 6,013 184,662

Total liabilities 7,742,636 232,182 121,417 43,801 8,140,036

Net position 201,667 343,330 (11,167) 9,846 543,676

Off-balance sheet credit commitments 491,832 171,763 94,051 32,041 789,687

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.

(iii) Includes certifi cates of deposit.
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Bank

31 December 2008

RMB US$ HK$ Others Total

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 1,658,512 28,534 2,014 2,406 1,691,466
Due from banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (i) 185,506 110,152 8,178 12,713 316,549

Financial assets held for trading 25,294 68 — — 25,362
Financial assets designated at
  fair value though profi t or loss — 144 — — 144

Derivative fi nancial assets 9,849 2,828 43 1,271 13,991

Loans and advances to customers 4,144,998 112,541 17,056 15,360 4,289,955

Investments 2,890,650 82,149 16,306 66,505 3,055,610

Property and equipment 85,929 196 10 85 86,220

Others 98,128 7,841 109 790 106,868

Total assets 9,098,866 344,453 43,716 99,130 9,586,165

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities held for trading — 4,268 — — 4,268
Financial liabilities designated at
  fair value through profi t or loss 17 1,468 211 589 2,285

Derivative fi nancial liabilities 6,045 3,869 113 976 11,003
Due to banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (ii) 553,000 65,825 6,991 11,190 637,006

Due to customers 7,909,087 117,864 27,424 23,357 8,077,732

Subordinated bonds 35,000 — — — 35,000

Others 199,333 5,996 500 5,559 211,388

Total liabilities 8,702,482 199,290 35,239 41,671 8,978,682

Net position 396,384 145,163 8,477 57,459 607,483

Off-balance sheet credit commitments 647,068 163,786 1,959 38,283 851,096

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.
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31 December 2007

RMB US$ HK$ Others Total

Assets:

Cash and balances with central banks 1,130,262 7,338 2,363 1,498 1,141,461
Due from banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (i) 105,056 129,779 8,360 7,682 250,877

Financial assets held for trading 31,414 71 — — 31,485
Financial assets designated at
  fair value though profi t or loss — 158 — 984 1,142

Derivative fi nancial assets 19,313 1,511 86 1,448 22,358

Loans and advances to customers 3,628,462 169,217 22,091 19,152 3,838,922

Investments 2,864,324 190,577 10,279 8,695 3,073,875

Property and equipment 79,641 227 11 107 79,986

Others 86,533 3,266 104 2,361 92,264

Total assets 7,945,005 502,144 43,294 41,927 8,532,370

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities designated at
  fair value through profi t or loss 17 8,477 1,497 287 10,278

Derivative fi nancial liabilities 1,909 3,205 116 1,362 6,592
Due to banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (ii) 917,672 59,527 7,491 9,888 994,578

Due to customers 6,626,733 93,716 30,430 18,727 6,769,606

Subordinated bonds 35,000 — — — 35,000

Others 163,673 10,160 582 5,882 180,297

Total liabilities 7,745,004 175,085 40,116 36,146 7,996,351

Net position 200,001 327,059 3,178 5,781 536,019

Off-balance sheet credit commitments 491,229 158,822 14,856 30,716 695,623

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from the mismatches between the repricing dates of interest-generating assets 
and interest-bearing liabilities. The Group’s interest-generating assets and interest-bearing liabilities are mainly 
denominated in RMB. The PBOC establishes RMB benchmark interest rates which include a cap for RMB deposit rates 
and a fl oor for RMB loan rates.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by:

• regularly monitoring the macroeconomic factors that may have impact on the PBOC benchmark interest rates;

• optimising the differences in timing between contractual maturities and repricing of interest-generating assets 
and interest-bearing liabilities; and

• managing the deviation of the pricing of interest-generating assets and interest-bearing liabilities from the 
PBOC benchmark interest rates.

A principal part of the Group’s management of interest rate risk is to monitor the sensitivity of projected net interest 
income under varying interest rate scenarios (simulation modeling). The Group aims to mitigate the impact of 
prospective interest rate movements which could reduce future net interest income, while balancing the cost of such 
hedging on the current revenue.
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The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s and the Bank’s net interest income and equity.

The sensitivity of the net interest income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net interest 
income, based on the fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities held at year end subject to re-pricing within the coming 
year, including the effect of hedging instruments. The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fi xed rate 
available-for-sale fi nancial assets, including the effect of any associated hedges at year end for the effects of the 
assumed changes in interest rates.

Group

Sensitivity of

net interest income Sensitivity of equity

Change in basis points

31 December

2008

31 December

2007

31 December

2008

31 December

2007

+100 basis points (16,116) (18,160) (9,143) (9,213)

-100 basis points 16,116 18,160 9,536 9,452

Bank

Sensitivity of

net interest income Sensitivity of equity

Change in basis points

31 December

2008

31 December

2007

31 December

2008

31 December

2007

+100 basis points (15,688) (17,906) (8,915) (9,110)

-100 basis points 15,688 17,906 9,308 9,347

The interest rate sensitivities set out in the tables above are for illustration only and are based on simplifi ed 
scenarios. The fi gures represent the effect of the pro forma movements in net interest income and equity based 
on the projected yield curve scenarios and the Group’s current interest rate risk profi le. This effect, however, does 
not incorporate actions that would be taken by management to mitigate the impact of this interest rate risk. The 
projections above also assume that interest rates of all maturities move by the same amount and, therefore, do 
not refl ect the potential impact on net interest income and equity of some rates changing while others remain 
unchanged.
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The tables below summarise the contractual repricing or maturity date, whichever is earlier, of the Group’s assets and 
liabilities.

31 December 2008

Less than
three

months

Three

months to

one year

One to

fi ve years

More

than

fi ve years

Non-

interest-

bearing Total

Assets:
Cash and balances with
  central banks 1,557,854 — — — 135,170 1,693,024
Due from banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (i) 313,776 15,873 1,445 — 762 331,856
Financial assets held
  for trading 12,100 14,930 3,975 1,158 19 32,182
Financial assets
  designated at fair value 

through profi t or loss 414 662 144 239 — 1,459

Derivative fi nancial assets — — — — 15,721 15,721
Loans and advances to
  customers 1,505,061 2,930,950 — — — 4,436,011

Investments 236,136 462,106 1,892,257 415,419 37,172 3,043,090

Property and equipment — — — — 86,800 86,800

Others — — — — 117,003 117,003

Total assets 3,625,341 3,424,521 1,897,821 416,816 392,647 9,757,146

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities held
  for trading 4,268 — — — — 4,268
Financial liabilities
  designated at fair value 

through profi t or loss 2,537 5,024 5 — — 7,566

Derivative fi nancial liabilities — — — — 13,612 13,612
Due to banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (ii) 606,258 43,593 453 — 598 650,902

Due to customers (iii) 5,382,269 2,098,647 590,151 6,070 147,035 8,224,172

Subordinated bonds 9,000 — 13,000 13,000 — 35,000

Others — — — — 214,996 214,996

Total liabilities 6,004,332 2,147,264 603,609 19,070 376,241 9,150,516

Interest rate mismatch (2,378,991) 1,277,257 1,294,212 397,746 N/A N/A

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.

(iii) Includes certifi cates of deposit.
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31 December 2007

Less than
three

months

Three

months to

one year

One to

fi ve years

More

than

fi ve years

Non-

interest-

bearing Total

Assets:
Cash and balances with
  central banks 1,023,860 — — — 118,486 1,142,346
Due from banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (i) 225,681 42,843 6,164 — 950 275,638
Financial assets held
  for trading 8,626 19,923 2,862 90 35 31,536
Financial assets
  designated at fair value 

through profi t or loss 1,014 — 570 1,201 — 2,785

Derivative fi nancial assets — — — — 22,769 22,769
Loans and advances
  to customers 1,510,826 2,446,716 — — — 3,957,542

Investments 287,056 547,357 1,750,920 481,242 6,604 3,073,179

Property and equipment — — — — 80,266 80,266

Others — — — — 97,651 97,651

Total assets 3,057,063 3,056,839 1,760,516 482,533 326,761 8,683,712

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities
  designated at fair value 

through profi t or loss 7,108 6,923 970 589 — 15,590

Derivative fi nancial liabilities — — — — 7,127 7,127
Due to banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (ii) 989,856 7,839 285 — 702 998,682

Due to customers (iii) 4,776,594 1,506,322 472,861 3,533 139,665 6,898,975

Subordinated bonds 9,000 — 13,000 13,000 — 35,000

Others — — — — 184,662 184,662

Total liabilities 5,782,558 1,521,084 487,116 17,122 332,156 8,140,036

Interest rate mismatch (2,725,495) 1,535,755 1,273,400 465,411 N/A N/A

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.

(iii) Includes certifi cates of deposit.
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The tables below summarise the contractual repricing or maturity date, whichever is earlier, of the Bank’s assets and 
liabilities.

31 December 2008

Less than
three

months

Three

months to

one year

One to

fi ve years

More

than

fi ve years

Non-

interest-

bearing Total

Assets:
Cash and balances with
  central banks 1,556,884 — — — 134,582 1,691,466
Due from banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (i) 299,041 15,936 1,445 — 127 316,549
Financial assets held
  for trading 5,887 14,363 3,954 1,158 — 25,362
Financial assets
  designated at fair value 

through profi t or loss — — 144 — — 144

Derivative fi nancial assets — — — — 13,991 13,991
Loans and advances
  to customers 1,478,684 2,811,271 — — — 4,289,955

Investments 231,831 456,871 1,891,436 414,975 60,497 3,055,610

Property and equipment — — — — 86,220 86,220

Others — — — — 106,868 106,868

Total assets 3,572,327 3,298,441 1,896,979 416,133 402,285 9,586,165

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities held
  for trading 4,268 — — — — 4,268
Financial liabilities
  designated at fair value 

through profi t or loss 1,150 1,130 5 — — 2,285

Derivative fi nancial liabilities — — — — 11,003 11,003
Due to banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (ii) 601,506 35,043 453 — 4 637,006

Due to customers 5,246,257 2,088,425 589,975 6,044 147,031 8,077,732

Subordinated bonds 9,000 — 13,000 13,000 — 35,000

Others — — — — 211,388 211,388

Total liabilities 5,862,181 2,124,598 603,433 19,044 369,426 8,978,682

Interest rate mismatch (2,289,854) 1,173,843 1,293,546 397,089 N/A N/A

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.
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31 December 2007

Less than
three

months

Three

months to

one year

One to

fi ve years

More

than

fi ve years

Non-

interest-

bearing Total

Assets:
Cash and balances with
  central banks 1,023,030 — — — 118,431 1,141,461
Due from banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (i) 199,477 45,213 6,164 — 23 250,877
Financial assets held
  for trading 8,613 19,923 2,859 90 — 31,485
Financial assets
  designated at fair value 

through profi t or loss 920 — 222 — — 1,142

Derivative fi nancial assets — — — — 22,358 22,358
Loans and advances
  to customers 1,483,071 2,355,851 — — — 3,838,922

Investments 282,662 546,569 1,748,595 479,562 16,487 3,073,875

Property and equipment — — — — 79,986 79,986

Others — — — — 92,264 92,264

Total assets 2,997,773 2,967,556 1,757,840 479,652 329,549 8,532,370

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities
  designated at fair value 

through profi t or loss 3,624 5,342 723 589 — 10,278

Derivative fi nancial liabilities — — — — 6,592 6,592
Due to banks and other
  fi nancial institutions (ii) 987,298 6,993 285 — 2 994,578

Due to customers 4,654,046 1,504,076 472,553 3,522 135,409 6,769,606

Subordinated bonds 9,000 — 13,000 13,000 — 35,000

Others — — — — 180,297 180,297

Total liabilities 5,653,968 1,516,411 486,561 17,111 322,300 7,996,351

Interest rate mismatch (2,656,195) 1,451,145 1,271,279 462,541 N/A N/A

(i) Includes reverse repurchase agreements.

(ii) Includes repurchase agreements.
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(d) Capital management

The Group’s objectives on capital management, which is a broader concept than the “equity” on the face of the 
balance sheet, are:

• To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefi ts for other stakeholders;

• To support the Group’s stability and growth;

• To allocate capital in an effi cient and risk based approach to optimise risk adjusted return to the shareholders; 
and

• To maintain an adequate capital base to support the development of its business.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust its 
profi t distribution policy, issue or redeem own shares, long-term subordinated bonds, convertible bonds and hybrid 
instruments. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes for managing capital from the previous 
years.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored regularly by the Group’s management based 
on regulations issued by the CBRC. The required information is fi led with the CBRC by the Group and the Bank 
bi-annually and quarterly.

The CBRC requires each bank to maintain the capital adequacy ratio and core capital adequacy ratio not below the 
minimum of 8% and 4% respectively. In addition, those individual banking subsidiaries or branches incorporated 
outside Mainland China are also directly regulated and supervised by their local banking supervisors.

The on-balance sheet risk-weighted assets are measured according to the nature of, and are refl ecting an estimate of 
credit, market and other risks associated with, each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral 
or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with adjustments made to refl ect the 
more contingent nature of any potential losses. Market risk capital adjustment is calculated using the standardised 
approach.

The Group computes the capital adequacy ratio and core capital adequacy ratio in accordance with the “Regulations 
Governing Capital Adequacy of Commercial Banks” and related regulations promulgated by the CBRC. The 
requirements pursuant to these regulations may have signifi cant differences comparing to those applicable in Hong 
Kong and other countries.

The capital adequacy ratios and related components of the Group are computed in accordance with the statutory 
fi nancial statements of the Group prepared under PRC GAAP. During the year, the Group has complied in full with all 
its externally imposed capital requirements.
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2008 2007

Core capital adequacy ratio 10.75% 10.99%

Capital adequacy ratio 13.06% 13.09%

Components of capital base

Core capital:

 Share capital 334,019 334,019

 Reserves 205,668 148,631

 Minority interests 3,955 5,305

 Total core capital 543,642 487,955

Supplementary capital:

 General provisions for doubtful debts 82,834 47,979

 Subordinated bonds 35,000 35,000

 Other supplementary capital 4,164 11,669

 Total supplementary capital 121,998 94,648

Total capital base before deductions 665,640 582,603

Deductions (i):

 Unconsolidated equity investments (19,499) (3,868)

 Goodwill (20,579) (1,878)

 Others (ii) (5,529) (116)

Net capital base 620,033 576,741

Core capital base after deductions (i) 510,549 484,085

Risk weighted assets and market risk capital adjustment 4,748,893 4,405,345

(i) Pursuant to the relevant regulations, the core capital base after deductions was derived by applying 50%, 100% and 50% of 

deductions in the unconsolidated equity investments, goodwill and others, respectively.

(ii) Others represent investments in asset backed securities according to the CBRC regulations.

49. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table summarises the carrying values and the fair values of receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities 
and subordinated bonds for which their fair values have not been presented or disclosed above:

Group Bank

Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value

31 December 2008:

 Receivables 1,162,769 1,169,135 1,162,769 1,169,135

 Held-to-maturity debt securities 1,314,320 1,361,027 1,319,106 1,365,809

 Subordinated bonds 35,000 35,166 35,000 35,166

31 December 2007:

 Receivables 1,211,767 1,206,033 1,211,767 1,206,033

 Held-to-maturity debt securities 1,330,085 1,309,831 1,334,508 1,314,325

 Subordinated bonds 35,000 32,505 35,000 32,505
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Subject to the existence of an active market, such as an authorised securities exchange, the market value is the best 
refl ection of the fair value of fi nancial instruments. As there is no available market value for certain of the fi nancial 
assets and liabilities held and issued by the Group, the discounted cash fl ow method or other valuation methods 
described below are adopted to determine the fair values of these assets and liabilities:

(a) The receivables are non-transferable. The fair values of those receivables relating to the restructuring of the 
Bank are estimated on the basis of the stated interest rates and the consideration of the relevant special 
clauses of the instrument evaluated in the absence of any other relevant observable market data, and the fair 
values approximate to their carrying amounts. The fair values of receivables other than those relating to the 
restructuring of the Bank are estimated on the bases of pricing models or discounted cash fl ows.

(b) The fair values of held-to-maturity debt securities and subordinated bonds are determined with reference to the 
available market values. If quoted market prices are not available, then fair values are estimated on the bases of 
pricing models or discounted cash fl ows.

All of the above-mentioned assumptions and methods provide a consistent basis for the calculation of the fair 
values of the Group’s assets and liabilities. However, other institutions may use different assumptions and methods. 
Therefore, the fair values disclosed by different fi nancial institutions may not be entirely comparable.

Those fi nancial instruments for which their carrying amounts are the reasonable approximations of their fair values 
because, for example, they are short term in nature or repriced to current market rates frequently, are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

Balances with central banks Due to banks and other fi nancial institutions

Due from banks and other fi nancial institutions Repurchase agreements

Reverse repurchase agreements Due to customers

Loans and advances to customers Other fi nancial liabilities

Other fi nancial assets

50. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Profi t appropriation

A fi nal dividend of approximately RMB55,113 million, equivalent to RMB0.165 per share, was proposed after 
the appropriation of statutory surplus reserve and general reserve at the board of directors’ meeting held on 
25 March 2009, and is subject to the approval of the Bank’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 
The dividend payable was not recognised as a liability as at 31 December 2008.

51. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassifi ed to conform with the current year’s presentation.

52. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fi nancial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2009.



31 December 2008
(In RMB millions, unless otherwise stated)

Unaudited Supplementary Financial Information

A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 8 259

(a) Differences between the fi nancial statements prepared under International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and those prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the PRC (“PRC GAAP”)

A reconciliation of differences between the fi nancial statements prepared under IFRSs and those prepared in 
accordance with PRC GAAP is set out below.

2008 2007

Profi t for the year attributable to equity holders of 

 the parent company under PRC GAAP 110,766 81,256

Adjustment of revaluation surplus on assets disposed of and impairment loss 75 264

Profi t for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent company under IFRSs 110,841 81,520

2008 2007

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company under PRC GAAP 603,183 538,947

Reversal of revaluation surplus (508) (576)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company under IFRSs 602,675 538,371

During the Group’s restructuring, the Group performed revaluation on certain assets pursuant to relevant 
requirements, with the revaluation surplus recognised in the capital reserve in the fi nancial statements prepared under 
PRC GAAP. Under IFRSs, certain assets were carried at cost and the revaluation surplus was reversed. Upon disposal 
or when such assets are impaired, adjustments on recognition of the revaluation surplus and impairment loss were 
reversed accordingly. In addition, for the available-for-sale equity investments included in these assets, when they 
meet the specifi c conditions to be measured at fair value under IFRSs, the adjustments on reversal of revaluation 
surplus were made to the investment revaluation reserve.

(b) Liquidity ratios

2008 2007

RMB current assets to RMB current liabilities 33.30% 26.83%

Foreign currency current assets to foreign currency current liabilities 83.48% 97.88%

The liquidity ratios are calculated in accordance with the formula promulgated by the China Banking Regulatory 
Commission (the “CBRC”) and based on the fi nancial information prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP.
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(c) Foreign currency concentrations other than RMB

US$ HK$ Others Total

As at 31 December 2008

 Spot assets 399,428 128,357 84,492 612,277

 Spot liabilities (269,386) (109,909) (53,810) (433,105)

 Forward purchases 161,629 8,863 29,381 199,873

 Forward sales (281,214) (13,177) (59,274) (353,665)

 Net option position (1) 4 (7) (4)

 Net long position 10,456 14,138 782 25,376

 Net structural position 289 301 28,421 29,011

As at 31 December 2007

 Spot assets 575,197 109,983 53,542 738,722

 Spot liabilities (232,182) (121,417) (43,801) (397,400)

 Forward purchases 174,088 21,990 59,594 255,672

 Forward sales (319,601) (28,073) (26,009) (373,683)

 Net option position (85,267) (192) (853) (86,312)

 Net long position 112,235 (17,709) 42,473 136,999

 Net structural position 315 267 105 687

The net option position is calculated using the delta equivalent approach required by the Hong Kong Monetary 
Authority. The net structural position of the Group includes the structural positions of the Bank’s overseas branches, 
banking subsidiaries and other subsidiaries substantially involved in foreign exchange. Structural assets and liabilities 
include:

• fi xed assets and premises, net of depreciation charges;

• capital and statutory reserves of overseas branches; and

• investments in overseas subsidiaries and related companies.
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(d) Cross-border claims

The Group is principally engaged in business operations within Mainland China, and regards all claims on third parties 
outside Mainland China as cross-border claims.

Cross-border claims include loans and advances to customers, balances with central banks, due from banks and other 
fi nancial institutions, debt securities held for trading, fi nancial assets designated at fair value through profi t or loss, 
held-to-maturity debt securities and available-for-sale debt securities.

A country or geographical area is reported where it constitutes 10% or more of the aggregate amount of cross-
border claims, after taking into account any risk transfers. Risk transfers are only made if the claims are guaranteed 
by a party in a country which is different from that of the counterparty or if the claims are on an overseas branch of a 
bank whose head offi ce is located in another country.

Banks and 

other fi nancial 

institutions

Public sector 

entities Others Total

As at 31 December 2008:

 Asia Pacifi c excluding Mainland China 78,947 4,570 132,305 215,822

  — of which attributed to Hong Kong 36,794 1,097 97,946 135,837

 Europe 66,368 396 25,443 92,207

 North and South America 47,577 19,373 6,989 73,939

192,892 24,339 164,737 381,968

As at 31 December 2007:

 Asia Pacifi c excluding Mainland China 74,696 2,011 111,659 188,366

  — of which attributed to Hong Kong 15,945 880 85,559 102,384

 Europe 144,065 2,457 15,528 162,050

 North and South America 75,034 62,873 12,197 150,104

293,795 67,341 139,384 500,520
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(e) Loans and advances to customers

(i) Analysis by industry sector

31 December 2008

Gross loans 

and advances 

to customers

Loans covered 

by collateral

Overdue loans 

and advances 

to customers*

Loans and 

advances 

individually 

assessed to 

be impaired

Allowance for impairment losses

Individually 

assessed

Collectively 

assessed Total

Manufacturing 777,249 327,846 45,869 45,251 29,196 12,959 42,155

Transportation and logistics 707,482 222,993 8,233 9,517 4,497 12,261 16,758

Power generation and supply 516,771 98,357 7,131 7,672 2,877 8,973 11,850

Property development 386,141 282,284 8,892 8,051 3,807 9,645 13,452

Water, environment and 

 public utility management 275,649 74,411 858 1,781 572 4,806 5,378

Retail, wholesale and catering 204,272 109,294 13,655 14,000 8,384 3,180 11,564

Leasing and commercial services 203,977 65,278 1,505 1,887 938 3,360 4,298

Science, education, culture and sanitation 71,036 11,757 1,747 1,965 881 1,225 2,106

Construction 61,843 23,917 1,587 1,575 949 1,545 2,494

Others 192,213 32,371 3,328 3,112 1,958 2,825 4,783

Subtotal for corporate loans 3,396,633 1,248,508 92,805 94,811 54,059 60,779 114,838

Personal mortgage and business loans 729,611 696,671 46,501 — — 15,133 15,133

Others 119,434 66,687 9,418 — — 3,317 3,317

Subtotal for personal loans 849,045 763,358 55,919 — — 18,450 18,450

Discounted bills 326,316 326,316 — — — 2,695 2,695

4,571,994 2,338,182 148,724 94,811 54,059 81,924 135,983

Current market value of collateral held against the covered portion of overdue loans and advances* 149,023

Covered portion of overdue loans and advances* 95,322

Uncovered portion of overdue loans and advances* 53,402

* Loans and advances are classifi ed as overdue when either the principal or interest is overdue. For loans and advances 

repayable by regular instalments, if part of the instalments is overdue, the whole amount of these loans would be classifi ed as 

overdue.
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31 December 2007

Gross loans 

and advances 

to customers

Loans covered 

by collateral

Overdue loans 

and advances 

to customers*

Loans and 

advances 

individually 

assessed to 

be impaired

Allowance for impairment losses

Individually 

assessed 

Collectively 

assessed Total

Manufacturing 758,655 295,368 54,463 55,884 34,241 10,213 44,454

Transportation and logistics 612,849 191,658 8,006 6,320 3,451 8,620 12,071

Power generation and supply 408,220 91,664 6,151 5,344 2,382 5,746 8,128

Property development 329,664 229,481 9,710 8,756 4,207 5,892 10,099

Water, environment and 

 public utility management 231,309 55,145 1,069 1,118 451 3,178 3,629

Retail, wholesale and catering 201,018 97,803 16,792 16,454 9,584 2,603 12,187

Leasing and commercial services 171,511 57,412 1,607 1,374 693 2,303 2,996

Science, education, culture and 

 sanitation 70,132 9,929 1,865 1,876 800 998 1,798

Construction 64,334 25,382 1,410 1,354 621 806 1,427

Others 209,825 28,907 4,004 4,575 2,514 2,340 4,854

Subtotal for corporate loans 3,057,517 1,082,749 105,077 103,055 58,944 42,699 101,643

Personal mortgage and business loans 664,171 627,874 36,941 — — 10,401 10,401

Others 99,436 77,610 8,313 — — 2,552 2,552

Subtotal for personal loans 763,607 705,484 45,254 — — 12,953 12,953

Discounted bills 252,105 252,105 — — — 1,091 1,091

4,073,229 2,040,338 150,331 103,055 58,944 56,743 115,687

Current market value of collateral held against the covered portion of overdue loans and advances* 145,164

Covered portion of overdue loans and advances* 86,067

Uncovered portion of overdue loans and advances* 64,264

* Loans and advances are classifi ed as overdue when either the principal or interest is overdue. For loans and advances 

repayable by regular instalments, if part of the instalments is overdue, the whole amount of these loans would be classifi ed as 

overdue.
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The amount of new impairment loss charged to the income statement, and the amount of impaired loans and 
advances written off during the year are set out below:

2008 2007

New 

impairment 

loss

Write-offs 

of impaired 

loans

New 

impairment 

loss

Write-offs 

of impaired 

loans

Manufacturing 18,065 7,443 26,654 4,594

Transportation and logistics 10,995 74 8,138 163

Power generation and supply 9,533 400 6,016 749

Property development 10,289 536 9,748 224

Water, environment and 

 public utility management 4,232 51 2,070 —

Retail, wholesale and catering 5,582 2,420 7,862 1,448

Leasing and commercial services 2,921 3 2,764 116

Science, education, culture and sanitation 1,170 20 1,116 89

Construction 2,373 74 757 23

Others 1,868 896 2,270 173

Subtotal for corporate loans 67,028 11,917 67,395 7,579

Personal mortgage and business loans 8,608 273 5,668 243

Others 1,397 183 1,154 349

Subtotal for personal loans 10,005 456 6,822 592

Discounted bills 2,695 — 1,091 —

79,728 12,373 75,308 8,171
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(ii) Overdue assets

Overdue loans and advances to customers

2008 2007

Gross loans and advances to customers of the Group which have been overdue

 with respect to either principal or interest for periods of:

  Between 3 and 6 months 9,231 4,631

  Between 6 and 12 months 8,487 10,150

  Over 12 months 70,162 86,771

  Total 87,880 101,552

As a percentage of the total gross loans and advances to customers:

  Between 3 and 6 months 0.2% 0.1%

  Between 6 and 12 months 0.2% 0.3%

  Over 12 months 1.5% 2.1%

  Total 1.9% 2.5%

The defi nition of overdue loans and advances is set out as follows:

Loans and advances with a specifi c repayment date are classifi ed as overdue when the principal or interest is overdue.

For loans and advances repayable by regular instalments, if part of the instalments is overdue, the whole amount of 
these loans would be classifi ed as overdue.

(iii) Overdue and impaired loans and advances to customers by geographical segment

31 December 2008

Overdue loans and advances to customers

Impaired loans and

advances to customers

Gross 

amount

Individually 

assessed to 

be impaired

Individually 

assessed 

allowance for 

impairment 

losses

Individually 

assessed

Individually 

assessed 

allowance for 

impairment 

losses

Collectively 

assessed 

allowance for 

impairment 

losses

Head Offi ce 2,943 319 250 319 250 1,725

Yangtze River Delta 21,030 10,654 5,874 14,057 7,664 20,683

Pearl River Delta 22,941 12,309 7,070 12,797 7,474 12,192

Bohai Rim 28,564 16,179 9,821 16,605 10,482 15,841

Central China 24,656 13,654 7,282 14,581 8,309 11,303

Western China 29,243 18,215 8,328 22,109 10,526 13,958

Northeastern China 17,402 12,694 8,408 13,279 8,922 5,531

Overseas and others 1,945 684 277 1,064 432 691

Total 148,724 84,708 47,310 94,811 54,059 81,924
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31 December 2007

Overdue loans and advances to customers

Impaired loans and

advances to customers

Gross 

amount

Individually 

assessed to 

be impaired

Individually 

assessed 

allowance for 

impairment 

losses

Individually 

assessed

Individually 

assessed 

allowance for 

impairment 

losses

Collectively 

assessed 

allowance for 

impairment 

losses

Head Offi ce 2,410 414 284 414 344 1,369

Yangtze River Delta 15,502 8,585 5,406 10,600 6,478 14,338

Pearl River Delta 24,151 15,800 7,810 16,173 8,413 8,395

Bohai Rim 30,383 19,729 10,367 20,789 11,381 10,720

Central China 25,625 15,558 7,947 16,487 8,697 7,867

Western China 27,031 16,749 9,383 18,505 10,882 9,489

Northeastern China 22,886 18,180 11,313 19,230 12,375 4,127

Overseas and others 2,343 857 362 857 374 438

Total 150,331 95,872 52,872 103,055 58,944 56,743

(iv) Rescheduled loans and advances to customers

2008 2007

% of total 

loans and 

advances

% of total 

loans and 

advances

Rescheduled loans and advances 25,246 0.6% 38,381 0.9%

Less: Rescheduled loans and advances

 overdue for more than three months (18,984) (0.4%) (28,765) (0.7%)

Rescheduled loans and advances overdue

 for less than three months 6,262 0.2% 9,616 0.2%

(f) Overdue placements with banks and other fi nancial institutions

2008 2007

Gross placements with banks and other fi nancial institutions of

 the Group which have been overdue with respect to either

 principal or interest for a period of:

  Over 12 months 36 203

As a percentage of total gross placements with banks and

 other fi nancial institutions:

  Over 12 months — 0.1%
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(g) Non-bank Mainland China Exposures

2008 2007

On-balance sheet exposure 5,466,374 5,534,299

Off-balance sheet exposure 805,117 669,115

6,271,491 6,203,414

Individually assessed impairment losses 53,787 58,645

Save as disclosed above, exposures to other non-bank counterparties outside Mainland China where the credit is 
granted for use in Mainland China are considered insignifi cant to the Group.
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Domestic Institutions

GUANGDONG PROVINCIAL 
BRANCH
Address:  No. 123 Yanjiangxi 

Road, Guangzhou City, 
Guangdong Province, 
China

Postcode: 510120
Tel: 020-81308130/81308123
Fax: 020-81308789

GUANGXI ZHUANG 
NATIONALITY AUTONOMOUS 
REGION BRANCH
Address:  No. 15-1 Jiaoyu Road, 

Nanning City, Guangxi, 
China

Postcode: 530022
Tel: 0771-5390162/5316617
Fax: 0771-5313478/2806043

GUIZHOU PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 41 Ruijin Middle Road, 

Guiyang City, Guizhou 
Province, China

Postcode: 550003
Tel: 0851-8620000/8620018
Fax: 0851-5963911/8620017

HAINAN PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  Tower A, No. 3 Heping 

South Road, Haikou City, 
Hainan Province, China

Postcode: 570203
Tel: 0898-65355774/65342829
Fax: 0898-65342986

HEBEI PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  Tower B, Zhonghua 

Shangwu Tower, No. 188, 
Zhongshan West Road, 
Shijiazhuang City, Hebei 
Province, China

Postcode: 050051
Tel: 0311-66001888/66000001
Fax: 0311-66001889/66000002

HENAN PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 99, Jingsan Road, 

Zhengzhou City, Henan 
Province, China

Postcode: 450011
Tel: 0371-65776888
Fax: 0371-65776889

HEILONGJIANG PROVINCIAL 
BRANCH
Address:  No. 218 Zhongyang Road, 

Daoli District, Harbin City, 
Heilongjiang Province, 
China

Postcode: 150010
Tel: 0451-84698074/84698116
Fax: 0451-84698115

HUBEI PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 372 Jiefang Road, 

Wuchang District, Wuhan 
City, Hubei Province, 
China

Postcode: 430060
Tel: 027-88726049/88726073
Fax: 027-88726077

HUNAN PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 619 Furong Middle 

Road Yi Duan, Changsha 
City, Hunan Province, 
China

Postcode: 410011
Tel: 0731-4428833/4420000
Fax: 0731-4430039

JILIN PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 136 Tongzhi Street, 

Chaoyang District, 
Changchun City, Jilin 
Province, China

Postcode: 130061
Tel: 0431-88965747/88965533
Fax: 0431-88923808

JIANGSU PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 408 Zhongshan 

South Road, Nanjing City, 
Jiangsu Province, China

Postcode: 210006
Tel: 025-52858000/52858999
Fax: 025-52858111

JIANGXI PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 233, Fuhe North Road, 

Nanchang City, Jiangxi 
Province

Postcode: 330008
Tel: 0791-6695117/6695018
Fax: 0791-6695230

ANHUI PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 189 Wuhu Road, 

Hefei City, Anhui Province, 
China

Postcode: 230001
Tel: 0551-2869178/2868110
Fax: 0551-2868077

BEIJING MUNICIPAL BRANCH
Address:  Tower B, Tianyin Mansion, 

No. 2 Fuxingmen South 
Street, Xicheng District, 
Beijing City, China

Postcode: 100031
Tel: 010-66410579
Fax: 010-66410579

CHONGQING MUNICIPAL 
BRANCH
Address:  No. 9 Jiangnan Road, 

Nan’an District, 
Chongqing City, China

Postcode: 400060
Tel: 023-62918002/62918047
Fax: 023-62918059

DALIAN MUNICIPAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 5 Zhongshan Square, 

Dalian City, Liaoning 
Province, China

Postcode: 116001
Tel: 0411-82378888/82819593
Fax: 0411-82808377

FUJIAN PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 108 Gutian Road, 

Fuzhou City, Fujian 
Province, China

Postcode: 350005
Tel: 0591-88087097/88087008
Fax: 0591-83353905

GANSU PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 408 Qingyang Road, 

Chengguan District, 
Lanzhou City, Gansu 
Province, China

Postcode: 730030
Tel: 0931-8432498/8435166
Fax: 0931-8435166
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LIAONING PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 88 Nanjing North 

Street, Heping District, 
Shenyang City, Liaoning 
Province, China

Postcode: 110001
Tel: 024-23414525/23414313
Fax: 024-23414520

INNER MONGOLIA 
AUTONOMOUS REGION 
BRANCH
Address:  No. 105 Xilin North Road, 

Huhehot City, Inner 
Mongolia, China

Postcode: 010050
Tel: 0471-6940192/6940297
Fax: 0471-6940591/6940048

NINGBO MUNICIPAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 218 Zhongshan 

West Road, Ningbo City, 
Zhejiang Province, China

Postcode: 315010
Tel: 0574-87361162
Fax: 0574-87361190

NINGXIA HUI NATIONALITY 
AUTONOMOUS REGION 
BRANCH
Address:  No. 901 Huanghe East 

Road, Jinfeng District, 
Yinchuan City, Ningxia, 
China

Postcode: 750002
Tel: 0951-6073345/5029739
Fax: 0951-5042348

QINGDAO MUNICIPAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 25 Shandong Road, 

Shinan District, Qingdao 
City, Shandong Province, 
China

Postcode: 266071
Tel: 0532-85809988-621071
Fax: 0532-85814711

QINGHAI PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 2, Shengli Road, 

Xining City, Qinghai 
Province, China

Postcode: 810001
Tel: 0971-6146733/6146734
Fax: 0971-6146733

SHANDONG PROVINCIAL 
BRANCH
Address:  No. 310 Jingsi Road, Jinan 

City, Shandong Province, 
China

Postcode: 250001
Tel: 0531-66681114/87943363
Fax: 0531-87941749

SHANXI PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 145 Yingze Street, 

Taiyuan City, Shanxi 
Province, China

Postcode: 030001
Tel: 0351-6248888/6248011
Fax: 0351-6248004

SHAANXI PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 395 Dongxin Street, 

Xi’an City, Shaanxi 
Province, China

Postcode: 710004
Tel: 029-87602608/87602630
Fax: 029-87602999

SHANGHAI MUNICIPAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 9 Pudong Avenue, 

Pudong New District, 
Shanghai City, China

Postcode: 200120
Tel: 021-58885888
Fax: 021-58886888

SHENZHEN MUNICIPAL BRANCH
Address:  North Block Financial 

Center, No. 5055 
Shennan East Road, Luohu 
District, Shenzhen City, 
Guangdong Province, 
China

Postcode: 518015
Tel: 0755-82246400
Fax: 0755-82062761

SICHUAN PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 45 Zongfu Road, 

Jinjiang District, Chengdu 
City, Sichuan Province, 
China

Postcode: 610016
Tel: 028-82866000/82866011
Fax: 028-82866025

TIANJIN MUNICIPAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 123 Weidi Road,

Hexi District, Tianjin City,
China

Postcode: 300074
Tel: 022-28400033/28401380
Fax: 022-28400123

XIAMEN MUNICIPAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 17 Hubin North 

Road, Xiamen City, Fujian 
Province, China

Postcode: 361012
Tel: 0592-5292000
Fax: 0592-5054663/5057427

XINJIANG UYGHUR 
NATIONALITY AUTONOMOUS 
REGION BRANCH
Address:  No. 231 Remin Road, 

Tianshan District, 
Urumuqi, Xinjiang Uyghur 
Autonomous Region, 
China

Postcode: 830002
Tel: 0991-5981888/5981207
Fax: 0991-2337527

TIBET AUTONOMOUS REGION 
BRANCH
Address:  No. 31 Jinzhu Mid-Rd., 

Lhasa, Tibet Autonomous 
Region

Postcode: 850000
Tel: 0891-6898019/6898002
Fax: 0891-6898001

YUNNAN PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  Bank Mansion, No. 395 

Qingnian Road, Kunming 
City, Yunnan Province, 
China

Postcode: 650021
Tel: 0871-3136172/3178888
Fax: 0871-3134637

ZHEJIANG PROVINCIAL BRANCH
Address:  No. 150 Zhonghe Middle 

Road, Hangzhou City, 
Zhejiang Province, China

Postcode: 310009
Tel: 0571-87803888
Fax: 0571-87808207

ICBC Credit Suisse Asset 
Management Co., Ltd.
Address:  Hong An International 

Commercial Plaza,
No. 188, Chaoyangmen 
Nei Street,
Dongcheng District, 
Beijing

Postcode: 100010
Tel: 010-85159333
Fax: 010-85159158

ICBC Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.
Address:  E5AB, Finance Street, 

No. 20, Plaza East Road, 
Economic Development 
Zone, Tianjin

Postcode: 300457
Tel: 022-66283766
Fax: 022-66283766



List of Domestic and Overseas Branches and Offi ces

270

Overseas Institutions
Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China Limited, Singapore 
Branch
Address:  6 Raffl es Quay #12-01

6 Raffl es Quay,
Singapore 048580

Email: icbcsg@icbc.com.sg
Tel: +65-65381066
Fax: +65-65381370
SWIFT: ICBKSGSG

Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China Limited, Hong Kong 
Branch
Address:  33/F, ICBC Tower,

3 Garden Road, Central, 
Hong Kong

Email: berylchan@icbcasia.com
Tel: +852-35108822
Fax: +852-25213394
SWIFT: ICBKHKHH

Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China Limited, Macau Branch
Address:  Alm. Dr. Carlos 

D’Assumpcao,
No.411–417,18 andar 
E,F,G,H, Edf.
Dynasty Plaza, Macau

Email: icbc@icbc.com.mo
Tel: +853-28786338
Fax: +853-28786328
SWIFT: ICBKMOMX

Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China Limited, Tokyo Branch
Address:  2-1 Marunouchi 1-Chome, 

Chiyoda-Ku Tokyo,
100-0005, Japan

Email: icbctokyo@icbc.co.jp
Tel: +813-52232088
Fax: +813-52198502
SWIFT: ICBKJPJT

Industrial and Commercial Bank 

of China Limited, Seoul Branch

Address:  16 Floor, Taepeongno 

Bldg., #310 Taepeongno2-

ga, Jung-gu, Seoul,

100-767, Korea

Email: icbcseoul@kr.icbc.com.cn

Tel: +822-37886670

Fax: +822-7563127

SWIFT: ICBKKRSE

Industrial and Commercial Bank 

of China Limited, Busan Branch

Address:  1st Floor, Samsung Fire & 

Marine Insurance Bldg., 

#1205-22 Choryang-1

dong, Dong-Gu, Busan, 

601-728, Korea

Email: busanadmin@kr.icbc.com.cn

Tel: +8251-4638868

Fax: +8251-4636880

SWIFT: ICBKKRSE

Industrial and Commercial 

Bank of China Limited, Sydney 

Branch

Address:  Level 1, 220 George 

Street, Sydney NSW 2000, 

Australia

Email: Info@icbc.com.au

Tel: +612-94755588

Fax: +612-92333982

SWIFT: ICBKAU2S

Industrial and Commercial Bank 

of China Limited, Frankfurt 

Branch

Address:  Bockenheimer Anlage 15, 

60322 Frankfurt am Main, 

Germany

Email: icbc@icbc-ffm.de

Tel: +4969-50604700

Fax: +4969-50604708

SWIFT: ICBKDEFF

Industrial and Commercial Bank 

of China Limited, Luxembourg 

Branch

Address:  8–10, Avenue

Marie-Thérès,

L-2132 Luxembourg

Postal Address:  B.P.278 L-2012

Luxembourg

Email: icbc@icbc.lu

Tel: +352-2686661

Fax: +352-26866666

SWIFT: ICBKLULL

Industrial and Commercial Bank 

of China Limited, New York 

Branch

Address:  725 Fifth Avenue,

20th Floor, New York, NY, 

10022, USA

Email: info@us.95588.com

Tel: +1-2128387799

Fax: +1-2128386688

SWIFT: ICBKUS33
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Seng Heng Bank Limited
Address:  18th Floor, Seng Heng 

Bank Tower, Macau 
Landmark, 555 Avenida da 
Amizade, Macau

Email: shb@shb.icbc.com.cn
Tel: +853-28555222
Fax: +853-28338064
SWIFT: SHBLMOMX

PT. Bank ICBC Indonesia
Address:  TCT ICBC Tower, Jl. 

MH.Thamrin No. 81, 
Jakarta Pusat, Indonesia

Email: icbc@icbc.co.id
Tel: +62-2131996088
Fax: +62-2131996016
SWIFT: ICBKIDJA

ICBC (London) Limited
Address:  36 King Street, London 

EC2V 8BB, UK
Email: admin@icbclondon.com
Tel: +4420-73978888
Fax: +4420-73978899
SWIFT: ICBKGB2L

JSC Industrial and Commercial 
Bank of China Almaty
Address:  110 Furmanov Avenue, 

Almaty, Kazakhstan, 
050000

Email: offi ce@icbcalmaty.kz
Tel: +7727-2596391
Fax: +7727-2596400
SWIFT: ICBKKZKX

Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China Luxembourg S.A.
Address:  8–10, Avenue Marie-

Thérès, L-2132
 Luxembourg
 B.P.278 L-2012
 Luxembourg
Email: icbc@icbc.lu
Tel: +352-2686661
Fax: +352-26866666
SWIFT: ICBKLULU

ZAO Industrial and Commercial 
Bank of China (Moscow)
Address:  Serebryanicheskaya 

Naberejnaya Street build. 
29, First fl oor, room 46-1, 
109028, Moscow, Russia

Email: info@ms.icbc.com.cn
Tel: +7495-2873099
Fax: +7495-2873098
SWIFT: ICBKRUMM

Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China (Middle East) Limited
Address:  Room 401, 4th Floor, West 

Wing, the Gate, DIFC, 
Dubai, U.A.E., P.O.Box 
125115

Email: dboffi ce@dxb.icbc.com.cn
Tel: +971-43700554
Fax: +971-43700554
SWIFT: ICBKAEAD

Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China Limited, Doha Branch
Address:  Offi ce 1101, 11th Floor, 

Ministry of Economy and 
Commerce Building,
West Bay, Doha, Qatar

Email:  dboffi ce@dxb.icbc.com.cn,
offi ce@doh.icbc.com.cn

Tel: +974-4968069
Fax: +974-4968080
SWIFT: ICBKQAQA

Industrial and Commercial Bank 
of China (Asia) Limited
Address:  33/F, ICBC Tower,

3 Garden Road, Central, 
Hong Kong

Email: berylchan@icbcasia.com
Tel: +852-25881188
Fax: +852-25213394
SWIFT: UBHKHKHH

ICEA Finance Holdings Limited
Address:  26/F, ICBC Tower,

3 Garden Road, Central, 
Hong Kong

Email: enquiry@icea.com.hk
Tel: +852-22318000
Fax: +852-28108683

ICBC International Holdings 
Limited
Address:  18/F, Fairmont House,

8 Cotton Tree Drive, 
Central, Hong Kong

Email: icic@icic.com.hk
Tel: +852-25215661
Fax: +852-28100473
SWIFT: ICILHKHH
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In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below:

SHIBOR Shanghai Interbank Offered Rate
HIBOR Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rate
Allianz Allianz Group
the Bank/the Group/ICBC Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited; or Industrial and 

Commercial Bank of China Limited and its subsidiaries.
Articles of Association of the Bank Articles of Association of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited 

as approved by CBRC on 3 February 2007
Standard Bank Standard Bank Group Limited
MOF Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China
Seng Heng Bank Seng Heng Bank Limited
Goldman Sachs The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
ICEA ICEA Finance Holdings Limited
ICIC Industrial and Commercial International Capital Limited
ICBC International ICBC International Holdings Limited
ICBC (Almaty) JSC Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Almaty
ICBC (Luxembourg) Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Luxembourg S.A.
ICBC (London) ICBC (London) Limited
ICBC (Moscow) ZAO Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Moscow)
ICBC Credit Suisse Asset Management ICBC Credit Suisse Asset Management Co., Ltd. 
ICBC (Asia) Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
ICBC (Indonesia) PT. Bank ICBC Indonesia
ICBC (Middle East) Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Middle East) Limited
ICBC Leasing ICBC Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. 
IFRSs The International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by 

the International Accounting Standards Board, which comprise the 
International Accounting Standards

State Council State Council of the People’s Republic of China
Huijin Central SAFE Investments Limited
American Express American Express Company
PBOC The People’s Bank of China
SSE Shanghai Stock Exchange
SSE Listing Rules Listing Rules of the Shanghai Stock Exchange 
SSF National Council for Social Security Fund
SEHK The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Hong Kong Listing Rules Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited
Securities and Futures Ordinance of
 Hong Kong

Securities and Futures Ordinance prescribed by the Government of Hong 
Kong Special Administrative Region 

CASs Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and the Application 
Guidance thereof promulgated by the Ministry of Finance in 2006, as well 
as other relevant regulations 

CBRC China Banking Regulatory Commission 
CSRC China Securities Regulatory Commission
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